

International Labour Organization

► ILO Flagship Report

World Employment and Social Outlook

Trends 2024

World Employment and Social Outlook

Trends 2024

Copyright © International Labour Organization 2024 First published 2024



Attribution 4.0 International (CC BY 4.0)

This work is licensed under the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International. To view a copy of this licence, please visit (<u>https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/</u>). The user is allowed to reuse, share (copy and redistribute), adapt (remix, transform and build upon the original work) as detailed in the licence. The user must clearly credit the ILO as the source of the material and indicate if changes were made to the original content. Use of the emblem, name and logo of the ILO is not permitted in connection with translations. adaptations or other derivative works.

Attribution - The work must be cited as follows: World Employment and Social Outlook: Trends 2024. Geneva: International Labour Office, 2024. © ILO.

Translations – In the case of a translation of this work, the following disclaimer must be added along with the attribution: *This is a translation of a copyrighted work of the International Labour Organization (ILO). This translation has not been prepared, reviewed or endorsed by the ILO and should not be considered an official ILO translation. The ILO disclaims all responsibility for its content and accuracy. Responsibility rests solely with the author(s) of the translation.*

Adaptations – In the case of an adaptation of this work, the following disclaimer must be added along with the attribution: *This is an adaptation of a copyrighted work of the International Labour Organization (ILO). This adaptation has not been prepared, reviewed or endorsed by the ILO and should not be considered an official ILO adaptation. The ILO disclaims all responsibility for its content and accuracy. Responsibility rests solely with the author(s) of the adaptation.*

Third-party materials – This Creative Commons licence does not apply to non-ILO copyright materials included in this publication. If the material is attributed to a third party, the user of such material is solely responsible for clearing the rights with the rights holder and for any claims of infringement.

Any dispute arising under this licence that cannot be settled amicably shall be referred to arbitration in accordance with the Arbitration Rules of the United Nations Commission on International Trade Law (UNCITRAL). The parties shall be bound by any arbitration award rendered as a result of such arbitration as the final adjudication of such a dispute.

Queries on rights and licensing should be addressed to the ILO Publishing Unit (Rights and Licensing) at rights@ilo.org. Information on ILO publications and digital products can be found at: www.ilo.org/publis.

ISBN 9789220400418 (print); 9789220400425 (web PDF) ISSN 2709-7080 (print); 2709-7099 (online) DOI: https://doi.org/10.54394/HQAE1085

labour market / labour shortage / economic conditions / inflation / wages / report / ILO pub

13.01.2

ILO Cataloguing in Publication Data

Also available in French: *Emploi et questions sociales dans le monde: Tendances 2024*, ISBN 9789220400432 (print), 9789220400449 (web PDF); and in Spanish: *Perspectivas Sociales y del Empleo en el Mundo: Tendencias 2024*, ISBN 9789220400456 (print), 9789220400463 (web PDF).

The designations employed in ILO publications and databases, which are in conformity with United Nations practice, and the presentation of material therein do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the ILO concerning the legal status of any country, area or territory or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries.

The opinions and views expressed in this publication are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily reflect the opinions, views or policies of the ILO.

Reference to names of firms and commercial products and processes does not imply their endorsement by the ILO, and any failure to mention a particular firm, commercial product or process is not a sign of disapproval.

Photo credits Front cover: © KrulUA/iStock

Produced by the Publications Production Unit (PRODOC) of the ILO.

The ILO endeavours to use paper sourced from forests managed in an environmentally sustainable and socially responsible manner.

Code: DESIGN/WEI/PMSERV



This year's *World Employment and Social Outlook: Trends* provides a comprehensive assessment of the latest labour market trends, including unemployment, job creation, labour force participation and hours worked. Importantly, it also links these trends with their social outcomes, and it is these findings that are the most revealing when we assess the full significance of these developments – for both policy formation and the lives of individuals.

The report finds that although some of the data are encouraging – notably on growth and unemployment – a deeper analysis reveals that labour market imbalances are growing and that, in the context of multiple and interacting global crises, this is eroding progress towards greater social justice.

So, although in 2023 global unemployment dropped to the lowest level since the start of the pandemic, and working poverty and informality approached pre-pandemic rates, the ILO's projections suggest that little positive change in these indicators can be expected in 2024.

Productivity growth and living standards have also not improved, in spite of technological progress that was widely projected to give these a boost. Indeed, there are indications that the nature of the technology roll-out under way could widen rather than weaken disparities, nationally and globally.

Measures to address insufficient pay, poor job quality, and major inequalities – of gender, pay, skills – are not just significant for our economic good; they are also essential components in building social justice. And without greater social justice we have little chance of tackling the major problems of our age. People will not support the hard choices that need to be made, on climate change, healthcare, technology and employment, if the costs and opportunities are not seen to be shared equitably and if decent work is not available to give them the chance to build a better future.

In this difficult context, policymakers are confronted with tough decisions. Boosting economic growth will be essential to escape from our current crisis vortex, but it must be quality economic growth that not only creates more jobs but also makes working conditions better, our societies more resilient and our future sustainable.

What is clear from this report is that the problems we face are too large and complex for any one group, country or region to solve alone. The policies and actions chosen need to be coordinated and mutually reinforcing, at both country and multilateral levels. What's more, this coordination needs to extend to the allocation of financial and technological resources.

A more effectively coordinated response will also help to put us on track to achieve both the UN Sustainable Development Goals and the commitments made at COP28 – which, encouragingly and for the first time, included reference to the importance of labour rights, social dialogue, social protection and decent work in achieving the just transition we all need.

The recent decision by the ILO's Governing Body to endorse a Global Coalition for Social Justice will facilitate this coordination. The Coalition will bring together the knowledge and skills of a unique and diverse group of international bodies and stakeholders to promote coordinated responses, at national, regional and global level. This will help to ensure a human-focused approach, and so ensure that social justice is recognized as the keystone of a sustainable global recovery.

Gilbert F. Houngbo ILO Director-General

Contents

Preface	3
Acknowledgements	9
Executive summary: Job resilience amidst rising fragility	11
1. Labour market resilience will be tested in the near term	17
Growth has proved to be resilient amidst rising fragility	17
Economic resilience held labour market conditions steady in 2023	20
Looking ahead, there are risks that job creation will deteriorate further	26
Persistent decent work deficits are undermining long-run progress	28
References	33
2. Employment and social trends by region	35
Overview	35
Africa	36
Labour market trends in North Africa	36
Labour market trends in sub-Saharan Africa	37
Data challenges for evidence-based labour migration governance in Africa	38
Americas	40
Labour market trends in Latin America and the Caribbean	40
Stagnating labour productivity growth in Latin America and the Caribbean	42
Labour market trends in North America	42
Arab States	43
Labour market trends in the Arab States	43
Labour market implications of forced displacements	45
Asia and the Pacific	46
Labour market trends in Asia and the Pacific	47
Informality and new forms of work in Asia and the Pacific	48
Europe and Central Asia	50
Labour market trends in Europe and Central Asia	50
Mixed pictures of youth unemployment in Europe	52
References	54

3. Labour shortages amidst unmet demand for decent work	59
Overview	59
A growing demand for labour	60
Labour demand: Unfilled vacancies in advanced economies	60
Local and global consequences of labour and skills shortages	62
Labour supply	62
Labour force participation: Are fewer people working or looking for jobs?	63
Hours worked: Mean and total hours have diverged	65
Do labour markets fail to adjust?	67
Labour shortages might become entrenched	70
Concluding remarks: Priorities for action	71
References	73
Appendices	
A. Groupings of countries by region and income level	80

B. ILO modelled estimates	83
C. Tables of labour market indicators by regional groups	84

List of boxes

1.1.	Investment levels fell modestly in the face of higher borrowing costs	18
1.2.	Global spillovers: Risks of deteriorating GDP that could exacerbate employment challenges	19
1.3.	Baby boom versus baby bust: The labour market impacts of inflation in the 2020s compared with the 1970s	32
2.1.	Impact of the Israel-Hamas conflict on total employment in the Occupied Palestinian Territory	43
3.1.	Dual-track global skills partnerships	72

List of figures

1.1.	Projected GDP growth in 2023, comparing October 2022 and October 2023 outlooks (percentages)	18
1.2.	GDP growth outlook (percentage change)	19
1.3.	Recent and projected changes in inflation (percentages)	20
1.4.	Total labour force participation rates (percentage points)	21
1.5.	Unemployment rates (percentages)	22
1.6.	Employment growth, 2020–23, by sex and country income groups (percentages)	23
1.7.	Mean weekly hours actually worked per employed person, 2019 and 2023, by country income group and sex	24
1.8.	Annual real wage growth in 2023 (percentages)	25

1.9.	Employment growth, 2023–25, by sex and country income groups (percentages)	26
1.10.	Gender gap in participation rates, 2023 and 2025 (percentage points)	29
1.11.	Youth and adult unemployment rates (percentages)	29
1.12.	Informal employment as share of total employment, 2004–24 (percentages)	30
1.13.	Growth of population aged 20 to 64, by time period and country income group (compound annual percentages)	32
2.1.	International stock of migrant workers, Africa and subregions, total and female share, 2010–19	39
2.2.	Average annual productivity growth rate, 2015–23 (percentages)	42
2.3.	Gender disparities in labour market outcomes in the Arab States, 2023	45
2.4.	Informal employment rates, Asia and the Pacific and subregions, 2004–23 (percentages)	49
2.5.	Prevailing youth unemployment rates, compared with highs and lows between 2003 and 2023, European Union (percentages)	53
3.1.	Channels of labour market adjustment and resulting imbalances	60
3.2.	Job vacancies in selected (advanced) economies, January 2002 to September 2023 (standard deviations from mean)	61
3.3.	Female labour force participation rates compared with the pre-pandemic historical trend (deviation from trend in percentage points)	63
3.4.	Youth labour force participation (percentages)	64
3.5.	Youth NEET, by sex and income group (percentages of the population aged 15 to 24)	65
3.6.	Total hours versus mean hours actually worked per employed person	66
3.7.	Number of sick days per worker and year and percentage increase, 2019–22	67

List of tables

1.1.	Jobs gap and jobs gap rate, 2019–23, by sex, world and income group	23
1.2.	Labour force participation rates by income group, 2019–25	27
1.3.	Unemployment and unemployment rate, 2019–25, by sex, world and income group	28
1.4.	Working poverty, 2020–23, world and by country income group	30
2.1.	Estimates and projections of working hours, employment, unemployment and labour force, regional and subregional, Africa, 2010–25	37
2.2.	Estimates and projections of working hours, employment, unemployment and labour force, regional and subregional, Americas, 2010–25	41
2.3.	Estimates and projections of working hours, employment, unemployment and labour force, regional and subregional, Arab States, 2010–25	44
2.4.	Estimates and projections of working hours, employment, unemployment and labour force, regional and subregional, Asia and the Pacific, 2010–25	47
2.5.	Estimates and projections of working hours, employment, unemployment and labour force, regional and subregional, Europe and Central Asia, 2010–25	51

Acknowledgements

World Employment and Social Outlook: Trends 2024 was prepared by the Macro-economic Policies and Jobs Unit of the ILO Research Department, led by Ekkehard Ernst. The report was written by Steven Tobin, Richard Horne, Lisa Feist, Miguel Sanchez Martinez and Pascal Kampert, under the overall coordination and leadership of Ekkehard Ernst. The report was produced under the overall guidance of Richard Samans, Director of the ILO Research Department. The authors are grateful for all the input and suggestions received from the ILO Regional Offices for Africa, the Arab States, Asia and the Pacific, Europe and Central Asia, and Latin America and the Caribbean.

The ILO modelled estimates presented in this report were produced by the Data Production and Analysis Unit, led by Steven Kapsos, in the ILO Department of Statistics and by the Macro-economic Policies and Jobs Unit of the ILO Research Department. The authors especially acknowledge the modelling work carried out by Evangelia Bourmpoula, Paloma Carrillo, Roger Gomis, Stefan Kühn, Avichal Mahajan and Miguel Sanchez Martinez. The underlying database of international labour market indicators used to produce the estimates was prepared by the Data Production and Analysis Unit of the ILO Department of Statistics. The authors also wish to acknowledge the efforts of David Bescond, Vipasana Karkee, Quentin Mathys, Yves Perardel and Mabelin Villarreal-Fuentes.

Excellent comments and suggestions were provided by James Howard, Senior Adviser to the ILO Director-General. The ILO Research Department wishes to acknowledge the comments and suggestions provided by the following ILO colleagues: Yukiko Arai, Marie-France Auer, Tulio Cravo, Sukti Dasgupta, Sara Elder, Elisenda Estruch-Puertas, Roger Gomis, Tite Habiyakare, Claire Harasty, Susan Hayter, Maren Hopfe, Aya Jaafar, Steven Kapsos, Stefan Kühn, Jesse Mertens, Michael Mwasikakata, David Mosler, Yves Pérardel, Gerhard Reinecke, Dorothea Schmidt-Klau, Oliver Liang, Juan Marcelo Cuautle Segovia, Ken Chamuva Shawa, Sergei Suarez Dillon Soares, Theo Sparreboom, Juan Jacobo Velasco, Christian Viegelahn, Felix Weidenkaff. The authors also thank colleagues from ACTEMP and ACTRAV for their excellent comments and suggestions.

We would like to express our gratitude to Judy Rafferty and our colleagues in the Publications Production Unit for assisting with the production process, and to our colleagues in the ILO Department of Communication and Public Information for their continued collaboration and support in disseminating the report.



Executive summary Job resilience amidst rising fragility

The economic recovery has slowed ...

The macroeconomic environment deteriorated significantly over 2023. Ongoing geopolitical tensions as well as persistent and broadening inflation triggered frequent and aggressive moves by central banks. Monetary authorities in advanced and emerging economies implemented the fastest increase in interest rates since the 1980s, with significant global repercussions. Large emerging economies such as China, Türkiye and Brazil slowed down considerably, causing adverse impact on global industrial activity, investment and trade. Growth in advanced economies was nearly halved. Given the significant and highly persistent deviation of inflation from targets, central banks are expected to maintain a tight stance on monetary conditions, at least until the end of 2024. Consequently, the post-pandemic economic and social recovery remains incomplete and new vulnerabilities are eroding progress in social justice.

... while job growth proved to be resilient and the unemployment rate continued to fall ...

Despite the economic slowdown, global growth in 2023 was modestly higher than anticipated, and labour markets showed surprising resilience. On the back of strong jobs growth, both the unemployment rate and the jobs gap have declined below pre-pandemic values. The global unemployment rate in 2023 was 5.1 per cent, a modest improvement on 2022. The global jobs gap also saw improvements in 2023, but, at close to 435 million, remained elevated. Moreover, in 2023, labour market participation rates had largely recovered from their pandemic lows, especially among lower-middle-income and high-income countries, although with large differences across labour market groups, which have contributed to labour market imbalances, notably in advanced economies. Average hours remain below their 2019 pre-pandemic levels, weighing on the overall available labour input and causing labour market imbalances, especially in key sectors in advanced and some emerging economies. Although the imbalances eased somewhat in 2023, concerns are rising that these labour market imbalances are structural, rather than cyclical, in nature.

... although real wages declined and working poverty has bottomed out

Despite lower unemployment and positive employment growth, real wages declined in the majority of G20 countries as wage increases failed to keep pace with inflation. Moreover, in 2023, the numbers of workers living in extreme poverty – earning less than US\$2.15 per day per person in purchasing power parity (PPP) terms – grew by about 1 million globally. A stronger pattern emerges when one looks at moderate working poverty, that is, earning less than US\$3.65 per day per person in PPP terms. The number of workers living in moderate poverty increased by about 8.4 million in 2023; a decline in moderate poverty was observed only in upper-middle-income countries. On the positive side, informality rates have returned close to pre-pandemic levels, even though the number of informal workers reached 2 billion people in 2023 because of the growing global labour force.

Financial conditions started to deteriorate, building up fragility

Underneath benign trends in headline job numbers, fragility has started to emerge that is likely to first hit countries that were already struggling before the pandemic. Highly indebted developing countries are particularly at risk of quickly running into financial distress as global financial conditions tighten, with significant

repercussions for jobs, working conditions and wage growth. So far, these problems have remained localized and have had few regional or global repercussions. However, should financial stress affect more systemically significant countries, another global financial crisis cannot be excluded.

Investment remained resilient ...

Global investment rates have recovered significantly since the historic low during the global financial crisis and continued to do so throughout the pandemic. Rising financing costs and a rise in the level of uncertainty have not prevented a return to higher investment activity, especially among European countries. Thanks to strong commodity developments, countries in sub-Saharan Africa have experienced significant acceleration in investment and are expected to sustain investment rates at one of the highest levels in that subregion in more than three decades. On the other hand, countries in East and South-East Asia have experienced moderate investment slowdown, albeit from very high levels. Overall, a temporary decline in investment is to be expected, but global investment rates are expected to remain significantly above the levels seen during the 2010s.

... but productivity growth continued to decelerate amidst rising price pressures

After a short growth spurt as countries recovered from the pandemic, aggregate labour productivity growth quickly returned to the low pace observed over the previous decade. This slowdown happened despite the apparent acceleration of technological progress, especially that of digital technologies. In this regard, the rise in investment in many advanced and some developing countries does not seem to have lifted productivity growth, presumably because of strong investment growth in low-productivity services and construction.

During periods of slow productivity growth, real disposable income and real wages are often vulnerable to sudden price shocks. As only a few firms have seen their profits accelerate, most workers have been unable to ask for stronger increases in their earnings, and so they and their households are facing an accelerating erosion of their real disposable income. Moreover, given the large sectoral heterogeneity of earnings, a further widening of within-country income inequality has ensued. Macro-policymakers might welcome the absence of a wage–price spiral, but, in an environment of already lacklustre growth and where earnings were lost during the pandemic, such an erosion of real disposable income bodes ill for aggregate demand and a more sustained economic recovery. More importantly, when demand falters, productivity growth suffers as firms fail to generate enough revenue to invest in and adjust to the latest technological developments.

Labour imbalances were compounded by weak productivity growth and lower average hours worked ...

Concerns about labour and skills shortages have remained high on the agenda of policymakers, at least in advanced economies and some emerging economies. Despite a quick recovery in aggregate labour force participation rates, sectors with essential workers have expressed difficulties in attracting people to take up the rising demand for care, transportation and retail work. There have also been persistent shortages in other sectors such as manufacturing, construction and ICT. Part of the challenge with respect to shortages of essential workers has to do with the poor working conditions in these sectors. Slowing productivity makes it difficult for employers in these sectors to offer higher wages. In addition, restructured demand across sectors and supportive fiscal policy have created a significant overhang in vacancies, in specific sectors, that are difficult to fill. Such sectoral mismatch has been often compounded by low geographical mobility because workers have suffered from a lack of affordable housing. Although these shortages seem to have eased with tighter macroeconomic policies, labour market imbalances have persisted.

The recovery in labour force participation rates to pre-pandemic levels has been uneven and has not benefited all labour market groups the same way. Female participation rates have recovered faster than expected but the gender participation gap remains large, especially in emerging and developing countries. Most concerning is the situation for young people. Although youth labour force participation has recovered above trend, a disproportionately large proportion of youth who dropped out of the labour market are not pursuing any form of training and continue to face significant obstacles to returning to work. The rate of those not in training, education or employment (NEET) remains high across income levels and particularly among young women, causing significant challenges for individuals' long-term labour market attachment.

Although people have returned to the labour market, they tend not to be working the same numbers of hours as before the pandemic. Across countries of all income levels, average hours worked have expanded less than total hours worked; there are acute labour shortages in some contact-intensive - sectors. These are partly related to ongoing longer-term health-related problems that have built up over the past three years. The numbers of sick days have increased significantly from pre-pandemic levels, indicating ongoing COVID-19-related effects on people's health. Policy measures to keep workers in jobs regardless of the number of hours worked are fading only slowly and have prevented a faster recovery of average hours worked. Finally, the increase in the incidence of part-time employment is contributing to longerterm reductions in average hours worked, since part-time employees often find it difficult to return to a full-time job.

As the economy continues to slow down, part of these labour shortages will be absorbed by firms issuing fewer vacancies. Nevertheless, as productivity growth remains weak, labour shortages are likely to persist. In countries where the population is ageing, employers will face increasing difficulties in filling their vacancies despite the slowing growth. Older workers tend to switch jobs less frequently; hence an older population means there will be fewer of the job hoppers who constitute many of the candidates for open vacancies. Improvements in working conditions and rising productivity could help address some of these labour market imbalances, as could more equitable distribution of job opportunities across countries that have severe excess labour.

... an indication of structural problems that affect labour market adjustment

As the cyclical factors impacting on labour markets have slowly been absorbed, structural issues in labour market adjustment have become more pressing. Job retention schemes – such as those put in place in many advanced economies – proved essential to prevent firms and workers losing valuable experience and skills. However, these schemes made workers less likely to switch rapidly to new opportunities with the onset of the recovery. Moreover, longterm trends in productivity and population ageing among advanced and some emerging economies have slowed down the adjustment necessary to absorb the pandemic-induced labour market imbalances. A workforce that is on average older and less mobile – in part because of problems on the housing market as described above – will have fewer opportunities to switch to alternative job opportunities. Such opportunities may simply not exist, owing to the generalized slowdown in productivity growth, and this will reduce pathways for transitions to better-paying jobs. Finally, despite the modest improvements in 2023, labour market participation rates for both men and women are set to decline in 2024 and 2025 across most income groups, following their long-term trend.

Accelerating technological progress is testing labour market resilience

Labour market adjustment will be further tested by accelerating technological progress. The year 2023 saw the arrival of yet another wave of digital innovations involving generative artificial intelligence (AI). Despite this apparent technological progress, living standards and productivity growth have not improved, a further indication of slow labour market adjustment. Lack of skills and the entry barriers for newcomers created by large digital monopolies have been significant obstacles to faster technological adoption, in particular in low-productive sectors and developing countries. Geographical inequalities are likely to worsen because a small number of conglomerates continue to attract most of the investment in the digital sector. Many countries, including developing

ones, have adopted policies to encourage the adoption of AI. However, in the current climate of geopolitical tensions, technological transfer seems to be facing intensifying barriers, which will hamper leapfrogging strategies in developing countries to harness the benefits of these digital technologies. Broad-based skills initiatives require significant domestic fiscal resources, but these have been eroded by the pandemic, including in advanced economies. Countries longing for a faster digital transformation that will benefit society at large will need new policy approaches, including a more proactive approach to technological development, for instance through mission-oriented innovation policy and the mobilization of resources through sovereign wealth funds.

Outlook remains cloudy as a poly-crisis worsens social justice

In the near future, the labour market outlook is set to deteriorate, albeit only moderately. Global unemployment rates will notch up slightly over the forecast horizon, primarily because of increased joblessness in advanced economies. Unemployment is expected to rise modestly in 2024: as labour force participation rates decline and employment growth slows, global unemployment will rise by 2 million, pushing the global unemployment rate from 5.1 per cent in 2023 to 5.2 per cent in 2024. The global jobs gap, though improving, remained elevated in 2023, at close to 435 million. The erosion of real wages and living standards by high and persistent inflation rates and rising costs of housing is unlikely to be compensated quickly. Youth unemployment continues to present a challenge to faster structural and labour market adjustment, especially in countries with high NEET rates. The gap here opened by the pandemic needs to be closed quickly through targeted skills initiatives to prevent further erosion of job resilience. Informality rates are not expected to improve any further; around 58 per cent of the global employment will

remain informally employed in 2024. Similarly, working poverty is likely to persist.

Major challenges need to be addressed swiftly to accelerate movement towards achieving the UN sustainability goals. The current environment of geopolitical tensions bodes ill for rapid and effective international coordination to address major economic, ecological and social challenges. Governments need to strengthen their domestic economy through initiatives to raise productivity growth and living standards. To this end, governments and social partners could make use of existing international cooperation instruments to foster regional productivity initiatives, for instance by strengthening global skills partnerships. Although governments have returned to the commanding heights of the economy, their resources have been depleted, especially in lowand middle-income countries. Current work by the G20 to foster international cooperation to make better use of multilateral development funds should be encouraged and sped up to support the most fragile economies.



Labour market resilience will be tested in the near term

Growth has proved to be resilient amidst rising fragility

GDP in 2023 proved to be more resilient than was anticipated. In October 2022, the International Monetary Fund's (IMF's) outlook for GDP (gross domestic product) growth in 2023 was constrained by persistent increases in interest rates intended to bring inflation under control (IMF 2022). The frequent and rapid increasing of interest rates was expected to dampen global growth considerably. However, in October 2023, the global GDP growth projection for 2023 was revised upwards by 0.3 percentage points from the previous year's forecast, primarily because of stronger demand for services (IMF 2023). GDP growth was revised upwards by 0.4 percentage points for advanced economies and 0.3 percentage points for emerging market and developing economies (figure 1.1). Some of the better than anticipated growth in 2023 was also the result of investment levels that remained high despite rising costs of borrowing (box 1.1).



Box 1.1. Investment levels fell modestly in the face of higher borrowing costs

At the global level, investment as a share of GDP in 2023 is estimated to have been 26.4 per cent, only 1 percentage point lower than in 2022 (IMF 2023). The fall in advanced economies was even less pronounced (from 23.2 per cent in 2022 to 22.4 per cent in 2023). This pales in comparison, for instance, with the 3 percentage point drop in advanced economies in 2009 at the height of the global financial crisis. Some of the recent underlying persistence in investment may have been linked to anchored expectations that inflation (and interest rates) would return to target levels (see box 1.3).

This resilience in investment can also be attributed to swift policy action at the onset of the pandemic to bolster the uncertainty shock that the health crisis brought about. However, the current macroeconomic environment, conditioned partly by rising geopolitical tensions, has altered the composition of investment away from highly innovative investments to lowyielding ones. This has likely helped to bolster economic activity and employment in the short term, but an over-reliance on lower-productivity investments, such as retail trade, could dampen productivity and overall improvements in living standards over the medium term.

Inflation pressures eased in 2023 but remained elevated. Rising prices in 2021 and 2022 came on the heels of strong fiscal stimulus by governments during the COVID-19 pandemic, and supply chain pressures exacerbated by geopolitical developments including the Russian Federation's invasion of Ukraine. Although all regions and economies have seen inflation rise since 2020, advanced economies have experienced lower levels of inflation than have emerging market and developing economies. Although inflation was down from its 2022 peak, it remained considerably above central bank target levels throughout 2023, averaging 4.6 per cent in advanced economies and 8.5 per cent in developing economies. This has had important negative consequences on real wage growth (see figure 1.8).

The GDP outlook for 2024 is characterized by considerable heterogeneity across country **groupings.** The resilience in GDP growth in 2023 was most evident among lower-middleand upper-middle-income countries (figure 1.2). High-income countries experienced a significant slowing of GDP growth in 2023 compared with 2022, and low-income countries also saw a marked slowdown. GDP is expected to remain stable in 2024, globally, relative to 2023, with low-income and lower-middle-income countries expected to see an improvement over this period (IMF 2023). However, owing to the presence and persistence of global spillovers, there are risks that growth will deteriorate in the near future (box 1.2)



Figure 1.2. GDP growth outlook (percentage change)

Note: GDP estimates are based on constant 2017 international USD. **Source:** Authors' calculations based on IMF (2023).

Box 1.2. Global spillovers: Risks of deteriorating GDP that could exacerbate employment challenges

The outlook for GDP and employment is subject to several global risks. Foremost are the economic, employment and social risks and related spillovers arising from the Israel–Hamas conflict that erupted in October 2023, heightening tensions in the Middle East. Geopolitical factors and a prolonged or widened conflict in the Middle East could also have implications for, among other things, the scale of refugee crises, impacting on neighbouring countries and other countries in Europe and beyond.

Another risk of deterioration comes from potential disruptions in global value chains. A recent Bank of International Settlements (BIS) bulletin points to evidence that, although direct crosscountry links fell significantly between December 2021 and September 2023, there was an increase in indirect cross-country links (Qiu, Shin and Zhang 2023). Thus, the global economy remains highly interconnected and – contrary to "near-shoring" post-pandemic trade patterns – is far from immune to regional developments.

Finally, if interest rates remain higher, and for longer, in the United States of America and other advanced economies, they could have ripple effects on global growth through higher levels of sovereign debt and other transmission channels in emerging market and developing economies. In sum, there are considerable downside risks to growth and employment in the near future.

Inflation – though easing – could become more widespread over 2024 and 2025. The better than anticipated economic growth outlook is partly a reflection of the fact that inflationary pressures are easing as cost shocks from energy and food price hikes dissipate (figure 1.3). However, as more and more sectors are affected by inflation, higher inflation could persist albeit at levels lower than the peaks reached in 2022 (IMF 2023). Because inflation remains sticky, interest rates are expected to remain elevated over the forecast horizon. This could continue to dampen real wage prospects.



Figure 1.3. Recent and projected changes in inflation (percentages)

Economic resilience held labour market conditions steady in 2023

On account of stronger than anticipated economic growth in 2023, total labour force participation rates moved above their longterm linear trend.¹ Possibly buoyed by a stronger than anticipated job market, participation rates increased in several regions in 2023, notably in high-income countries (by 0.3 percentage points) and lower-middle-income countries (by 1.5 percentage points) (table 1.2). In low-income and upper-middle-income countries labour force participation rates fell (by 0.1 and 0.3 percentage points, respectively). When 2023 participation rates are compared with the 1991–2019 linear trend, a number of observations can be made (figure 1.4). First, except in low-income countries, 2023 participation rates were higher than the 1991–2019 linear trend, signalling that participation rates have largely recovered from their pandemic lows. Second, however, participation rates were lower in 2023 than their linear trends in North Africa, Latin America and the Caribbean and to a lesser extent in South-East Asia and the Pacific. Indeed, there are notable differences across ILO subregions (see Chapter 2). More fundamentally, although labour market participation is above trend, a number of important deviations have occurred that are masked when aggregate figures are examined. For instance, women, youth and migrants – particularly hard hit by the pandemic – continue to have comparably low participation rates (see Chapter 3).

1 Owing to the broad estimation method of the linear trend, only discrepancies beyond ±0.5 percentage points are considered off trend.



Figure 1.4. Total labour force participation rates (percentage points)

Note: The linear trend is based on labour force participation rates in 1991–2019. **Source:** Author's calculations based on ILOSTAT, ILO modelled estimates, November 2023.

The downward trajectory in unemployment rates was maintained in 2023. Unemployment rates fell globally by 0.2 percentage points in 2023 to 5.1 per cent, with declines across most country groups except low-income countries, where rates ticked up, and high-income countries, where unemployment remained stable (figure 1.5). Moreover, except in low-income countries, the unemployment rates in 2023 were consistently below the pre-pandemic levels of 2019.

The jobs gap has improved in recent years, but in 2023 stood at nearly 435 million.² Since the height of the pandemic in 2020, the jobs gap has continued to trend downwards and is now below its 2019 pre-pandemic level (table 1.1). Globally, the jobs gap is expected to have numbered 434.8 million persons in 2023, equating to a jobs gap rate of 11.1 per cent. This marks a 5.6 million decrease in the size of the jobs gap from 2022. Among women the jobs gap is expected to have

2 The "jobs gap" includes every person who wants employment, regardless of whether they are currently available or searching for a job. See ILO (2023).



been 220.7 million in 2023, and among men 214.1 million. The jobs gap rate for women in 2023 was 13.7 per cent, versus 9.3 per cent for men. Across all country income groups the jobs gap of women is higher than that of men, but the gender differences are most pronounced in low-income and lower-middle-income countries, where the jobs gap of women surpasses that of men by nearly 7 percentage points. In uppermiddle-income and high-income countries in 2023, the jobs gap rate for women was higher than that of men by 3.0 and 2.3 percentage points, respectively. In all country income groups the jobs gap rate has declined since 2020, the most pronounced decline (3.0 percentage points) having occurred in high-income countries.

Employment growth remained positive across all income groups in the face of economic headwinds. In 2023, the drop in unemployment rates was a consequence of employment growing faster than labour market participation. Nevertheless, since 2021, global employment growth has by and large decelerated (figure 1.6). In 2023, employment growth, while remaining positive, fell across most income groups (the exception being lower-middle-income countries). At the global level, employment grew 2.2 per cent in 2023, compared with 2.8 per cent the previous year. The deceleration of employment growth was particularly pronounced in upper-middleincome and high-income countries. Although total employment growth decelerated in 2023,

Country group	Sex	Jobs ga (percen					Jobs gap (millions)				
		2019	2020	2021	2022	2023	2019	2020	2021	2022	2023
World	Women	14.4	16.1	15.3	14.2	13.7	219.7	244.7	238.0	223.0	220.7
	Men	10.0	11.6	10.7	9.6	9.3	219.3	254.8	238.3	217.5	214.1
	Total	11.8	13.4	12.6	11.5	11.1	439.0	499.5	476.4	440.4	434.8
Low-income	Women	24.1	25.5	25.1	24.4	24.3	31.7	34.7	35.2	34.9	35.7
countries	Men	16.6	17.8	17.8	17.5	17.4	25.8	28.5	29.4	30.1	30.9
	Total	20.0	21.4	21.1	20.6	20.5	57.6	63.3	64.5	65.0	66.6
Lower-middle-	Women	16.2	17.4	16.8	16.0	15.4	67.3	72.2	72.2	71.1	73.7
income countries	Men	10.1	11.6	10.5	9.1	8.9	84.0	97.3	90.1	79.6	79.5
	Total	12.1	13.5	12.6	11.4	11.1	151.3	169.4	162.3	150.6	153.2
Upper-middle-	Women	13.2	14.8	14.0	12.6	12.0	89.8	99.8	96.4	86.7	82.4
income countries	Men	9.6	11.1	10.2	9.4	9.0	81.2	93.2	86.6	80.2	77.3
	Total	11.2	12.8	11.9	10.8	10.4	171.0	193.0	183.0	166.9	159.7
High income	Women	10.4	12.8	11.4	10.0	9.5	30.9	38.0	34.2	30.3	28.9
countries	Men	7.8	9.9	8.9	7.6	7.2	28.2	35.9	32.3	27.6	26.4
	Total	8.9	11.2	10.1	8.7	8.2	59.1	73.9	66.6	57.9	55.3

▶ Table 1.1. Jobs gap and jobs gap rate, 2019–23, by sex, world and income group

Source: ILOSTAT, ILO modelled estimates, November 2023.

Figure 1.6. Employment growth, 2020–23, by sex and country income groups (percentages)

Total	2019	2020	2021	2022	2023
World	1.3	-2.0	2.8	2.8	2.2
Low-income countries	2.9	1.3	3.3	3.9	3.0
Lower-middle-income countries	2.1	-1.1	3.3	4.3	4.5
Upper-middle-income countries	0.3	-2.9	2.8	1.5	0.6
High-income countries	1.3	-2.8	1.6	2.5	1.1
Male	2019	2020	2021	2022	2023
World	1.2	-1.8	2.5	3.0	1.5
Low-income countries	3.0	1.4	3.2	4.6	2.9
Lower-middle-income countries	2.0	-1.0	3.1	4.3	2.5
Upper-middle-income countries	0.1	-2.7	2.4	1.6	0.6
High-income countries	1.1	-2.8	1.1	2.3	0.9
Female	2019	2020	2021	2022	2023
World	1.4	-2.3	3.2	2.5	3.2
Low-income countries	2.8	1.1	3.4	3.1	3.1
Lower-middle-income countries	2.2	-1.2	3.9	4.3	8.6
Upper-middle-income countries	0.6	-3.2	3.3	1.3	0.6
High-income countries	1.6	-2.8	2.3	2.7	1.5

Source: ILOSTAT, ILO modelled estimates, November 2023.

Figure 1.7. Mean weekly hours actually worked per employed person, 2019 and 2023, by country income group and sex



Note: This indicator is based on the 13th International Conference of Labour Statisticians (ICLS) definition. More information can be found in the ILO Modelled Estimates (ILOEST) database description (<u>https://ilostat.ilo.org/</u>resources/concepts-and-definitions/ilo-modelled-estimates/).

Source: ILOSTAT, ILO modelled estimates, November 2023.

female employment growth topped or equalled that of males across income groups. Despite a deceleration in job growth, notably in high-income countries, labour market and skills imbalances have persisted across several countries and sectors (see Chapter 3).

However, mean hours worked have yet to recover fully from the pandemic. Against the backdrop of positive employment growth, at the global level mean hours worked per week per person employed reached approximately 42 (figure 1.7). Although in some instances – lowincome and upper-middle-income countries – they are approaching 2019 levels, mean hours worked remain consistently below their pre-pandemic levels, a circumstance that may adversely affect overall labour supply (see Chapter 3). They are especially so among lower-middle-income countries. The recent trends in average hours worked are broadly consistent across genders.

Despite low unemployment and positive employment growth, in countries with available data, real wages have been declining. The vast majority of G20 countries with available wage data saw real wages fall in 2023, meaning that wage increases were unable to keep pace with inflation

25



Figure 1.8. Annual real wage growth in 2023 (percentages)

Note: For 2023, data refer to the real wage growth in the first or second quarter compared with the same quarter in 2022. Data for 2022 refer to full-year real wage growth compared with 2021.

* Data for India, Saudi Arabia and Türkiye refer to changes between 2022 and 2021 (rather than 2023 and 2022) and between 2021 and 2020 (rather than 2022 and 2021).

Source: ILO Global Wage Database.

(figure 1.8). Only China, the Russian Federation and Mexico enjoyed positive real wage growth in 2023. The strongest wages gains were in China and the Russian Federation, where labour productivity growth was among the highest in G20 countries in 2023. Real wage growth in India and Türkiye was also positive, but the available data refer to 2022 relative to 2021. The other G20 countries saw real wages fall; the declines were particularly pronounced in Brazil (6.9 per cent), Italy (5 per cent) and Indonesia (3.5 per cent).

Looking ahead, there are risks that job creation will deteriorate further

The economic slowdown is expected to finally catch up with job creation in 2024. Some of 2023's labour market resilience may have resulted from the fact that employment is typically a lagging indicator, so weaknesses in job creation are more likely to unfold some time after economic growth slows. Thus, globally, employment growth is expected to remain positive in 2024, but at rates of only 0.8 per cent in 2024 and 1.1 per cent in 2025 (less than half the employment growth of 2023) (figure 1.9). The situation is particularly concerning in high-income countries, where employment growth is expected to turn negative in 2024 and only modest improvements are anticipated in 2025. Similarly, little gain in employment is anticipated among upper-middle-income countries over the next two years. In contrast, jobs gains in low-income and lower-middle-income countries will remain robust. Unlike in 2023, when female employment growth outpaced that of men, in 2024 employment growth among women is expected to be lower than among men.

Despite modest increases in 2023, participation rates are set to decline in the coming years. Recent increases in labour market participation rates are likely to have been buoyed by a stronger than anticipated job market. However, in 2024 and

Total	2023	2024	2025
World	2.2	0.8	<mark>1.1</mark>
Low-income countries	3.0	3.2	3.3
Lower-middle-income countries	4.5	1.2	2.0
Upper-middle-income countries	0.6	0.3	0.4
High-income countries	1.1	-0.2	0.1
Male	2023	2024	2025
World	1.5	1.1	1.3
Low-income countries	2.9	3.2	3.3
Lower-middle-income countries	2.5	1.8	2.1
Upper-middle-income countries	0.6	0.4	0.4
High-income countries	0.9	0.0	0.2
Female	2023	2024	2025
World	3.2	0.3	0.9
Low-income countries	3.1	3.1	3.2
Lower-middle-income countries	8.6	0.1	1.7
Upper-middle-income countries	0.6	0.2	0.3
High-income countries	1.5	-0.4	-0.0

Figure 1.9. Employment growth, 2023–25, by sex and country income groups (percentages)

Source: ILOSTAT, ILO modelled estimates, November 2023.

Country group	Sex	Years						
		2019	2020	2021	2022	2023	2024	2025
World	Women	48.0	46.8	47.6	47.9	48.7	48.2	48.0
	Men	73.0	71.7	72.2	72.9	73.0	72.9	72.9
	Total	60.5	59.2	59.8	60.3	60.8	60.5	60.4
Low income	Women	56.2	55.4	55.6	55.2	55.2	55.1	55.0
	Men	74.4	73.6	73.7	74.4	74.3	74.2	74.2
	Total	65.2	64.4	64.6	64.7	64.6	64.6	64.5
Lower-middle income	Women	34.9	34.1	34.8	35.4	37.7	37.0	37.0
	Men	73.9	72.8	73.2	74.2	74.9	74.8	75.0
	Total	54.6	53.6	54.1	54.9	56.4	56.1	56.2
Upper-middle income	Women	56.4	54.6	55.8	55.9	55.7	55.4	55.1
	Men	74.2	72.3	73.1	73.5	73.3	73.0	72.7
	Total	65.2	63.3	64.4	64.7	64.4	64.1	63.8
High income	Women	53.7	53.0	53.4	54.0	54.3	54.0	53.9
	Men	68.5	67.5	67.6	68.0	68.1	68.0	67.9
	Total	61.0	60.2	60.4	60.9	61.2	60.9	60.8

Table 1.2. Labour force participation rates by income group, 2019–25

Source: ILOSTAT, ILO modelled estimates, November 2023.

2025, participation rates are expected to decline across all income groups (except low-income countries, where they are set to remain stable in 2024 but then decline the following year) and for both men and women (table 1.2). The anticipated fall in participation rates is more pronounced among women, for whom between 2023 and 2025 it is expected to fall 0.7 percentage points globally, compared with 0.1 percentage points among men.

Unemployment is expected to rise modestly. Projections show that unemployment rates are set to remain broadly stable over the next two years (table 1.3). As labour force participation rates decline and employment growth slows, the global unemployment rate is expected to remain near current levels, edging up from 5.1 per cent in 2023 to 5.2 per cent in 2024 and remaining unchanged in 2025. This upward tick is primarily a result of the rising unemployment rates expected among high-income countries (an increase of 0.2 percentage points from 2023 levels to reach 4.7 per cent in 2024).

A modest uptick in unemployment is expected to disproportionately affect men. The unemployment rate of women is set to remain stable at 5.3 per cent through the forecast period, whereas that of men is expected to rise modestly in 2024 (by 0.1 percentage points) and then decline by the same magnitude in 2025.

Global unemployment is projected to increase in 2024 by around 2 million. The modest increase in the unemployment rate will translate into an increase in global unemployment of 2 million in 2024, rising to 190.8 million from the 188.6 million in 2023. The outlook for unemployment in 2024 is broadly consistent across income groups, each country group being expected to see an increase in unemployment. The increase is expected to be highest (1 million in total) in high-income countries.

Country group	Sex	Unemployment rate (percentages)							Unemployment (millions)						
		2019	2020	2021	2022	2023	2024	2025	2019	2020	2021	2022	2023	2024	2025
World	Women	5.7	6.6	6.2	5.5	5.3	5.3	5.3	78.5	90.0	87.0	79.2	77.9	78.5	79.4
	Men	5.5	6.6	6.0	5.1	5.0	5.1	5.0	115.9	137.3	126.4	110.6	110.7	112.3	113.3
	Total	5.6	6.6	6.1	5.3	5.1	5.2	5.2	194.3	227.3	213.4	189.7	188.6	190.8	192.7
Low	Women	5.4	6.1	6.3	5.7	5.7	5.7	5.6	5.7	6.6	7.0	6.5	6.7	6.9	7.0
income	Men	5.1	6.0	6.0	5.6	5.7	5.7	5.6	7.0	8.3	8.7	8.4	8.9	9.2	9.3
	Total	5.2	6.0	6.1	5.6	5.7	5.7	5.6	12.7	15.0	15.7	14.9	15.6	16.1	16.3
Lower-	Women	6.1	6.8	6.6	5.8	5.4	5.4	5.4	22.5	25.2	25.2	22.7	23	22.9	23.5
middle income	Men	5.7	6.9	6.1	4.7	4.7	4.7	4.7	45.6	54.8	49.5	39.8	40.7	41.4	42.1
meenie	Total	5.8	6.9	6.2	5.1	5.0	4.9	4.9	68.2	80.0	74.7	62.5	63.7	64.4	65.5
Upper-	Women	5.7	6.4	6.1	5.7	5.4	5.4	5.4	36.1	39.0	38.4	36.1	34.5	34.5	34.5
middle income	Men	5.8	6.6	6.1	5.7	5.5	5.5	5.5	47.2	52.6	49.3	47.2	45.7	45.8	45.8
	Total	5.8	6.5	6.1	5.7	5.5	5.5	5.5	83.3	91.6	87.7	83.3	80.2	80.3	80.4
High	Women	5.0	6.9	5.9	4.8	4.7	4.9	5.0	14.2	19.2	16.5	13.8	13.7	14.1	14.4
income	Men	4.5	6.2	5.4	4.3	4.3	4.5	4.5	16.0	21.6	18.9	15.2	15.4	15.9	16.1
	Total	4.8	6.5	5.6	4.5	4.5	4.7	4.7	30.1	40.8	35.4	29.0	29.0	30.0	30.5

Table 1.3. Unemployment and unemployment rate, 2019–25, by sex, world and income group

Source: ILOSTAT, ILO modelled estimates, November 2023.

Persistent decent work deficits are undermining long-run progress

Decent work deficits persist, with considerable heterogeneity across regions and groups. The decline in unemployment rates obscures a significant lack of decent employment opportunities. As highlighted in table 1.1, globally, the jobs gap stood at nearly 435 million in 2023, representing a jobs gap rate of 11.1 per cent. Moreover, many individuals in employment are confronted with several barriers to decent work, including declining real wages, elevated levels of informal employment and deteriorating working conditions. In other instances, barriers to labour market participation persist, notably for women, and for youth, who also continue to be confronted with higher levels of unemployment. Together, these factors are undermining long-run progress to improving decent work and social justice.

Gender gaps in participation rates will persist. Over the forecast period, both male and female participation rates are expected to decline. Since the decline among women is anticipated to be more pronounced than that among men, the gender gap in participation rates will rise modestly. In 2025, the global participation rates of men will exceed those of women by 25 percentage points (the gap will be noticeably elevated, at 38 percentage points, in lower-middle income countries) (figure 1.10). There are also some important regional differences, as elaborated in Chapter 2.

Youth unemployment rates are nearly 3.5 times higher than those of adults. Globally, in 2023, the youth unemployment rate, 13.3 per cent, far exceeded that of adults, 3.9 per cent (figure 1.11).



Figure 1.10. Gender gap in participation rates, 2023 and 2025 (percentage points)

Source: ILOSTAT, ILO modelled estimates, November 2023.

Figure 1.11. Youth and adult unemployment rates (percentages)



The general pattern of higher youth unemployment holds across all country income groups. Uppermiddle-income countries had the highest youth unemployment rate, 15.5 per cent, in 2023.

Informal employment is beginning to decline again but remains elevated. Since the global financial crisis, informality had been trending downwards for both men and women (figure 1.12). After the onset of the pandemic, informal employment experienced a modest uptick, but in 2024 it is expected to resume declining. However, as the working population grows, the number of informal workers continues to rise. Since 2019, the number of informal workers has risen by more than 120 million, bringing the total to over 2 billion in 2023 – its highest level in two decades. This scale of informal work raises concerns about overall job quality, since many of these workers lack adequate social and legal protection.

Close to 241 million workers were living in extreme poverty in 2023. Between 2020 and 2021, the share and volume of workers living in extreme



Figure 1.12. Informal employment as share of total employment, 2004–24 (percentages)

poverty – earning less than US\$2.15 per day per person in PPP terms – diminished (table 1.4). This was driven largely by significant reductions in working poverty among lower-middle-income countries. However, in 2023, although the overall incidence of working in extreme poverty remained relatively stable, even declining as employment grew, the numbers of workers in the world who were living in extreme poverty grew by around 1 million. A similar pattern emerges when one looks at moderate working poverty, that is, earning less than US\$3.65 per day per person in PPP terms. The number of workers living in moderate poverty increased by nearly 8.4 million in 2023. Only in upper-middle-income countries did the number of workers in moderate poverty decline.

Country group	Working poverty	Rates (percentages)				Numbers (millions)			
		2020	2021	2022	2023	2020	2021	2022	2023
World	Extreme	7.7	7.3	7.1	6.9	248.0	241.6	240.1	241.1
	Moderate	12.5	12.1	12.2	12.2	402.7	401.4	414.9	423.4
Low-income countries	Extreme	38.9	38.5	38.7	39.0	90.5	92.7	96.7	100.6
	Moderate	26.6	26.4	26.5	26.7	61.9	63.5	66.3	68.9
Lower-middle- income countries	Extreme	12.8	11.8	10.9	10.2	139.3	132.0	127.3	124.7
	Moderate	26.1	25.6	25.2	24.7	283.7	287.6	294.8	302.1
Upper-middle- income countries	Extreme	1.4	1.2	1.2	1.1	17.9	16.7	15.9	15.6
	Moderate	4.3	3.7	3.9	3.8	56.9	50.0	53.6	52.0

Table 1.4. Working poverty, 2020–23, world and by country income group

Source: ILOSTAT, ILO modelled estimates, November 2023.

Addressing labour market and skills imbalances could help tackle short-term labour market challenges and underlying structural issues. Despite some easing of labour market pressures as job vacancies have fallen from record highs, notably in high-income countries, labour market and skills imbalances are persisting in many regions and sectors. This suggests that the issue of labour market and skills imbalances is increasingly structural in nature as growth in the global labour force slows and the participation rates of under-represented groups remain suppressed.

The persistence of labour market imbalances is also a reflection of how the labour market is substantially different today. As inflation rose over the course of 2021 and 2022 to levels not seen in 40 years, parallels were drawn with the 1970s: in both cases, geopolitical developments impacted on commodity prices, especially the price of oil, and hence affected the economies of both advanced and developing countries. However, there are some striking differences (Allen and Ainsworth-Grace 2023). In 2023, the world managed to keep a recession at bay – even in the context of high inflation - in stark contrast to the recessionary conditions that accompanied inflation during the 1970s. The contrast reflects the relative speed with which central banks responded to inflation and also the structural differences between today's labour market and that of the 1970s (box 1.3).

Policy action is likely to be constrained by the macroeconomic environment. The long expansionary period in the 2010s with ultra-low interest rates allowed both advanced and emerging economies to stretch their borrowing capacity. Sovereign debt has increased to heights not seen since the post-1945 period. Several countries, including some advanced economies, have seen

their debt ratings decline as a consequence; this has increased borrowing costs for both public and private debtors. At the same time, few countries seem to have taken precautionary steps to lock in low interest rates and so they are now facing rapidly rising interest costs in their public budgets, whose capacity to provide targeted support is thereby limited. Highly indebted developing countries are particularly at risk of quickly running into financial distress as conditions tighten, with significant repercussions for their labour market conditions, wage growth and jobs.

As financial conditions deteriorate, this may spell double trouble for both labour markets and public purses. First, rising unemployment will only further dampen revenues and compromise already fragile fiscal positions. Second, as unemployment increases, there will be limited fiscal space to provide much needed measures to keep workers attached to the labour market and provide upskilling and reskilling support - both of which are central to encouraging a faster economic recovery. Yet, expenditure of this nature should be viewed as an investment and will help to bolster a more inclusive recovery and to address structural issues that are impeding long-run productivity growth and improvements in living standards. In fact, investments in well-targeted skills and training programmes and other related measures have lower opportunity costs during slowdowns.

The remainder of this report will examine these decent work deficits in greater detail. Chapter 2 will analyse employment and social developments during 2023 and the future outlook. ILO-region-specific decent work deficits will be explored and key areas highlighted in each region that merit attention. Chapter 3 will examine labour market imbalances in more detail.

Box 1.3. Baby boom versus baby bust: The labour market impacts of inflation in the 2020s compared with the 1970s

One reason why the labour market impacts of inflation are moderate today in comparison with the 1970s is the fact the economy is less energy intensive than it was five decades ago. Rising oil prices have not challenged industrial output and related employment to the same extent. Recent supply shocks have been less substantial and more temporary than in the 1970s, and the recent inflationary period has been more affected by the positive demand shock following on the heels of the pandemic (De Grauwe and Ji 2023). Another key difference is the speed and scale of monetary policy response. During the 1970s, monetary policy was not viewed by central banks as the most appropriate tool to confront the structural shock brought on by the oil embargo that began in 1973. Policymakers' reactions during the 1970s have been deemed "too little too late" (Allen and Ainsworth-Grace 2023). In contrast, between the spring/summer of 2022 and autumn 2023, central banks launched a cycle of aggressive interest rate hikes – the Federal Reserve and European Central Bank hiking rates by 525 and 450 basis points, respectively. The recent inflationary period was preceded by a prolonged period of low inflation, which helped anchor inflationary expectations at relatively low levels. Thus the disinflationary monetary policies rolled out by central banks were able to bring down inflation more swiftly than during the 1970s and without a corresponding surge in unemployment (De Grauwe and Ji 2023).

There is also a marked difference in the structures of the working-age population. In 1970, 36 per cent of the population of high-income countries were under the age of 19 and, over the course of the decade, the largest cohorts of the baby boom generation came of working age and entered the workforce in large numbers. Between 1970 and 1980, the population aged 20 to 64 grew by 1.3 per cent per year in high-income countries (figure 1.13). This provided an ample supply of labour and likely exacerbated the impact of inflation on unemployment during the 1970s. In contrast, by 2021 the population was considerably older on average and many members of the baby boom generation (aged 57 to 75 in 2021) had begun to exit the labour market. In the decade preceding the recent inflationary period (the decade 2011–21), the population aged 20 to 64 grew just 0.2 per cent per year in high-income countries. As a consequence, in the face of inflationary pressures and rising interest rates, employment growth only slowed in 2023 and labour shortages persisted across a number of countries and sectors (see Chapter 3).



Figure 1.13. Growth of population aged 20 to 64, by time period and country income group (compound annual percentages)

Note: Country income groups are as per World Bank categorization.

Source: Calculations based on UN Population Division estimates, World Population Prospects 2022 (https://population.un.org/dataportal/).

References

▶ Allen, H., and C. Ainsworth-Grace. 2023. *Stagflation in the 1970s: Is History Repeating Itself in the 2020s?* Deutsche Bank Research.

De Grauwe, Paul, and Yuemei Ji. 2023. "Inflation Then (1979–85) and Now (2020–23): Why It Is Easier to Fight Inflation Today". Centre for Economic Policy Research, 28 November 2023. <u>https:// cepr.org/voxeu/columns/inflation-then-1979-85-and-now-2020-23-why-it-easier-fight-inflation-today</u>.

► ILO. 2023. "ILO Modelled Estimates: Methodological Overview", January 2023. <u>https://www.ilo.</u> org/ilostat-files/Documents/TEM.pdf.

▶ IMF (International Monetary Fund). 2022. *World Economic Outlook: Countering the Cost-of-Living Crisis*. <u>https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/WEO/Issues/2022/10/11/world-economic-outlook-october-2022</u>.

► IMF. 2023. World Economic Outlook: Navigating Global Divergences. <u>https://www.imf.org/en/</u> Publications/WEO/Issues/2023/10/10/world-economic-outlook-october-2023.

▶ Qiu, Han, Hyun Song Shin, and Leanne Si Ying Zhang. 2023. "Mapping the Realignment of Global Value Chains", BIS Bulletin No. 78, 3 October 2023. https://www.bis.org/publ/bisbull78.htm.




Employment and social trends by region

Overview

Headline indicators show an improvement in most regions, with a slight deterioration for 2024 and considerable downside risk. Employment is growing in all regions, although often driven by growth in the working-age population. Employment-to-population ratios are also approaching pre-pandemic (2019) levels in most regions, except in some subregions, such as the non-GCC (Gulf Cooperation Council) Arab States, North America, East Asia and Eastern Europe, where employment-to-population ratios in 2023 were still below 2019 levels. Unemployment rates are also recovering to pre-pandemic levels, with similar subregional exceptions, including non-GCC Arab States and East Asia, for which ratios remain above 2019 levels. Considerable heterogeneity remains across subregions and different labour market dimensions. Weaker job growth is expected in 2024 owing to various geopolitical tensions and tighter global monetary conditions.

With a return to pre-COVID-19-pandemic levels evident in headline indicators in many regions, the focus is on strengthening long-standing decent work deficits. Despite progress in reducing informal employment, more than eight in ten employed people in Africa were in informal employment in 2023, nearly two thirds in Asia and the Pacific, and more than half in Latin America and the Caribbean. In 2023, around a third of the employed population in sub-Saharan Africa were living in extreme poverty (in households subsisting on less than US\$2.15 per day per person in PPP terms), and about 37 per cent of the employed population in South Asia and around 8 per cent of the employed population in Latin America and the Caribbean were living below the moderate poverty threshold (US\$3.65 per day per person in PPP terms). In many regions women continue to be distinctly disadvantaged across labour market variables, particularly in the Arab States and North Africa. With improvements in headline labour market indicators such as employment and unemployment, countries are taking stock of pre-existing challenges and developing strategies to confront new forms of work and their implications for these decent work deficits.

Africa

Africa's GDP growth remains buoyant although impacted upon by oil and non-oil commodity prices, which slowed growth in 2023. Africa's GDP growth is estimated to have been 3.8 per cent in 2022, following the turmoil of the pandemic in 2020 and 2021. In 2023, growth is expected to have slowed to 3.1 per cent, reflecting a combination of factors, including the impact of global geopolitical tensions, such as the conflict in Ukraine and its impact on commodity markets. The outlook for Africa is mixed. In 2024, GDP growth is expected to pick up again to 3.8 per cent, bolstered in part by higher commodity prices supporting the region's commodity exporters. Downside risks, however, include inflationary pressure, ongoing commodity price fluctuations, and tensions in the Middle East.

Long-term structural challenges continue to weigh on the region's economic potential; they include endemic working poverty, major population displacement and the impact of climate change. Limited fiscal space affects African countries' abilities to respond to exogenous shocks (IMF 2023a). Of continuing concern is the ability of these countries to be resilient to and rebuild from events resulting from climate change, such as prolonged drought, crop failures, and storms, which can disrupt key economic drivers such as mining activity and agricultural production. An additional concern is that much existing growth in GDP is not accompanied by increases in per capita incomes, which are rising too slowly to reduce extreme poverty and working poverty. In sub-Saharan Africa alone, in 2023, 145 million people were in extreme working poverty (at the US\$2.15 per day threshold, in PPP terms), equating to a third of the employed population. Per capita incomes are expected to grow less than 1 per cent in 2023-24, and 40 per cent of sub-Saharan Africa's population live in countries (including the three largest economies) where per capita incomes will be lower in 2024 than at the start of the pandemic (World Bank 2023a). Several African countries also face continuing security risks that have the potential to depress growth and produce adverse spillovers into neighbouring countries. For example, all five Sahel countries (Mali, Niger, Burkina Faso, Chad and Mauritania) are experiencing active conflict or

confronted with security challenges. Such conflict impacts on livelihoods as well as diverting public funds away from growth-enhancing investment (World Bank 2022; AfDB 2023a).

Labour market trends in North Africa

This subregion's growth has been undermined by a series of exogenous shocks, including drought, flooding and earthquakes. North Africa's GDP grew at 2.7 per cent in 2023, down from 3.7 per cent in 2022. GDP growth is forecast to rebound to 3.5 per cent in 2024 and 4.4 per cent in 2025. However, growth varies across the subregion. Ongoing conflicts continue to disrupt Libya's growth, as have recent flooding disasters, and drought and earthquakes have impacted on Morocco's growth (AfDB 2023b; Henson and Masters 2023). Meanwhile, tourism and trade resumption have benefited other countries in the region, including Egypt and Tunisia (AfDB 2023b).

North Africa continues to exhibit a low labour force participation rate driven by low levels of female participation. The labour force participation rate in North Africa, around 45 per cent in 2023, is the second lowest of all the world's subregions, higher only than in non-GCC Arab States (table 2.1). The female labour force participation rate, 20 per cent, was 49 percentage points lower than for men (69 per cent) in 2023. This carries through to the employment-to-population ratio, also low at 40 per cent in 2023, again driven by exceptionally low female rates (16 per cent compared with 63 per cent for males). This gender dimension is also visible in the share of the youth (aged 15-24) population not in employment, education or training (NEET): the NEET share of female youth is 38.4 per cent compared with 17 per cent for males.

Job creation has continued to recover since the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020. Mean weekly hours worked per person employed are still relatively high by global standards: 44 hours in 2023. Despite this, mean weekly hours per person employed have only just returned to the pre-pandemic levels of 2019 and the long-term pre-pandemic average over 2010–19. Recent job

Region/ subregion	Mean weekly hours worked per person employed							Total weekly hours in full-time equivalent jobs (FTE = 48 hours/week) (millions)							
	2010	2019	2022	2023	2024		2010	2019	2022	2023	2024				
Africa	38.8	39.0	39.1	39.0	39.0		296	372	406	418	430				
North Africa	44.7	44.0	44.0	44.0	44.0		56	60	64	65	66				
Sub-Saharan Africa	37.6	38.2	38.3	38.2	38.2		241	312	342	353	363				
	Employment-to-population ratio (percentages)							/ment ns)							
	2010	2019	2022	2023	2024	2025	2010	2019	2022	2023	2024	2025			
Africa	59.5	58.2	58.4	58.6	58.7	58.8	367	458	498	514	529	545			
North Africa	42.8	39.1	39.7	39.6	39.6	39.8	60	65	70	71	72	74			
Sub-Saharan Africa	64.5	63.3	63.2	63.5	63.5	63.5	307	393	429	443	457	471			
			Unemployment rate (percentages)							Unemployment (millions)					
								15)							
	2010	2019	2022	2023	2024	2025	2010	2019	2022	2023	2024	2025			
Africa	2010 6.7	2019 6.8	2022 6.7	2023 6.6	2024 6.6	2025 6.5			2022 35.8	2023 36.4	2024 37.1	2025 37.7			
Africa North Africa							2010	2019							
	6.7	6.8	6.7	6.6	6.6	6.5	2010 26.2	2019 33.2	35.8	36.4	37.1	37.7			
North Africa	6.7 10.5 5.9	6.8 11.4 5.9 force pa	6.7 10.9 6.0	6.6 11.3 5.8	6.6 11.3 5.8	6.5 10.9	2010 26.2 7.0	2019 33.2 8.3 24.8 force	35.8 8.5	36.4 9.0	37.1 9.2	37.7 9.1			
North Africa	6.7 10.5 5.9 Labour	6.8 11.4 5.9 force pa	6.7 10.9 6.0	6.6 11.3 5.8	6.6 11.3 5.8	6.5 10.9	2010 26.2 7.0 19.1 Labour	2019 33.2 8.3 24.8 force	35.8 8.5	36.4 9.0	37.1 9.2	37.7 9.1			
North Africa	6.7 10.5 5.9 Labour (percer	6.8 11.4 5.9 force pa tages)	6.7 10.9 6.0 articipat	6.6 11.3 5.8 ion rate	6.6 11.3 5.8	6.5 10.9 5.7	2010 26.2 7.0 19.1 Labour (millior	2019 33.2 8.3 24.8 force	35.8 8.5 27.2	36.4 9.0 27.4	37.1 9.2 27.9	37.7 9.1 28.6			
North Africa Sub-Saharan Africa	6.7 10.5 5.9 Labour (percer 2010	6.8 11.4 5.9 force pa ntages) 2019	6.7 10.9 6.0 articipat	6.6 11.3 5.8 ion rate	6.6 11.3 5.8 2024	6.5 10.9 5.7 2025	2010 26.2 7.0 19.1 Labour (million 2010	2019 33.2 8.3 24.8 force s) 2019	35.8 8.5 27.2 2022	36.4 9.0 27.4 2023	37.1 9.2 27.9 2024	37.7 9.1 28.6 2025			

Table 2.1. Estimates and projections of working hours, employment, unemployment and labour force, regional and subregional, Africa, 2010–25

Source: ILOSTAT, ILO modelled estimates, November 2023.

growth is likely to have been driven by service sector recovery, including jobs in tourism and trade, which have potential to increase further (ILO 2022a).

Labour market trends in sub-Saharan Africa

GDP growth is expected to have slowed for a second year in a row in 2023, but a rebound in growth is expected in 2024. Several factors have contributed to slower economic expansion in the subregion, including persistent inflation, the global fallout from geopolitical issues (including supply

chain disruption), global declines in consumer confidence, and poor economic performances of a number of major economies in the subregion (IMF 2023a). Nevertheless, oil exporters saw strong growth against the backdrop of strong oil price increases (IMF 2023a). This oil price boom will likely continue to drive the subregion's growth in 2024, contributing to and combined with the strong growth of more than 5 per cent in the majority of sub-Saharan African countries, offsetting the higher costs for oil importers in the subregion (AfDB 2023a).

Sub-Saharan Africa's labour force continues to be driven by population growth. The size of the

labour force increased by 3.3 per cent in 2023. This translates into an additional 53 million people of working age in the labour force in 2023 compared with 2019. The labour force participation rate remained around 67 per cent, approximately the same as the pre-pandemic level in 2019 although marginally lower than the average of 68 per cent between 2010 and 2019. The labour force in sub-Saharan Africa is expected to increase by a further 14 million people in 2024.

Unemployment has remained slightly elevated since the onset of the pandemic, youth being particularly at risk. The average unemployment rate was estimated to be 5.8 per cent in 2023, compared with 5.9 per cent in 2019. This equates to a total of 27 million people. For youth, the rate is higher, 8.9 per cent, accounting for 9.4 million people. In a context of growing working-age population, young people are particularly at risk of disillusionment and labour market detachment as a result of being unable to secure decent and productive work on entry into the labour market. In 2023, around 62 million young people were estimated to be NEET, equating to 25.9 per cent of the youth population, up from 22.2 per cent in 2013.

Job creation is keeping pace with the rising labour force, but not necessarily involving improvements in the quality of jobs. Total hours worked increased by 3.4 per cent in 2023, compared with 2.8 per cent growth in 2019. Job growth is keeping pace with the growing labour force. Mean hours worked per person employed are also in line with pre-pandemic levels: 38.2 hours per week in both 2023 and 2019. The low average hours in the subregion, given that most countries in the subregion are low or middle income, point to likely underemployment. This illustrates the need for new jobs to be decent and productive.

Not all those in employment are in decent and productive jobs, decent work deficits being rife in the subregion. Informal employment accounted for 86.5 per cent of total employment in 2023, almost the same as a decade earlier (87.2 per cent in 2013). In 2023, almost 60 per cent were employed but living in households below the "moderately poor" international poverty threshold of US\$3.65 per person per day in PPP terms (down from 63.8 per cent in 2013). These challenges remain pervasive, particularly in rural areas. Meanwhile, in 2022, around 75.5 per cent of the employed population were own-account workers or contributing family workers - employment statuses that typically are more precarious, have less job security and bring less regular income than does more stable employee status. The combined share of own-account work and contributing family work has remained relatively unchanged over the past decade, from 76.1 per cent in 2012.

Data challenges for evidencebased labour migration governance in Africa

Africa is subject to many migration channels and contains countries of destination, transit and origin. There are multiple drivers and motives of migration, including conflict and security, climate-change-related factors, family reunification, and seeking better opportunities and employment. Often there is no single driving factor and thus there are mixed migration flows. "Mixed migration" refers to all cross-border movements that encompass a range of driving factors and motivations (Migration Data Portal 2022). At the same time, the region has various regional economic communities (RECs).¹ These RECs present different degrees of commitment and implementation with regard to the free movement of persons.² Together with irregular migration, porous borders and high degrees of informality in the labour market, all these factors complicate the measurement and therefore understanding of regional migration, including labour migration.

¹ Including, among others, the Community of Sahel–Saharan States (CED-SAD), the Southern African Development Community (SADC) the Common Market for Eastern and Southern Africa (COMESA), the Intergovernmental Authority on Development (IGAD) and part of the East Africa Community (EAC).

² For instance, the COMESA Protocol on the Free Movement of Persons, Labour, Services, the Right of Establishment and Residence was adopted in 2001 by the COMESA Authority of Heads and States and is in the process of being signed and ratified. COMESA Member States are still working towards the gradual relaxation and removal of visa requirements (COMESA 2023). A draft Protocol on the Free Movement of Persons within the SADC was introduced in 1996 and replaced by a Protocol on the Facilitation of Movement of Persons in 1997, which was revised in 2005 to allow visa-free entry for a maximum of 90 days. This has not been fully implemented – only some Member States have signed it – although most Member States exempt one another from visa requirements (UNECA n.d.).



Figure 2.1. International stock of migrant workers, Africa and subregions, total and female share, 2010–19

Estimates of migrant workers vary significantly in the region. The ILO, African Union, and Common Market for Eastern and Southern Africa (COMESA) have all produced recent estimates of the total stock of international migrant workers within the region (and subregions). The ILO estimates the total stock of international migrant workers in the region to have been 13.7 million in 2019 (ILO 2021a); the African Union, 14.5 million in 2019 (African Union Commission et al. 2021); and COMESA, 5.2 million for its Member States only (COMESA 2022).³ These figures all refer to migrant workers of working age (aged 15+). They are all likely to be underestimates given the extent of irregular migration in the region and the challenges of capturing such migration in official data.

Of the 14.5 million migrant workers in Africa in 2019, 4.3 million were estimated to be in West Africa, 4.1 million in East Africa and 3.5 million in Southern Africa (African Union Commission et al. 2021) (figure 2.1(a)). Estimates of immigration are more common than estimates of emigration, since the underlying data sources include labour force surveys and population censuses, both of which are used in most countries and provide estimates of international migrant stock in a country. Estimates of emigration are more difficult to obtain, as are estimates of inflows and outflows of migrant workers, all of which rely more on administrative data sources – such as work permit issuances, visas and border-crossing information – and undercount total numbers because of the challenges of capturing irregular migration.

The share of women in the total stock of migrant workers varies substantially by subregion and over time. In East Africa, for instance, the female share of total migrant stock decreased from 57.1 per cent in 2010 to 39 per cent in 2019 (figure 2.1(b)). In West Africa, over the same period, the female share increased from 27.8 per cent to 44.2 per cent. Such sex-disaggregated data are fundamental to effective gender-responsive labour migration policymaking in the region, yet such data are often missing or lacking. A significant challenge is that even when there are data on migrant workers in official statistics, there is a lack of granularity on occupation, skill levels, economic

³ The ILO is also involved in the African Union estimates. In future the numbers published by the African Union and ILO are likely to be aligned.

activity and other characteristics. Furthermore, women migrant workers are predominantly engaged in the informal sector and therefore harder to measure (ILO 2020a).

Despite shortfalls in available data on migrant workers, several labour migration policies are being formulated in the region in line with international commitments – including the African Union Revised Migration Policy Framework. A challenge for evidence-based effective labour migration policies arises when there is a lack of international labour migration statistics upon which to base them. In the Economic Community of West African States (ECOWAS), for instance, almost all Member States have developed or are planning to develop a national migration policy or something similar (ILO 2020a). In the Southern Africa subregion, too, a number of migration and labour migration policies and initiatives are under way or have recently been developed, including the Southern Africa Development Community (SADC) Labour Migration Action Plan (SAMM 2021a). Recognition of women's increasing role in labour migration, and the promotion of equality of opportunity and treatment in these policies and initiatives are fundamental and require improved data on women migrant workers as well as measures to facilitate greater granularity of data for men and women (SAMM 2021b; ILO 2020a). Wider research into the working roles and economic contributions of migrants can facilitate evidence-based policymaking as well as more informed public opinion, as has happened in South Africa and Ghana (OECD and ILO 2018a and 2018b).

Americas

Economic growth continued to slow in 2023 in both North America and Latin American and the Caribbean. The average GDP growth rate in the Americas fell to 2.1 per cent in 2023 from 2.7 per cent in 2022 (IMF 2023b). Weakness in the external environment as well as tighter monetary policy to fight inflation contributed to the slowing of the economy across the region. The GDP growth rate is expected to fall below 2 per cent in 2024.

Economies in Latin America and the Caribbean are still struggling to recover from the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. Latin America and the Caribbean's GDP growth rate fell by nearly 2 percentage points to 2.2 per cent in 2023. Despite the recent reductions in countries' public debt, their overall debt-to-GDP ratio is still high, limiting their capacity for fiscal support (ECLAC 2023). Many countries in the subregion (aside from Brazil) have struggled with decreasing rates of private consumption. Household consumption levels have also been dampened by monetary policies that have tightened credit restrictions. The GDP growth rate is expected to remain at the same level as in 2023 in both 2024 and 2025 (IMF 2023b). Given the growing populations in the subregion, this implies that per capita incomes will continue to decline.

North America's GDP growth remained resilient in 2023 but is expected to fall in 2024. North America's GDP growth rate decreased by only 0.2 percentage points to 2 per cent in 2023 (IMF 2023b). However, projections show that this subregion's growth rate will fall to 1.5 per cent in 2024. The United States' GDP growth rate is expected to decline in 2024 given the headwinds upon consumer spending (Lundh 2023). The slowdown in the GDP growth rate has come from persistently high inflation and interest rates throughout 2023, which caused household debt to increase. The United States' slowing economy has resulted in a decrease in Canadian exports thither, decelerating Canada's GDP growth.

Labour market trends in Latin America and the Caribbean

Labour force participation rates in Latin America and the Caribbean have not quite returned to pre-pandemic rates, but there has been a reduction in the gender gap. The labour force participation rate is estimated to have been 62.6 per cent in 2023, marginally lower than the 63.5 per cent in 2019 (table 2.2). The reduction in the gender gap is largely driven by a slightly stronger recovery for women than men in labour force participation, women being almost back to pre-pandemic labour force participation rates, but

Region/ subregion	Mean weekly hours worked per person employed							Total weekly working hours in full-time equivalent jobs (FTE = 48 hours/week) (millions)							
	2010	2019	2022	2023	2024		2010	2019	2022	2023	2024				
Americas	38.3	38.1	38.1	38.1	38.1		329	372	380	387	389				
Latin America and the Caribbean	40.0	39.2	39.5	39.4	39.4		209	233	242	246	249				
North America	35.7	36.4	35.9	36.0	36.0		119	139	138	140	140				
		Employment-to-population ratio (percentages)													
	2010	2019	2022	2023	2024	2025	2010	2019	2022	2023	2024	2025			
Americas	58.5	59.2	58.7	59.1	58.8	58.6	411	469	479	487	490	493			
Latin America and the Caribbean	58.9	58.4	58.2	58.7	58.7	58.6	251	285	294	300	304	307			
North America	57.8	60.5	59.5	59.8	59.0	58.7	160	183	184	187	186	187			
	Unemp (percer	oloymen ntages)	t rate				Unemployment (millions)								
	2010	2019	2022	2023	2024	2025	2010	2019	2022	2023	2024	202			
Americas	8.1	6.4	5.7	5.3	5.4	5.4	36.3	32.3	29.2	27.3	27.8	28.0			
Latin America and the Caribbean	7.2	8.0	6.9	6.2	6.1	6.0	19.5	24.8	21.8	19.8	19.8	19.6			
North America	9.5	3.9	3.8	3.8	4.2	4.3	16.8	7.4	7.3	7.5	8.1	8.4			
		Labour force participation rate (percentages)							Labour force (millions)						
									2022	2022	2024	202			
	2010	2019	2022	2023	2024	2025	2010	2019	2022	2023	2024	202			
Americas	2010 63.6	2019 63.3	2022 62.3	2023 62.4	2024 62.2	2025 62.0	2010 448	2019 501	508	514	2024 518	521			
Americas Latin America and the Caribbean															

Table 2.2. Estimates and projections of working hours, employment, unemployment and labour force, regional and subregional, Americas, 2010–25

Source: ILOSTAT, ILO modelled estimates, November 2023.

men lagging behind. The gendered impact of the crisis has been well documented: women were more likely to leave the labour force (ILO 2021b and 2023a). Nevertheless, the gender gap still looms large, 24 percentage points, between women with a labour force participation rate of 51.1 per cent in 2023 and men 74.6 per cent.

Strong job growth has contributed to reductions in unemployment, but the outlook is weaker. A reduction in the subregion's unemployment rate to 6.2 per cent in 2023, compared with 8 per cent in 2019, before the pandemic, has been driven by employment growth and job creation (ILO 2023a). However, slowdowns in the subregion's economy are likely to prevent further gains in the coming years; the unemployment rate is expected to remain around 6 per cent in 2024 and 2025. Youth unemployment remains a concern, being 13.6 per cent in 2023 (aligned with the global average of 13.3 per cent) and expected to marginally increase into 2025.

Stagnating labour productivity growth in Latin America and the Caribbean

Latin America and the Caribbean have stagnated over the last few decades. Figure 2.2 illustrates average annual productivity growth rates for subregions and selected economies in the Americas. For Latin America and the Caribbean as a whole, there was a drop in labour productivity between 2015 and 2023. In Argentina, over the same period, labour productivity is estimated to have decreased by 1.7 per cent per annum, and in Mexico by 0.4 per cent per annum. Not all countries in the region experienced a decline; Brazil exhibited very slight productivity growth over this period, far less than its neighbours in North America. In Canada and the United States, labour productivity grew 0.4 per cent per annum and 1 per cent per annum, respectively.

Poor productivity growth has been a longstanding and complex issue in Latin America and the Caribbean. Several factors underlie the persistent low productivity growth in this subregion, including regulatory regimes, infrastructure investment and tax systems. Of particular concern, as highlighted in the previous World Employment and Social Outlook: Trends report, is the persistence of the informal sector, notably in services and in rural areas, which drives down overall productivity growth (ILO 2023b and 2021c). This is compounded by the dominance of micro and small enterprises, which typically have lower productivity growth (high-productivity economies typically have higher shares of large and middle-sized enterprises). Partly because of the enterprise composition, investment in research

and development in Latin American countries lags behind that in North America; this, combined with lower-quality education and training systems, further suppresses productivity growth.

Labour market trends in North America

Unemployment rates remain low in the United States despite anticipated rises in the number of job seekers, owing to tighter monetary policy conditions. In North America, total unemployment in 2023 was less than half its 2020 peak. In 2023, the unemployment rate is estimated to have been 3.8 per cent (accounting for 7.5 million people), compared with 8.2 per cent (accounting for 15.5 million people) in 2020. The rate in 2023 was close to the pre-pandemic rate of 3.9 per cent in 2019. However, the unemployment rate is forecast to increase to 4.2 per cent and 4.3 per cent, respectively, in 2024 and 2025, on the back of tighter monetary conditions in the United States impacting on job growth and hiring. In Canada the unemployment rate remains stable on the back of employment growth (Moosapeta 2023).

Employment growth, having increased in 2023 by 1.4 per cent, is expected to decline in 2024 as the economy slows down. Total hours worked are also expected to decrease marginally in 2024, potentially representing a slowdown in job growth. Mean weekly hours, at 36 hours, have returned to the long-term pre-pandemic average (2010–19) and are only marginally below the 2019 level of 36.4 hours. As mentioned above, monetary policy conditions are expected to impact on job growth, but this has yet to show in headline indicators.



Source: ILOSTAT, ILO modelled estimates, November 2023.

Arab States

GDP growth in the Arab States has declined considerably amidst multiple oil production cuts. The 2023 GDP growth rate in the Arab States fell short of previous predictions (IMF 2023b). After a substantial 7.2 per cent in 2022, GDP growth decelerated to a meagre 0.9 per cent in 2023. However, GDP growth is expected to bounce back in 2024, to more than 3.5 per cent.

Oil-exporting countries are seeing a shift to nonoil-sector activities as drivers of GDP growth, owing to multiple oil production cutbacks. Near the end of 2022, the Organization of the Petroleum Exporting Countries and its allies (OPEC+) agreed to reduce 2023 oil production by 2 million barrels per day (bpd) from August 2022 production levels (Lawler and Edwards 2023). Further voluntary cuts were made on various occasions throughout 2023 (Lawler 2023). Saudi Arabia expects its oil

Box 2.1. Impact of the Israel– Hamas conflict on total employment in the Occupied Palestinian Territory

The ILO's first bulletin on the impact of the current Israel-Hamas conflict on the labour market and livelihoods estimates that at least 61 per cent of employment, accounting for 182,000 people, has been lost in the Gaza Strip since the start of the conflict (ILO 2023c). The conflict is also likely to have a spillover effect in neighbouring countries and the larger region. In the West Bank (the other area included in the Occupied Palestinian Territory), an estimated 24 per cent of employment has been lost, accounting for 208,000 people, since the start of the conflict. Gaza's labour market was already characterized by working poverty, unemployment and other decent work deficits. In the Occupied Palestinian Territory, and elsewhere in the region if other countries are drawn into the conflict, employment and economic losses are projected to increase if military operations in Gaza intensify and the humanitarian crisis in the enclave continues to unfold.

production to have fallen by 9 per cent in 2023, the highest reduction per annum in the past 15 years (Saba and Uppal 2023). Kuwait, Saudi Arabia and the United Arab Emirates have been able to offset oil production cutbacks with their growing retail and service sectors (IMF 2023c). However, studies have suggested that, to prevent GDP contracting, non-oil-sector growth needs to have averaged around 5 per cent in 2023 (Saba and Uppal 2023).

The outlook is clouded by economic headwinds in a context of rising geopolitical tensions. The Hamas attack on Israel and the latter's retaliation, in October 2023, have sparked uncertainty around, among other things, oil production in the Arab States. Within 48 hours of the initial attack, global oil prices experienced a short-term spike. This conflict is not expected to cause the same disruption in the oil industry as the Russia–Ukraine conflict initially did, because it is not occurring in an oil-producing nation (Hale 2023). However, the possibility that the conflict could spread to other countries in the region has increased the uncertainty of the outlook in the Arab States (see box 2.1).

Labour market trends in the Arab States

Limited growth of formal and productive job opportunities continues to be a major challenge for the region. In 2023, total hours worked in the Arab States are expected to have increased by 2.3 per cent; this is forecast to increase by another 2 per cent in 2024 (table 2.3). These growth rates are below employment growth - expected to be 3 per cent and 2.5 per cent in 2023 and 2024, respectively - as has been the case for the past decade. Mean hours per person employed are estimated to have been 38.4 hours per week in 2023, still below pre-pandemic levels (39.2 hours in 2019). Insufficient structural transformation and economic diversification - owing to weak macroeconomic, sectoral, industrial and investment policies - have caused years of deficient demand for labour, in which less than half of the total working-age population in the region have been employed (the employment-to-population ratio

Region/ subregion		veekly h son emp	ours wor oloyed	ked			Total weekly working hours in full-time equivalent jobs (FTE = 48 hours/week) (millions							
	2010	2019	2022	2023	2024		2010	2019	2022	2023	2024			
Arab States	43.0	39.2	38.6	38.4	38.2		37	43	44	45	46			
Non-GCC	40.6	33.5	31.7	31.4	31.1		18	16	17	17	18			
GCC	45.6	43.9	44.5	44.5	44.4		20	26	27	28	28			
	Employ (percer		-populat	ion ratio		Employ (millior								
	2010	2019	2022	2023	2024	2025	2010	2019	2022	2023	2024	2025		
Arab States	45.5	45.0	44.4	44.5	44.4	44.4	42	52	55	56	58	59		
Non-GCC	37.0	33.0	32.3	32.5	32.6	32.7	21	23	25	26	27	28		
GCC	59.2	64.0	65.4	65.7	65.6	65.6	21	29	30	30	31	31		
	Unemp (percen	loyment itages)	rate				Unemployment (millions)							
	2010	2019	2022	2023	2024	2025	2010	2019	2022	2023	2024	2025		
Arab States	7.2	9.3	10.0	9.9	9.8	9.7	3.2	5.4	6.1	6.2	6.3	6.4		
Non-GCC	10.1	15.3	16.1	16.1	16.0	15.8	2.4	4.2	4.9	5.1	5.2	5.3		
GCC	4.0	3.8	4.0	3.7	3.5	3.4	0.9	1.1	1.2	1.1	1.1	1.1		
	Labour (percer		rticipati	on rate			Labour (millior							
	2010	2019	2022	2023	2024	2025	2010	2019	2022	2023	2024	2025		
Arab States	49.0	49.6	49.4	49.4	49.3	49.1	45	58	61	63	64	66		
Non-GCC	41.2	38.9	38.5	38.8	38.8	38.9	23	28	30	31	32	34		
GCC	61.7	66.6	68.1	68.2	68.0	67.8	22	30	31	31	32	32		

Table 2.3. Estimates and projections of working hours, employment, unemployment and labour force, regional and subregional, Arab States, 2010–25

Source: ILOSTAT, ILO modelled estimates, November 2023.

is estimated to have been 44.5 per cent in 2023). The jobs created are often informal, especially in the non-oil-exporting countries in the region, and fail to provide decent working conditions, including social protection coverage and decent wages. Informal employment remains elevated: 51 per cent in 2023.

Skills mismatch and weak education, training and skills development systems also contribute to the high levels of unemployment in the region. The skills supplied by the education and training institutions are failing to respond to the current and future needs of the private sector, including with regard to soft and digital and green skills, among others. As a result, unemployment was elevated in 2023 to 9.9 per cent in the Arab States as a whole and a particularly high 16.1 per cent in non-GCC countries. Persistent high levels of unemployment, among youth in particular, are driven by growth of the working-age population, combined with limited job opportunities and a disconnect between supply of and demand for skills (see Chapter 3 for more on the population impacts).

Gender gaps in unemployment and labour market participation remain significant. Although the gender gaps in labour market outcomes in the Arab States have improved modestly in recent years, they remain elevated among both youth and adults. In 2023, the unemployment rate



Figure 2.3. Gender disparities in labour market outcomes in the Arab States, 2023

in the Arab States was nearly 9 percentage points higher among adult women than among men (figure 2.3(a)). This is much larger than the average global gap, of approximately 0.4 percentage points. The gender gap of unemployment in the Arab States was 14.2 percentage points for the youth population (compared with the global average gap of 0.6 percentage points). Gender gaps are similarly present in labour force participation (figure 2.3(b)). The Arab States have labour force participation gender gaps of 33 and 61 percentage points for the youth and adult populations, respectively. The global gender gap is less than half of that of the Arab States for both age groups.

A range of factors are driving gender disparities in the region. Gender gaps and inequalities in the region persist in both the GCC and non-GCC states, driven by cultural norms, unbalanced household responsibilities, an underdeveloped care economy, lack of safe public transportation, discrimination in the workplace and an absence of family-friendly policies, among other things (ILO 2023d; UNDP 2023). Efforts to address these challenges and promote the growth of jobs in high-productivity and high-value-added sectors are ongoing and, with the right labour market and social policies as a complement, will help to promote higher female employment and labour force participation in the region.

Labour market implications of forced displacements

A major challenge faced by several non-GCC states is forced displacement, encompassing both refugees and asylum seekers as well as internally displaced persons. Over the past decade, the region has experienced a significant influx of displaced individuals, owing to conflicts, persecution and instability in several countries. An increase in displacement followed the Arab Spring uprisings, in which major political shifts led to civil wars that contributed to the 2.9 million new internal displacements a year in the Middle East and North Africa region (IDMC 2020). Natural disasters, meanwhile, contributed 1.5 million displacements in the Middle East and North Africa region between 2010 and 2020 (IDMC 2020). These displacements are likely to be exacerbated by climate-change-induced events. Finally, the recent escalation of conflict in Israel is likely to contribute to further displacements in the region.

Migrants face challenges in accessing the labour market, which exacerbate existing vulnerabilities. Many refugees, asylum seekers and internally displaced persons living in camps or camplike settings were disproportionately impacted upon by the COVID-19 pandemic, including through exclusion from government policies focused primarily on the national population; this further exacerbated their already vulnerable situations (ILO 2020b). Refugees and asylum seekers may also face limitations on their movements, which impact on their ability even to work in self-employment (ILO 2020b). Refugees and internally displaced persons who manage to enter the labour market often experience poor working conditions as a result of legal barriers (lack of legal rights and difficulty in obtaining work permits), lack of skills (and recognition of skills) or language barriers.

The displacements of recent years have contributed to complex dynamics in labour markets. The presence of displaced populations can have various impacts on job opportunities and resources, particularly in low-skilled and informal employment in host communities (ILO 2013). Research has shown that refugees and internally displaced persons often work in the informal economy, for longer hours of work and lower wages and with limited or no social protection coverage. A recent study found that Syrian and Palestinian refugees in Lebanon were found to have an informal employment rate of, respectively, 95 per cent and 94 per cent (ILO 2021d). Many refugees and internally displaced persons may lack the necessary skills and qualifications to access higher-paying jobs. Limited access to education and skills training programmes can perpetuate their vulnerability in the labour market.

Asia and the Pacific

In Asia and the Pacific, GDP is estimated to have grown by 4.3 per cent in 2023 (IMF 2023b). Reopenings of the economy from COVID-19 restrictions, including the removal of lockdown measures in China, contributed to stronger growth in 2023 (compared with 3.9 per cent in 2022). In China the removal of these constraints resulted in increased domestic spending as households spent accumulated savings (World Bank 2023a). Meanwhile, tourism to the region from high income economies has rebounded, surpassing pre-pandemic levels in 2022 (ADB 2023). However, some countries in the Pacific, such as the Solomon Islands, are unable to tap into the tourism recovery, owing to an exodus of skilled labour that took place following the closure of tourism-related businesses during the pandemic (ADB 2023). Although inflation has affected the region, price controls, subsidies and interest rate hikes have been lower than in other emerging and developing regions, with certain exceptions such as some countries in South Asia (World Bank 2023a). Improved economic circumstances have facilitated the phasing out of pandemic- and costof-living-related support measures, allowing the stabilizing of fiscal positions (ADB 2023). As many of these dynamics settle, growth is expected to continue at around 4.1 per cent in 2024.

South Asia is expected to have had the highest growth rate in the region in 2023, 5 per cent, compared with 4.2 per cent in East Asia and 3.8 per cent in South-East Asia and the Pacific (IMF 2023b). Although many countries in Asia and the Pacific were able to avoid the accelerating inflation seen in other regions, a number of South Asian countries - including Bangladesh, India and Pakistan - have implemented import suppression measures and face energy shortages, both of which have been affecting industrial output. These countries also have limited fiscal room to provide stimulus or respond to exogenous shocks in the future, should that be required (World Bank 2023b; ILO 2023e and 2022b). Moreover, some countries, such as Sri Lanka and Pakistan, have been struck by financial crises (World Bank 2023b). Nevertheless, India has buoyed growth for the South Asia subregion, thanks in part to high investment growth (World Bank 2023a). In South-East Asia, Indonesia, too, is expected to have exhibited relatively strong growth through 2023, which is projected to continue into 2024, as a result of high commodity prices bolstering export earnings (UNCTAD 2023).

Labour market trends in Asia and the Pacific

In 2023, labour force participation trends returned to a pre-pandemic downward trend for Asia and the Pacific. The labour force participation rate, which had been decreasing over the past two decades (from 66.4 per cent in 2000 to 60.2 per cent in 2019), is decreasing again following a turbulent period between 2019 and 2023 owing to the impact of the pandemic (table 2.4). The labour force participation rate in

Table 2.4. Estimates and projections of working hours, employment, unemployment and labour force, regional and subregional, Asia and the Pacific, 2010–25

Region/subregion		Mean weekly hours worked per person employed						veekly w lent jobs				nillions)	
	2010	2019	2022	2023	2024		2010	2019	2022	2023	2024		
Asia and the Pacific	46.7	45.3	44.1	43.9	43.8		1,700	1,784	1,793	1,828	1,832		
East Asia	46.3	44.6	44.1	44.0	43.9		831	813	806	803	802		
South-East Asia	42.6	40.6	39.9	39.9	39.9		253	275	274	279	282		
South Asia	49.5	48.7	46.3	45.8	45.8		605	682	698	730	733		
The Pacific	35.0	34.5	34.4	34.4	34.4		12	14	15	15	15		
		/ment-to ntages)	o-popula	ition rati	o	Employ (millio	yment ns)						
	2010	2019	2022	2023	2024	2025	2010	2019	2022	2023	2024	2025	
Asia and the Pacific	59.5	57.4	57.4	58.2	57.8	57.7	1,749	1,892	1,952	1,999	2,007	2,025	
East Asia	66.3	63.9	63.3	62.9	62.6	62.4	861	875	878	877	877	878	
South-East Asia	65.4	65.6	64.2	64.5	64.5	64.3	284	325	330	336	340	343	
South Asia	49.7	48.0	49.3	51.4	50.9	51.0	586	672	723	765	769	783	
The Pacific	59.7	60.0	60.8	60.9	60.6	60.4	17	20	21	21	21	22	
		oloymen ntages)	t rate				Unemployment (millions)						
	2010	2019	2022	2023	2024	2025	2010	2019	2022	2023	2024	2025	
Asia and the Pacific	5.3	4.7	4.5	4.5	4.5	4.5	97.5	94.3	92.2	93.3	93.7	94.9	
East Asia	4.5	4.3	4.7	4.7	4.7	4.7	40.8	39.5	43.1	42.9	43.0	43.1	
South-East Asia	3.3	2.4	2.6	2.5	2.5	2.4	9.6	8.0	8.7	8.6	8.6	8.6	
South Asia	7.3	6.4	5.2	5.1	5.1	5.1	46.2	45.8	39.6	41.0	41.4	42.3	
The Pacific	5.0	4.7	3.6	3.6	3.7	3.8	0.9	1.0	0.8	0.8	0.8	0.9	
		force p ntages)	articipat	ion rate			Labour force (millions)						
	2010	2019	2022	2023	2024	2025	2010	2019	2022	2023	2024	2025	
Asia and the Pacific	62.8	60.2	60.1	60.9	60.5	60.4	1,846	1,986	2,044	2,092	2,100	2,120	
East Asia	69.5	66.8	66.4	66.0	65.7	65.5	902	914	921	920	920	921	
South-East Asia	67.7	67.2	65.9	66.2	66.1	65.9	294	333	339	344	348	351	
South Asia	53.6	51.3	52.0	54.2	53.6	53.8	632	718	762	806	810	826	
The Pacific	62.8	62.9	63.0	63.2	62.9	62.8	17	21	22	22	22	23	

Source: ILOSTAT, ILO modelled estimates, November 2023.

2023 is estimated to have been 60.9 per cent; it is expected to decrease in 2024 and 2025 (to 60.5 per cent and 60.4 per cent, respectively). This modest long-term decline has largely been driven by socio-economic developments in the low- and middle-income economies of the region as poverty rates have decreased and youth educational enrolment has improved. At the same time, women's labour force participation rates have been increasing because of women's improved access to the labour market, particularly in South Asia, where the women's labour force participation rate (30.8 per cent) was 45.9 percentage points lower than the men's (76.7 per cent) in 2023, compared with a gap of 51.2 percentage points in 2010.

Employment growth in the region has picked up, driven by job growth in South Asia. The employment growth of 2.4 per cent between 2022 and 2023 is significantly greater than the pre-pandemic long-term average of 0.9 per cent per annum (2010–19). This corresponds to an employment-to-population ratio of 58.2 per cent in 2023, almost the same as the long-term pre-pandemic average (2010–19), suggesting that employment growth is keeping pace with population growth. Mean weekly hours per person employed, 44 hours per week in 2023, have remained lower than the long-term pre-pandemic average of around 46 hours per week (2010-19). This may have been driven by developments in East Asia, where total hours worked in the economy have been decreasing since the onset of the pandemic - owing to weak economic growth in China - as well as over the long term (by 0.2 per cent per annum between 2010 and 2019).

At around 4.5 per cent, the regional unemployment rate fell below pre-pandemic levels in 2023, but this figure conceals heterogeneity across countries and age groups. The unemployment rate is expected to remain constant over the next two years and significantly lower than the spike in 2020 of 5.5 per cent. It is also lower than the pre-pandemic level – 4.7 per cent in 2019 – and the long-term average between 2010 and 2019 of 5.1 per cent. East Asia's unemployment rate in 2023 was higher than in 2019, 4.7 per cent compared with 4.3 per cent, respectively; the rates in the other subregions were all lower or only marginally higher in 2023 than in 2019. Youth unemployment continues to be a significant challenge for the region. The youth unemployment rate in 2023 is estimated to have

been around 14.4 per cent, on average, in Asia and the Pacific, marking a steady increase from 12 per cent in 2010 and less than 10 per cent in 2000. Particularly high youth unemployment rates in China – reported to have been 20.4 per cent in April 2023 in urban areas – have driven the overall rate for East Asia (ILO 2023f).

Youth continue to encounter decent work deficits, which exacerbate this age group's pre-existing vulnerabilities. Alongside the elevated and increasing unemployment rate in the region, informal employment affects more than eight out of ten young workers in the region, and one in four young workers live in households subsisting below the moderate poverty threshold of US\$3.65 per day in PPP terms (ILO and ADB 2020). At the same time, more than 144 million youth in the region are NEET, the majority of whom are women; the NEET rates of young women are especially high in South Asia. There was a lack of youth-targeted approaches in Asia and the Pacific during the pandemic; the one-size-fits-all approaches that were generally used failed to give specific attention to vulnerable groups such as youth (ILO 2023g).

Informality and new forms of work in Asia and the Pacific

In Asia and the Pacific, nearly two thirds of total employment was informal employment in 2023. This rate has decreased from 72.7 per cent two decades earlier, in 2004, but in 2023, at 66 per cent, it still accounted for 1.3 billion people in the region. The informal employment rate varies considerably within the region, being highest in South Asia (87 per cent in 2023), followed by South-East Asia (70 per cent) and then East Asia (47 per cent) and the Pacific (35 per cent) (figure 2.4).

Informality affects countries in this region at varying degrees of economic development, and new forms of work continue to bring challenges on this front even in countries that have made substantial progress. Low- and middle-income countries continue to have elevated levels of informal employment. For instance, Nepal's informal employment rate was around 82 per cent in 2017 and Pakistan's around 84 per cent in 2021 (ILO 2023h). Although many high-income economies (Australia, Japan, Republic of Korea, New Zealand) have fared relatively better, seeing sustained



Figure 2.4. Informal employment rates, Asia and the Pacific and subregions, 2004–23 (percentages)

reductions in informal employment, new forms of work, including jobs in the platform economy, present new and different challenges to tackling informality (ILO, forthcoming).

New forms of work arrangements offer a number of opportunities, but they also expose legal and policy gaps, thereby presenting new challenges to reducing informality. The growth of non-standard forms of work, including the gig and platform economy, has been driven by new technologies.⁴ Although these new forms of work present a range of opportunities, including flexible work arrangements, and benefits to both businesses and workers, several downsides prevail, including lack of job security, irregular and low incomes, and limited access to social protection schemes. Moreover, many of these new forms of work are outside the scope and coverage of employment laws and regulations (ASEAN Secretariat 2023). The Republic of Korea is one country that has been introducing policy changes to address the informality emerging from new forms of work – for example with a National Employment Insurance Roadmap to cover all workers, including non-regular and gig workers, as well as legislation to help specify accountability for labour platform operators (ILO, forthcoming).

^{4 &}quot;Non-standard employment", as defined by the ILO, comprises four different types of wage employment that deviate from the standard employment relationship. These include temporary employment (casual work and fixed-term contracts), part-time work and on-call work arrangements, triangular employment relationships (temporary agency work and other forms of labour brokering or labour dispatch) and disguised employment or dependent self-employment relationships (where workers are legally classified as self-employed but someone else directs their work) (ILO 2016).

Europe and Central Asia

Europe and Central Asia's GDP growth is expected to increase in the next two years, following a slowdown in growth in 2022 and 2023. Economic growth in Europe and Central Asia continued to decline in 2023, falling to 1.4 per cent from 6.4 per cent and 2.6 per cent in 2021 and 2022, respectively (IMF 2023b). However, projections show that economic growth is expected to turn around in 2024, in part because of anticipated improvements in Poland, the Russian Federation and Türkiye (World Bank 2023c). The European Union is expected to experience subdued growth in the medium term as a result of inflationary pressure, and high interest rates in the eurozone, impacting on household consumption and investment (EIU 2023).

Eastern Europe's economic growth has struggled the most within the region, largely in consequence of the Russian Federation's invasion of Ukraine. Eastern Europe's GDP contracted by 1.5 per cent in 2022, but quickly recovered to a growth rate of 1.7 per cent in 2023 (IMF 2023b). The Russian Federation's increased military expenditure and strong consumer demand from Türkiye have both contributed to Eastern Europe's expanding economy (World Bank 2023c). Meanwhile, Northern, Southern and Western Europe has experienced strong economic growth for two consecutive years. After growth of 0.7 per cent in 2023, projections show that GDP growth is expected to increase to around 1.2 per cent in 2024.

Economic growth has remained strong in Central Asia despite political tensions. Central Asian countries have improved their trading relationship with the Russian Federation, filling a demand caused by international firms withdrawing from the Russian Federation market (Usov 2023). Many Russian firms and individuals have been forced to relocate by the conflict between the Russian Federation and Ukraine; this has resulted in increased demand for retail, real estate, and hospitality services in Central Asia. Russia's increased demand for migrant labour has also supported Central Asia's GDP through labour remittances.

Labour market trends in Europe and Central Asia

The settling of headline indicators suggests that the labour market in Europe and Central Asia has stabilized. In the region as a whole, employment is continuing to expand in line with growth in the working-age population (corresponding to a stable employment-to-population ratio of around 55 per cent) (table 2.5). The unemployment rate decreased to 5.7 per cent in 2023, from a recent high of 7 per cent in 2020. The labour force participation rate is also at around the same level as in pre-pandemic and long-term trends, around 58.5 per cent (compared with 58.3 per cent on average between 2010 and 2019). These trends are consistent with findings from other monitors, particularly of the European labour market, such as the European Labour Market Barometer, whose recent measures suggest stability in key indicators (IAB 2023).

Heterogeneity prevails in the region; the different trends in Eastern Europe reflect the regional impact of the Russian invasion of Ukraine. Employment is growing in all subregions except Eastern Europe, whose total employment has followed a downward trend since 2022. This trend is expected to continue well into 2025. There have been a range of labour market disruptions in Ukraine, resulting from economic disruption, business closures, population exodus and internal displacement, which have all contributed to decreases in total employment, job quality and job creation and an increase in informality (ILO 2022c and 2022d). Total hours worked have also been decreasing in Eastern Europe since 2021. Finally, the unemployment rate has been falling in Eastern Europe, partly because of the shrinking size of the labour force - the denominator of the unemployment rate. This shrinking of the labour force has been driven by population ageing and outward migration flows, and points to a starker picture than is otherwise conveyed by falling unemployment rates.

Table 2.5. Estimates and projections of working hours, employment, unemployment and labour force, regional and subregional, Europe and Central Asia, 2010–25

Region/ subregion	Mean weekly hours worked per person employed							Total weekly working hours in full-time equivalent jobs (FTE = 48 hours/week) (millions)						
	2010	2019	2022	2023	2024		2010	2019	2022	2023	2024			
Europe and Central Asia	25.8	23.8	25.1	25.4	25.4		327	301	317	320	320			
Northern, Southern and Western Europe	26.1	23.9	25.3	26.2	26.0		158	145	153	158	156			
Eastern Europe	26.9	25.5	26.3	25.1	25.5		110	103	106	100	101			
Central and Western Asia	23.5	20.8	22.6	24.0	23.9		59	53	58	62	63			

	Employment-to-population ratio (percentages)							Employment (millions)						
	2010	2019	2022	2023	2024	2025	2010	2019	2022	2023	2024	2025		
Europe and Central Asia	52.7	54.7	55.0	55.1	54.9	54.6	389	417	421	423	422	422		
Northern, Southern and Western Europe	52.0	54.4	54.8	55.1	54.9	54.8	193	208	211	213	212	212		
Eastern Europe	54.7	56.9	56.9	56.6	56.1	55.7	137	139	137	136	135	134		
Central and Western Asia	50.5	51.7	52.5	52.9	52.7	52.5	59	70	73	74	75	76		

								Unemployment (millions)						
	2010	2019	2022	2023	2024	2025	2010	2019	2022	2023	2024	2025		
Europe and Central Asia	9.0	6.6	5.9	5.7	5.8	5.7	38.4	29.3	26.5	25.4	25.8	25.7		
Northern, Southern and Western Europe	9.9	6.9	6.3	6.2	6.3	6.3	21.2	15.5	14.2	14.0	14.3	14.3		
Eastern Europe	7.9	4.7	4.4	4.0	4.0	4.0	11.8	6.8	6.4	5.7	5.7	5.5		
Central and Western Asia	8.3	9.0	7.5	7.1	7.2	7.3	5.4	6.9	5.9	5.7	5.8	5.9		

	Labour force participation rate (percentages)							Labour force (millions)						
	2010	2019	2022	2023	2024	2025	2010	2019	2022	2023	2024	2025		
Europe and Central Asia	57.8	58.6	58.5	58.5	58.2	58.0	428	446	448	448	448	448		
Northern, Southern and Western Europe	57.7	58.5	58.5	58.7	58.6	58.5	214	224	225	227	227	227		
Eastern Europe	59.4	59.7	59.5	58.9	58.4	58.0	149	146	144	142	140	139		
Central and Western Asia	55.1	56.8	56.8	56.9	56.8	56.6	65	77	79	80	81	82		

Source: ILOSTAT, ILO modelled estimates, November 2022.

Improving headline indicators in Central and Western Asia may be slowed in the long term by economic uncertainty. Central and Western Asia's employment-to-population ratio, 52.9 per cent, is higher than the long-term pre-pandemic average of around 51.7 per cent. The unemployment rate continues to decline; it reached 7.1 per cent in 2023, considerably lower than the 9 per cent in 2019 and the long-term pre-pandemic (2010–19) average of 7.9 per cent. Despite this, there are ongoing challenges in the subregion, particularly with regard to the quality of work. Informality remained elevated at 36.4 per cent in Central and Western Asia in 2023, compared with 9 per cent in Northern, Southern and Western Europe and 19.5 per cent in Eastern Europe. This figure is a marked improvement from the 46.5 per cent in Central and Western Asia in 2010, but still accounts for 27 million people. There are risks to the subregion's outlook, including from the war in Ukraine and from climate change, which may impact on long-term growth and have knock-on effects on the labour market (Gigineishvili et al. 2023).

Mixed pictures of youth unemployment in Europe

Roughly half of European countries witnessed declines in youth unemployment in the 12 months up to June 2023. Throughout 2023, the labour market situation of youth in Europe steadily improved. In June 2023, the youth unemployment rate in the European Union stood at just over 14 per cent, a fall of 0.3 percentage points from the same time the year before. Improvements between June 2022 and June 2023 were mixed: approximately half of the Member States saw declines whereas the others saw increases (Eurostat 2023a). Part of the reduction also owed to labour shortages observed in a number of countries from 2020 to 2023, which resulted in increased employment among young people (ILO 2023f). The different economic cycles and recoveries observed among countries in the European Union corresponded to different changes in the labour market.

Among the changes that took place in the European Union, some of the largest declines in the youth unemployment rate over the past few years have been in Southern Europe (Eurostat 2023b). Between June 2022 and June 2023, youth unemployment fell most markedly in Greece, where the rate of unemployed youth declined by more than 8 percentage points. There were strong reductions in other Southern European countries too: in Cyprus by 2.1 percentage points, in Italy by 1.2 percentage points, in Portugal by 0.8 percentage points and in Spain by 1.8 percentage points. Despite these gains, youth unemployment remains elevated in many of these countries, at rates of more than 20 per cent in Italy, Greece and Spain. In European Union countries, part of the improvement in youth unemployment has owed to the reinforced European Youth Guarantee, which acted as an automatic stabilizer supporting youth employment during the COVID-19 pandemic (Rinne et al. 2022). In Spain the introduction of fijos discontinuos ("fixed-discontinuous") contracts, whereby a worker can work sparingly and be counted as employed but also receive unemployment benefits, may have contributed to the reductions in youth unemployment (elEconomista.es 2023). The extent of the decreases may also reflect a renormalization after the exceptionally high unemployment rates reached during the eurozone crisis of 2009-10, particularly in Southern European countries.

Trends in the rest of the European Union point to an increase in youth unemployment. In contrast, the recent trends in youth unemployment in the rest of Europe point largely to increases over the same period. The largest increases have taken place in Czechia (6.3 percentage points) and Sweden (5.1 percentage points). Sweden now has the second-highest youth unemployment rate in Europe (nearly 25 per cent in June 2023). There were also increases, albeit modest in comparison, in Bulgaria, Croatia, Luxembourg, Germany, Hungary, Malta, the Netherlands, Slovakia, Poland and Finland.

Youth unemployment rates are well below their peak levels. Despite the mixed evidence regarding recent trends in youth unemployment, all European Union countries have seen considerable progress in this measure since their peak levels in the period since 2000 (figure 2.5). Although most of the countries still have some progress to make to attain previous lows, in nearly all of them the figures for youth unemployment are closer to the low than to the high. The exceptions are Sweden, Czechia and Luxembourg. The situation in these countries may reflect the lasting and ongoing impact of the pandemic on young people, who were disproportionately affected by its consequences.



Figure 2.5. Prevailing youth unemployment rates, compared with highs and lows between 2003 and 2023, European Union (percentages)

References

ADB (Asian Development Bank). 2023. Asian Development Outlook: September 2023.

AfDB (African Development Bank). 2023a. African Economic Outlook 2023: Mobilising Private Sector Financing for Climate and Green Growth in Africa.

▶ ———. 2023b. North Africa Economic Outlook 2023: Mobilising Private Sector Financing for Climate and Green Growth in Africa. https://www.afdb.org/en/documents/north-africa-economic-outlook-2023.

African Union Commission, ILO, IOM (International Organization for Migration), and UNECA (United Nations Economic Commission for Africa). 2021. *Report on Labour Migration Statistics in Africa, Third Edition*. <u>https://www.ilo.org/africa/information-resources/publications/WCMS_828865/</u> lang--en/index.htm.

ASEAN (Association of Southeast Asian Nations) Secretariat. 2023. ASEAN Employment Outlook – The Quest for Decent Work in Platform Economy: Issues, Opportunities and Ways Forward. <u>https://</u> asean.org/book/asean-employment-outlook-the-quest-for-decent-work-in-platform-economyissues-opportunities-and-ways-forward/.

COMESA (Common Market for Eastern and Southern Africa). 2022. Report on Labour Migration Statistics in the Common Market for Eastern and Southern Africa. <u>https://learning.sammproject.org/wp-</u>content/uploads/download-manager-files/English-COMESA-Report-on-Labour-Statistics-Draft-04.pdf.

2023. "Programme Activities: Immigration and Free Movement of Persons". <u>https://www.</u>comesa.int/programme-activities-immigration-and-free-movement-of-persons/.

ECLAC (Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean). 2023. Economic Survey of Latin America and the Caribbean 2023. Financing a Sustainable Transition: Investment for Growth and Climate Change Action. <u>https://www.cepal.org/en/publications/67990-economic-survey-latin-</u> america-and-caribbean-2023-financing-sustainable-transition.

EIU (Economist Intelligence Unit). 2023. "Regional Summaries: Europe (October 2023)".

elEconomista.es. 2023. "Bruselas Destaca la Bajada del Paro en España Pero Recuerda que los Fijos Discontinuos Inactivos Pueden Considerarse Desempleados". 10 September 2023. https://www.eleconomista.es/economia/noticias/12438364/09/23/bruselas-destaca-la-bajadadel-paro-en-espana-pero-recuerda-que-los-fijos-discontinuos-inactivos-pueden-considerarsedesempleados.html.

► Eurostat. 2023a. "Youth Unemployment Rates in EU Metropolitan Regions". 13 February 2023. https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/web/products-eurostat-news/w/ddn-20230213-1.

——. 2023b. "Database". https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/data/database.

Gigineishvili, Nikoloz, Iulia Ruxandra Teodoru, Narek Karapetyan, Yulia Ustyugova, Jean van Houtte, Jiri Jonas, Wei Shi, Shant Arzoumanian, Kalin I. Tintchev, Maxwell Tuuli, et al. 2023. "Paving the Way to More Resilient, Inclusive, and Greener Economies in the Caucasus and Central Asia", IMF Departmental Paper 2023/004.

► Hale, Erin. 2023. "Will Global Oil Prices Keep Rising Due to the Israel-Hamas War?" AlJazeera, 10 October 2023. <u>https://www.aljazeera.com/economy/2023/10/10/will-global-oil-prices-keep-rising-due-to-the-israel-hamas-war</u>.

Henson, Bob, and Jeff Masters. 2023. "The Libya Floods: A Climate and Infrastructure Catastrophe". Yale Climate Connections, 13 September 2023. <u>https://yaleclimateconnections.</u> org/2023/09/the-libya-floods-a-climate-and-infrastructure-catastrophe/. ► IAB (Institute for Employment Research). 2023. "European Labour Market Barometer". <u>https://</u>iab.de/en/daten/european-labour-market-barometer/.

▶ IDMC (Internal Displacement Monitoring Centre). 2020. A Decade of Displacement in the Middle East and North Africa. https://story.internal-displacement.org/mena-2021/index.html.

ILO. 2013. Assessment of the Impact of Syrian Refugees in Lebanon and Their Employment Profile. https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---arabstates/---ro-beirut/documents/publication/ wcms_240134.pdf.

2016. Non-Standard Employment around the World: Understanding Challenges, Shaping Prospects. <u>https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---dgreports/---dcomm/---publ/documents/</u> publication/wcms_534326.pdf.

2020a. Women Migrant Workers' Labour Market Situation in West Africa. <u>https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed_protect/---protrav/---migrant/documents/publication/</u>wcms_751538.pdf.

——. 2020b. "COVID-19: Labour Market Impact and Policy Response in the Arab States", Briefing Note, May 2020. <u>https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---arabstates/---ro-beirut/</u> documents/briefingnote/wcms_744832.pdf.

2021a. ILO Global Estimates on Migrant Workers: Results and Methodology – Third Edition. <u>https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---dgreports/---dcomm/---publ/documents/</u> publication/wcms_808935.pdf.

-----. 2021b. World Employment and Social Outlook: Trends 2021. <u>https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/</u>groups/public/---dgreports/---dcomm/---publ/documents/publication/wcms_795453.pdf.

——. 2021c. Empleo Informal en la Economía Rural de América Latina 2012–2019: Un Panorama y Tendencias Regionales Pre-Pandemia COVID-19. <u>https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---</u>americas/---ro-lima/documents/publication/wcms_795313.pdf.

——. 2021d. Assessing Informality and Vulnerability among Disadvantaged Groups in Lebanon: A Survey of Lebanese, and Syrian and Palestinian Refugees. <u>https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/</u> public/---arabstates/---ro-beirut/documents/publication/wcms_816649.pdf.

2022a. The Future of Work in the Tourism Sector: Sustainable and Safe Recovery and Decent Work in the Context of the COVID-19 Pandemic. <u>https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed_</u> dialogue/---sector/documents/meetingdocument/wcms_840403.pdf.

2022b. The Labour Market Implications of Sri Lanka's Multiple Crises. <u>https://www.ilo.</u> org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---asia/---ro-bangkok/---ilo-colombo/documents/publication/ wcms_856157.pdf.

 ——. 2022c. "What Is the Impact of the War against Ukraine on the Labour Market?" 19 September 2022. <u>https://www.ilo.org/budapest/whats-new/essential-questions/</u> WCMS_856454/lang--en/index.htm.

——. 2022d. "The Impact of the Ukraine Crisis on the World of Work: Initial Assessments", ILO Briefing Note, 11 May 2022. <u>https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---europe/---ro-geneva/</u> documents/briefingnote/wcms_844295.pdf.

▶ ------. 2023a. 2022 Labour Overview of Latin America and the Caribbean. <u>https://www.ilo.org/</u> wcmsp5/groups/public/---americas/---ro-lima/documents/publication/wcms_876565.pdf.

-----. 2023b. World Employment and Social Outlook: Trends 2023. <u>https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/</u>groups/public/---dgreports/---inst/documents/publication/wcms_865332.pdf.

2023c. "Impact of the Israel-Hamas Conflict on the Labour Market and Livelihoods in the Occupied Palestinian Territory", ILO Briefing Note, November 2023. <u>https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/</u> groups/public/---arabstates/---ro-beirut/documents/publication/wcms_901136.pdf.

2023d. "Gender Equality in the Arab States". <u>https://www.ilo.org/beirut/areasofwork/</u> equality-discrimination/WCMS_712089/lang--en/index.htm#banner.

2023e. "Pakistan: Employment Outlook in a Setting of Austerity", ILO Briefing Note, September 2023. <u>https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---asia/---ro-bangkok/---ilo-</u> islamabad/documents/briefingnote/wcms_893724.pdf.

2023f. "Has Youth Employment Recovered?" ILO Briefing Note, June 2023. <u>https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed_emp/documents/publication/wcms_885192.pdf.</u>

2023g. Youth Not in Employment, Education or Training in Asia and the Pacific: Trends and Policy Considerations. <u>https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---asia/---ro-bangkok/</u> documents/publication/wcms_860568.pdf.

-----. 2023h. "ILOSTAT: Microdata Repository". <u>https://ilostat.ilo.org/data/#</u>.

ILO Policy Brief.

▶ ILO and ADB. 2020. *Tackling the COVID-19 Youth Employment Crisis in Asia and the Pacific*. https://www.ilo.org/asia/publications/WCMS_753369/lang--en/index.htm.

▶ IMF (International Monetary Fund). 2023a. *Regional Economic Outlook: Sub-Saharan Africa – The Big Funding Squeeze*. <u>https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/REO/SSA/Issues/2023/04/14/regional-</u>economic-outlook-for-sub-saharan-africa-april-2023.

——. 2023b. World Economic Outlook: Navigating Global Divergences. <u>https://www.imf.org/en/</u> Publications/WEO/Issues/2023/10/10/world-economic-outlook-october-2023.

2023c. Regional Economic Outlook: Middle East and Central Asia. <u>https://www.imf.org/en/</u> Publications/REO/MECA/Issues/2023/04/13/regional-economic-outlook-mcd-april-2023.

Lawler, Alex. 2023. "Explainer: What New OPEC+ Oil Output Cuts Are in Place after Thursday Deal". *Reuters*, 5 December 2023. <u>https://www.reuters.com/markets/commodities/what-new-opec-</u>oil-output-cuts-are-place-after-thursday-deal-2023-12-04/.

Lawler, A., and R. Edwards. 2023. "What Oil Production Cuts Were Agreed at OPEC+ Meeting?" *Reuters*, 5 June 2023. <u>https://www.reuters.com/business/energy/how-opec-deal-cuts-oil-supply-until-end-2024-2023-06-05/.</u>

▶ Lundh, E. 2023. "The Conference Board Economic Forecast for the US Economy". *Conference Board*. <u>https://www.conference-board.org/research/us-forecast</u>.

Migration Data Portal. 2022. "Mixed Migration". 21 February 2022. <u>https://www.migrationdataportal.</u>org/themes/mixed-migration#:~:text=Definition,seeking%20better%20lives%20and%20opportunities.

Moosapeta, Asheesh. 2023. "Low Unemployment and High Participation Rate Indicate Persistent Job Vacancies in Canada". CIC News, 14 October 2023. <u>https://www.cicnews.</u> com/2023/10/low-unemployment-and-high-participation-rate-indicate-persistent-job-vacancies-incanada-1040208.html#gs.14y12g.

OECD (Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development) and ILO. 2018a. How Immigrants Contribute to Ghana's Economy. <u>https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/content/</u> publication/9789264302037-en.

2018b. How Immigrants Contribute to South Africa's Economy. <u>https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/content/publication/9789264085398-en</u>.

▶ Rinne, Ulf, Werner Eichhorst, Paul Marx, and Johannes Brunner. 2022. *Promoting Youth Employment during COVID-19: A Review of Policy Responses*. ILO. <u>https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/</u> groups/public/---ed_emp/documents/publication/wcms_849466.pdf.

Saba, Yousef, and Rachna Uppal. 2023. "Oil Cut Extension Raises Risk of Saudi Economic Contraction This Year". *Reuters*, 10 September 2023. <u>https://www.reuters.com/world/middle-east/</u> oil-cut-extension-raises-risk-saudi-economic-contraction-this-year-2023-09-08/.

SAMM (Southern Africa Migration Management). 2021a. "Southern African Development Community: SADC Adopts New Labour Migration Action Plan to Promote Skills Transfer and Match Labour Supply and Demand for Regional Integration". 11 January 2021. <u>https://learning.sammproject.</u> org/news/southern-african-development-community-sadc-adopts-new-labour-migration-action-planto-promote-skills-transfer-and-match-labour-supply-and-demand-for-regional-integration/.

2021b. "Gender-Sensitive Labour Migration Policies and/or Strategies Regulating Labour Migration at National and/or Regional Level". <u>https://live-sammproject.pantheonsite.io/about-us/</u> labour-migration/labour-thematic-area-1/.

▶ UNCTAD (United Nations Conference on Trade and Development). 2023. *Trade and Development Report 2023. Growth, Debt, and Climate: Realigning the Global Financial Architecture*. <u>https://unctad.</u>org/system/files/official-document/tdr2023_en.pdf.

▶ UNDP (United Nations Development Programme). 2023. "Gender Justice & the Law in the Arab Region". https://www.undp.org/arab-states/gender-justice-law-arab-region.

UNECA. n.d. "SADC – Free Movement of Persons". <u>https://archive.uneca.org/pages/sadc-free-movement-persons</u>.

Usov, Anton. 2023. "Central Asia Remains Resilient to Geopolitical Headwinds". European Bank for Reconstruction and Development, 16 May 2023. <u>https://www.ebrd.com/news/2023/central-asia-remains-resilient-to-geopolitical-headwinds.html.</u>

▶ World Bank. 2022. *G5 Sahel Region Country Climate and Development Report*. https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/37620.

2023a. Global Economic Prospects, June 2023. <u>https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/</u>entities/publication/9107b029-a130-4364-a840-044e72e1001a.

> — . 2023b. Expanding Opportunities: Toward Inclusive Growth.

2023c. Europe and Central Asia Economic Update, Fall 2023: Sluggish Growth, Rising Risk. <u>https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/entities/publication/8ae7bcc5-2cac-48bd-b263-</u> e211418e2972.



Labour shortages amidst unmet demand for decent work

Overview

Growing imbalances between the demand for and supply of labour have been a puzzle for economic observers and policymakers in recent years. Despite large job market disruptions from the pandemic, labour demand outstripped available supply early in the recovery in advanced economies and key sectors. Although 2023 brought some relief, many vacancies remain unfilled as employers struggle to find personnel. Labour imbalances have been slow to resolve and now threaten to impede a fast, equitable and sustainable economic recovery. They have also created spillover effects in emerging and developing countries that have abundant labour supply but are affected by the "higher for longer" interest rate posture adopted by many advanced countries in response to their labour market imbalances. Over the longer term, imbalances between labour-rich countries and those with shrinking labour forces are likely to contribute to increased international migration flows. If not addressed by comprehensive skills partnerships that benefit both source and destination countries, this situation could worsen skills shortages in sending countries.

At the same time, fears of a sustained reduction in labour force participation following the pandemic have proved to be unfounded, since workers have generally returned to work in most regions and country income groups. In 2023, unemployment rates fell below pre-pandemic levels in all country groups except low-income countries as global employment growth continued to be positive (see Chapter 1). On the other hand, total hours worked have not increased at the same rate as employment, since mean weekly hours have declined and part-time rates have risen. Possible drivers include health reasons, workers' preferences in response to working conditions, and also employment retention where firms have maintained staff despite lower workloads in order to avoid the need to rehire employees later. Labour markets have failed to adjust to changes in demand, partly because of lower worker mobility and stagnating wage growth. Secular trends, especially population ageing and technological change, are posing further challenges by intensifying skills shortages.

A growing demand for labour

Labour shortages arise when employers fail to fill job openings because of a lack of suitable candidates. This can occur because of an overall shortage of workers, a mismatch between required skills and candidate profiles, a disconnect between workers' expectations and the characteristics of available jobs, or a combination of these factors. Labour shortages are a sign that the labour market is imbalanced. Long-term imbalances are driven by structural factors, such as a lack of sufficiently educated workers or population ageing. Short-run imbalances, driven by cyclical factors, may owe to an abrupt surge in demand for workers or to short-term restrictions on labour supply, such as those imposed by health-related measures during the pandemic. Imbalances and shortages can also be limited to a subset of sectors and occupations. The way that labour markets adjust to these imbalances determines whether and how fast they can be resolved (see figure 3.1). Sluggish wage adjustment, for example, may exacerbate shortages because wages tend to adjust over the medium run but may fail to do so quickly enough in periods of high volatility. Across regions, both cyclical and structural factors have been observed over the last few years, to various degrees depending on sector, occupation or skill level.

Labour demand: Unfilled vacancies in advanced economies

The numbers of vacancies - a measure of (unfilled) demand for labour - remain elevated after having peaked in 2022 across numerous advanced economies. After the pandemic, many advanced economies experienced soaring rates of unfilled vacancies even as labour markets recovered and unemployment started to fall (Causa et al. 2022; Duval et al. 2022). Subsequently, vacancies dropped as the economy cooled off but nevertheless the numbers of them remain higher than at any point during the previous decade (figure 3.2). Over 2022 and 2023, most countries started to see the numbers of vacancies slowly fall. However, employers in many high-income - and some upper-middle-income – economies still face difficulties in meeting their demand for workers (Feist, forthcoming).

The degree and nature of labour shortages differ across sectors and occupations. Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) countries saw vacancies increase in 2021 across all sectors, but most







Note: The figure shows the median and the 25th and 75th percentiles of the three-month moving average of standardized job vacancy postings across 18 (mostly advanced) economies. Economies included: Austria, Cyprus, Czechia, Estonia, Finland, France, Germany, Japan, New Zealand, Poland, Portugal, Slovenia, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, Thailand, United Kingdom, United States.

Source: *Trading Economics*, calculations by the ILO.

notably in manufacturing, information and communications, and contact-intensive sectors such as accommodation and food services, and healthcare (Causa et al., 2022). The US Chamber of Commerce noted that the most prominent shortages in the United States were in transportation, healthcare and social assistance, and accommodation and food services (Ferguson and Hoover 2022). There are also persistent shortages throughout the European Union in construction, information and communications technology, manufacturing and healthcare (European Commission 2023a). This non-exhaustive list shows that shortages affect both highly productive, high-pay sectors and also low-pay sectors typically characterized by high informality rates, large shares of self-employment and often difficult working conditions.

Skills and labour shortages are not limited to these high-income economies. Many economies of different development levels in Asia have been facing a shortage of skilled labour for some time (Sakamoto and Sung 2018). Outward migration to countries with higher wage levels is also contributing to severe shortages in parts of Eastern Europe, considerably clouding the prospects of economic growth and productivity. Survey data show that, globally, 77 per cent of employers report difficulties in hiring candidates with the right skill set, whereas the proportion was only 35 per cent a decade earlier (Manpower Group 2023). At the same time, the pandemic has initiated a shift in work norms - towards remote and hybrid forms - and led many workers to question the acceptability of non-decent employment.

Local and global consequences of labour and skills shortages

Labour shortages can have severe economywide consequences in affected countries. They not only harm businesses, by hindering growth and the exploitation of a nation's full economic potential and thus decreasing overall income. By raising hiring and labour costs for businesses, shortages can also contribute to higher consumer prices and thus raise the cost of living, which usually disproportionately affects poorer households. High-income countries have experienced low economic growth and a manifest slowdown in productivity growth for some time (ILO 2023a). Labour shortages can further reduce growth prospects and put a brake on the recovery process.

Shortages of essential workers in key sectors are set to create supply bottlenecks in affected economies. A continuing shortage of health personnel and also workers in transportation and accommodation and food services may worsen access to and the quality of services rendered and products delivered. The pandemic has demonstrated how much economies depend on these types of essential workers (ILO 2023a). Consequences range from long waiting hours to more serious concerns, for example when health needs cannot be met because of a lack of personnel. Labour shortages in essential services such as healthcare can also worsen working conditions for overstretched staff (Buchan, Catton and Shaffer 2022). Shortages of workers in agricultural firms threaten food security and contribute to rising food prices. A lack of workers in construction can hinder access to affordable housing and hamper necessary infrastructure projects. Export firms may struggle to remain competitive with respect to product quality, innovative capacity and productivity when value chains are disrupted by labour shortages.

What's more, a shortage of labour in some economies can create spillover effects in the rest of the world. The pandemic has shown the impact of disruptions in labour supply - mainly caused by high infection rates - on global supply chains, producing ripple effects in the global economy (Ivanov and Dolgui 2022). Trade between advanced and developing economies experienced significant turbulence partly because of demand shifts and labour shortages in importing countries, and this led to port congestion (Komaromi, Cerdeiro and Liu 2022). Production bottlenecks have triggered an acceleration of inflation, forcing major central banks to tighten monetary policy rates and so causing adverse effects on global financial conditions. Meanwhile, migration out of countries with lower wages and poor working conditions towards those with shortages of skilled workers has adversely affected the supply of skilled labour to fulfil key roles in source countries.

Labour supply

The available supply of labour is determined by the number of people in the labour force as well as the number of hours they are willing and available to work. Adjustments can occur through both factors: either more swiftly through a change in the number of hours worked, or via a somewhat slower adjustment of the number of people at work. During the pandemic these measures decreased at varying rates depending on policy choices made regarding job retention schemes and the expansion of unemployment benefits. As economies reopened and labour markets recovered, a full and swift recovery in participation rates was considered uncertain. However, data on labour force participation demonstrate that pandemic-induced labour supply reductions have been fully reversed in most ILO subregions (see Chapter 1).

Labour force participation: Are fewer people working or looking for jobs?

Although overall participation has now surpassed pre-crisis levels in some cases, the impact of the crisis on the global workforce was highly asymmetrical. Women, youth and migrants were especially affected by workplace closures, since they are more likely to work in low-pay and contact-intense sectors and the informal economy (ILO 2021). Rising unpaid care work added to the obstacles to women's participation (Azcona et al. 2022). Older workers, having significant overlaps with the group of immunocompromised and longterm sick workers, had a strong incentive to opt for teleworking or to leave the workforce altogether. In sum, the pandemic has changed the employment trajectories of millions of vulnerable workers, reduced incomes and pushed many into poverty (Yonzan et al. 2022). If participation rates had remained lower than had been projected before the pandemic, then shortages and worsened labour market outcomes could have been expected to ensue in the long run. But comparison of actual participation rates of women and youth relative to their pre-crisis long-term trends suggests that only a few pockets of "missing workers" persist (see figures 3.3. and 3.4).

Women's labour force participation in 2023 was on or slightly above its long-term linear trend across all country income groups. Female participation was notably below the pre-pandemic linear trend in Africa - especially North Africa - and Latin America and the Caribbean.¹ In Northern, Southern and Western Europe and North America,



Figure 3.3. Female labour force participation rates compared with the pre-pandemic

In Latin America and the Caribbean, female labour force participation has recovered to its pre-pandemic level while that of men remains slightly below this benchmark (see Chapter 2). Female participation has been stagnating for almost two decades after experiencing steady increments throughout the 1990s, hence the slightly positive linear long-term trend.



Figure 3.4. Youth labour force participation (percentages)

too, the participation rate was lower than expected and could have contributed to the observed labour shortages. In contrast, women's participation was *higher* than predicted by the long-term linear trend in the Arab States and most parts of Asia.² Despite these partial improvements, the gap between male and female participation rates remains high across the globe, and the pandemic has reversed some

of the convergence achieved before 2020.

Youth participation rates across income groups have not returned to their decade-long pre-pandemic downward trend. They have stabilized after the initial negative impact of the pandemic. Youth labour force participation is usually more cyclical than that of other age groups, since young workers tend to leave or get pushed out of the labour market – for inactivity or education – when economic conditions worsen.³ This happened during the pandemic especially in high-income and upper-middle-income countries (figure 3.4). In the subsequent recovery, young people have joined the labour force at higher-than-expected rates. The broad recovery of participation rates suggests that additional factors must play a role in driving current shortages.

At the same time, the number of young people not in employment, education or training (NEET) remains elevated globally. In 2020, the number of NEET had risen by 15 million since 2019, to more than 285 million worldwide. In 2022, it was higher than before the health crisis in both absolute and relative terms (ILO 2023b). Figure 3.5 shows that in 2023 the male NEET rate remained particularly high in low-income countries. Young women are frequently NEET in low-income and lower-middle-income countries, a circumstance

² In Asia, where participation rates are following a long-term downward trend, the positive sign of the depicted deviation from trend implies that female participation fell more slowly than predicted. This does not necessarily imply good quality of employment, since women's employment is often lower paid and less secure than that of men (Dasgupta and Verick 2016). In the Arab States, women's participation increased mainly because Saudi women now participate at a higher rate owing to legislative changes in recent years (Alaref and Koettl 2021).

³ Given this higher variability of youth labour force participation, the deviation from the linear trend may be better attributed to cyclical movements than to structural conditions.



Figure 3.5. Youth NEET, by sex and income group (percentages of the population aged 15 to 24)

that reduces their chances of subsequent gainful and decent employment. The prevalence of NEET among rural youth is also a cause of concern (ILO 2022a). In high-income and upper-middle-income economies, NEET rates were on a downward path until 2019, but this gradual improvement did not continue after the pandemic. Through the lens of labour and skills shortages across the world, this trend reversal could lead to further divergence between the competencies of individuals in need of decent work and those sought after by employers to contribute to sustainable growth.

Hours worked: Mean and total hours have diverged

Total hours worked increased across all country income groups, driven by strong employment growth throughout the recovery.⁴ At the same time, there was an increasing divergence between total and mean hours worked. Mean weekly hours per worker were lower in 2023 than in 2019 across all income groups except low-income countries, where they were slightly higher. The size of the relative decrease in mean hours ranges from under 1 per cent in upper-middle-income countries to more than 2 per cent in high-income and lower-middle-income countries. Across all income groups the development of total and mean hours has diverged to different degrees (see figure 3.6). This means that the labour force is being utilized less intensely. These reductions may accord with workers' desired working time and may even enhance well-being, but they do mean that less of their time is available to employers who need more labour. Possible reasons for these reductions in hours per worker include increases in part-time employment because of care duties or health reasons, and employers' decisions to retain their workforce during an economic downturn because of optimistic expectations about the future and/or potential barriers to and costs of rehiring staff in the future (Arce et al. 2023, Colijn 2023).

⁴ Hours worked typically increase again during expansions, as they did after the pandemic. Hours had started to recover at the beginning of 2022 but experienced headwinds owing to health restrictions in China and ensuing supply chain disruptions, and further suffered from the global consequences of Russia's invasion of Ukraine. The recovery in total hours worked was very uneven across country income groups: high-income and upper-middle-income countries, in the main, met the pre-pandemic 2019 benchmark in 2022 whereas the labour market recoveries of lower-middle-income and low-income countries experienced more difficulties (ILO 2022d).



Figure 3.6. Total hours versus mean hours actually worked per employed person

Note: These indicators are based on the 13th ICLS definition. They refer to mean weekly hours actually worked per employed person and total weekly hours actually worked by employed persons in their main job. More information can be found in the ILO Modelled Estimates (ILOEST) database description (<u>https://ilostat.ilo.org/</u>resources/concepts-and-definitions/ilo-modelled-estimates/).

Source: ILOSTAT, ILO modelled estimates, November 2023.

Working hours have evolved differently across sectors and occupations. In high-income countries with available data, sectors with particularly strong relative decreases in mean hours include accommodation and food services, and transportation and storage, closely followed by information and communications, real estate, and professional, scientific and technical activities. The fact that mean hours decreased more in some sectors than in others may stem from several causes. First, workforce composition differs between sectors with respect to age, gender, and part-time work. Accommodation and food services, for example, typically employ disproportionately more women and part-timers. Second, firms differ with respect to hiring dynamics and their propensities to hold on to labour, depending on firm characteristics such as size and profitability; and labour retention typically reduces employees' working hours (Bäurle, Lein and Steiner 2021; Génin and Scott 2022).

The sectoral differences between the growth rates of total and mean hours can give a hint of the types of shortages prevailing in each sector. In shortage sectors where both total hours and mean hours have dropped, shortages are probably more driven by limitations of labour supply. In sectors where total hours have increased but mean hours have dropped, shortages tend to be more demand driven. The latter is the case, for example, in sectors with significant expansion demand such as information and communications technology and healthcare (European Commission 2023a). The former is mainly observed in essential and low-pay sectors, suggesting that poor working conditions may trigger shortages in these sectors.

The share of part-time workers has increased in many high-income economies. Part of the decrease in mean hours worked may owe to compositional effects as the share of part-timers has increased. Some of them are in unvoluntary part-time work and, given the right circumstances, would be willing to work more. The precise circumstances heavily depend on the national context and the particular factors that limit a return to full-time employment. Part-time employment is distinctly more prevalent among women than men; and, since it is especially frequent among women with children, it is intricately linked to national education



Figure 3.7. Number of sick days per worker and year and percentage increase, 2019–22

Note: The definition of sick leave depends on the source. Data for Israel, Estonia and Canada refer to self-reported absence because of illness. Swiss data refer to absence owing to sickness or accident and are based on an 8-hour working day. UK data are based on a 7.5-hour working day.

Sources: OECD, Institute for Employment Research (IAB) (Germany), Swiss Federal Statistical Office, Office for National Statistics (United Kingdom).

systems and childcare provision.⁵ Other groups in part-time employment include older workers in partial retirement and people with disabilities that prevent them working full-time.

Another possible reason for decreases in mean working hours is deteriorated health. This may be attributable to an ageing population but could also be driven by higher numbers of sick days owing to COVID-19 infection and/or by an increasing number of people suffering long-term sickness. Long COVID, affecting around 20 per cent of those infected by the virus, according to the World Health Organization, may be having a significant impact on activity measures of labour markets.6 Estimates for the United States indicate that, in addition to individuals affected by long COVID who left the labour force - between 280,000 and 680,000 persons – those similarly affected who continued to work reduced their working hours by 2–3 per cent, corresponding to 20,000-39,000 full-time equivalents (Sheiner

and Salwati 2022). Psychosocial factors after the pandemic, such as burnout and stress, have also played a role, particularly for workers in the health and hospitality sectors (Liu-Lastres, Wen and Huang 2023; WHO 2022). The number of sick days remains significantly higher than in 2019 (see figure 3.7); some observers see this as one of the drivers of labour shortages in Europe (Colijn 2023).

Do labour markets fail to adjust?

Wages and labour mobility are important channels in the adjustment of labour markets (see figure 3.1). Both these channels may have lost efficiency in recent years. Wages are adjusting slowly and rising living costs are swallowing small gains. Aggregate wages tend to be sticky in the short run. They typically adjust slowly to changing economic conditions; the surge in vacancies after the pandemic did not produce any

⁵ See data on childcare gaps in Germany or the United States: <u>https://www.laendermonitor.de/de/vergleich-bundeslaender-daten/kinder-und-eltern/fokus-u3/betreuungsquote-und-betreuungswunsch-2</u> and <u>https://childcaregap.org/</u>. See ILO and Asian Development Bank (2023) on similar needs in Asia and the Pacific.

⁶ https://www.who.int/europe/news-room/fact-sheets/item/post-covid-19-condition.

meaningful wage growth in affected countries. Data on wage growth in the United States show that by 2021 wages had started to rise in sectors more strongly affected by labour shortages, especially the hospitality sector (Duval et al. 2022). In the eurozone, wage growth picked up in 2022 in accommodation and food services, transport and trade (Bodnár et al. 2022). Beyond this limited number of sectors, wage growth has been subdued. Although these wage increases may have had some potential to counter labour shortages by increasing the numbers of candidates for jobs, the growing cost of living has swallowed much of the nominal wage gains. Following strong fiscal and monetary support to contain the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic, and following commodity price surges arising from geopolitical tensions, global inflation in 2022 rose to levels not seen in decades (IMF 2023). Price hikes, which first affected more energy-intensive sectors, have subsequently worked their way through the rest of the economy. Real incomes have suffered in consequence, the lower echelons of the income distribution being disproportionately affected (ILO 2022b). Real wages across OECD countries decreased in 2023 (OECD 2023a).

After the pandemic, workers in advanced economies stayed away from occupations with subpar working conditions. Quit rates rose strongly in 2021 compared with 2019 and, at least in the United States, they rose faster in low-pay sectors (Causa et al. 2022; Ferguson and Hoover 2022). Low-pay occupations across the globe were heavily affected by employment losses, and employers struggled to hire back workers during the recovery. This contributed to persistent labour shortages: in the United States and the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland the highest proportional rises in vacancies were observed for jobs with lower pay, low skills or precarious working conditions (for example, truck drivers, cleaners, accommodation and food industry workers, warehouse workers) (Pizzinelli and Shibata 2023). In the European Union, too, labour shortages have increased more in sectors with lower pay and poorer job quality.⁷ These same sectors also have higher shares of young, poorer-educated and migrant workers (Zwysen 2023). Shortages tend to be worse in sectors with

higher gender segregation, highlighting the need to improve inclusivity and to diversify sectoral workforces (European Commission 2023a). Work quality factors that worsen labour shortages also include gender-based discrimination and disparities in remuneration between men and women for work of equal value, for example in the tourism sector (ILO 2022c).

Some of the imbalances could probably be dissolved by addressing low take-home pay and strenuous working conditions. The ability to pay higher wages and improve working conditions is also tied to firm performance. More profitable firms tend to perform better with respect to employee well-being (De Neve, Kaats and Ward 2023). This implies, vice versa, that firms with worse working conditions tend to be the less profitable ones. To the extent that there is a correlation between the share of small and very small firms, informality, low profitability and low pay in certain sectors, worsening working conditions have contributed to increases in shortages owing to the unwillingness of workers to accept available jobs.

Labour mobility may have also suffered because firms are reluctant to let go of workers. Besides lowering the mean hours worked, this practice - dubbed "labour hoarding" - prevents employees from climbing the job ladder through job switching. Across the eurozone, for instance, around 10 per cent of firms in the industry and services sectors retained labour throughout 2022. In the retail sector the share of labour-retaining firms was about 20 per cent, slightly more than in the construction sector (15 per cent of firms by the end of 2022). After peaking in 2020, owing to job retention schemes, this indicator remains higher than before the pandemic, especially in retail and the industry sector (European Commission 2023b). Such job retention help firms maintain firm-specific human capital in the short run but, when continued for too long, can have lasting effects on labour supply and productivity growth, by discouraging workers from switching from low-productivity to potentially better-matching jobs.

Job mobility is decreasing partly because of an increasing proportion of older workers, especially in high-income and upper-middleincome economies. Between 2000 and 2022, the

⁷ Measures of job quality comprise the incidence of: involuntary part-time and temporary contracts; working on evenings, nights, weekends and shifts; having no control over the order of work; working under high pressure; and the requirement of flexibility.

share of workers aged 55 or more in the labour force increased from 13 to 22.5 per cent in highincome countries and almost doubled from 9.8 to 17.8 per cent in upper-middle-income countries. In contrast, the share of older workers slightly decreased from 11.5 to 11 per cent in low-income countries and saw only a minor increase from 11.4 to 14.4 per cent in lower-middle-income countries. Participation rates among older workers tend today to be higher than in previous generations, a testament to improved health and longevity (Harasty and Ostermeier 2020). They are also partly driven by higher female participation among today's older workers than in former cohorts. However, older workers' job mobility differs from younger workers': the likelihood of moving from one job to another (the job-to-job transition rate) decreases with age whereas the average job tenure increases (Bosler and Petrosky-Nadeau 2016).8 Although frequent job switching can be associated with job instability among younger workers, it also correlates with wage increases and more efficient allocation of workers to more productive jobs that match their skill set (Haltiwanger, Hyatt and McEntarfer 2018; Moscarini and Postel-Vinay 2018). Consequently, a larger share of workers aged 55 or more is likely to be associated with lower wage growth, lower productivity growth and generally lower mobility of workers. A lower number of workers willing to switch jobs also translates into a smaller number of potential candidates for firms that are hiring.

Economic segments with low productivity seem to maintain a high demand for labour. This suggests a link between low productivity and labour shortages which arises from resource misallocation. Several of the sectors experiencing shortages typically have low productivity levels, including construction, accommodation and food services, and logistics. In theory, the opportunity costs of investment should lead to selective allocation of financial resources to highly productive and growing firms. However, in practice, there may have been inefficiently high and unsustainable allocation of funds to low-productivity firms in recent years, owing to high levels of uncertainty, untargeted fiscal support measures during the pandemic, and accommodative monetary policies. Untargeted support measures, which were necessary to absorb the initial shock of the pandemic, have also enabled unviable firms to stay in business, increasing the number of so-called "zombie firms" (Albuquerque and Iyer 2023). This has distorted sectoral reallocation of capital and labour. The misallocation of resources may reduce the responsiveness of employment growth to firm productivity and help to "trap" labour in low-productivity firms (Andrews and Hansell 2021; Hambur and Andrews, 2023). Targeted investments in growing, high-productivity areas could result in higher economic output and increase employment opportunities. This, in turn, would incentivize workers to acquire the necessary skills to move into expanding, better-paying sectors. Conversely, the availability of the skilled workforce required for a specific sectoral activity will spur investment in that sector. Inefficient allocation of resources thus not only fuels low productivity growth; unsustainable investment also hinders the future-oriented development of the workforce and can worsen labour shortages at the higher end of the productivity distribution.

Productivity growth has been low in advanced economies and has been concentrated among a limited number of firms (ILO 2023a). Overall low productivity growth can lead to slowing wage growth. An environment of low or stagnating wage growth in turn reduces workers' incentive to seek new job opportunities to improve their salary. A small number of highly productive firms tend to pay higher wages than the larger group of lower-productivity firms, a situation that exacerbates wage dispersion and inequality. Low job mobility among workers further deepens these disparities (Criscuolo et al. 2021).

Housing barriers are another factor suppressing job mobility. When and where housing becomes increasingly expensive, or is subject to uncertainty or bureaucratic restrictions, job mobility is reduced (Cannari, Nucci and Sestito 2000; Liu, Huang and Albitar 2023). Owing to monetary policy measures since 2022 to mitigate inflation, the borrowing cost of money has increased, further restricting access to ownership and increasing economic uncertainty. House prices have started to fall in many advanced economies, adding to uncertainty for

⁸ This observation is also visible in data, published by Eurostat, on job-to-job transition probabilities by age group: <u>https://ec.eu-</u>ropa.eu/eurostat/statistics-explained/index.php?title=Labour_market_flow_statistics_in_the_EU#Labour_market_flows:_transition_probabilities.

homeowners (OECD 2023b). The ensuing increase in demand for rentals is causing rising prices for new rentals, which is exacerbating labour shortages because workers are less likely to switch jobs if the new job will require a relocation.

Some of the new work methods expatiated during the pandemic - including remote work and flexible working hours - have the potential to leverage unused resources and increase labour supply in certain occupations. By allowing regular teleworking, employers can extend their candidate pool, save office space and reduce turnover (Silver 2023). Survey data from the United Kingdom show that almost a third of business leaders have resorted to hiring purely remote workers because of labour shortages (Ruparel and Fox 2023). For workers, remote employment has demonstrated the advantages of reducing commuting time, increasing flexibility and enabling non-mobile workers to participate in paid employment. At the same time, remote work can negatively affect work-life balance by creating conflicts between home and work tasks, increase isolation and shift the burden of providing a workspace on to the worker (Shirmohammadi, Au and Beigi 2022).

Labour shortages might become entrenched

Population ageing will continue to decrease labour supply in high-income countries. Employers will face an increasingly smaller pool of talent and will have to adjust their work processes to an older workforce with different demands and capabilities from younger cohorts (for an overview, see ILO 2023a, 105). Demographic change is also having adverse effects on enrolment in higher education, employment, and the economy at large. This may hamper human capital accumulation in the long run and thus economic growth prospects (Hetrick et al. 2021).

In contrast, many low- and middle-income countries will experience a demographic transition only after 2030. Faced with continuous population growth that will bring millions of new entrants on to the labour market over the next few years, countries in Africa and parts of Asia and the Pacific are continuing to experience a shortage of jobs rather than a shortage of labour. These global imbalances will challenge policymakers to design sensible migration policies and skilling initiatives to support and develop local labour markets with growing populations while addressing the most pressing labour and skills shortages and maintaining social cohesion in labour markets with a shrinking workforce. To do so will require, among other things, a more accurate forecast of labour demand by occupations and sectors in destination countries, and a strengthened education and training system in countries with excess labour resources.

Population ageing is changing the consumption patterns in advanced economies. First, saving and spending behaviour changes as societies grow older: lower birth rates and a larger proportion of people in old age tend to have the effect of increasing savings and decreasing consumption (Bloom, Canning and Graham 2003). Second, the need for healthcare and other personal services increases. Especially in the health sector, the current labour shortages will thus likely worsen in advanced economies if not swiftly addressed by policymakers – a policy need that may be especially challenging in countries with limited fiscal space (Dewan, Ernst and Gravel 2021).

The climate crisis and green transition are set to challenge attitudes to skills development. As the climate crisis becomes more urgent, governments around the world are being forced to ensure a transition away from combustible and towards renewable energy sources. The related technological shifts will lead to changing skills needs and the risk of further skills shortages. A just transition will therefore require integrated policies and significant adaptive capacity and flexibility from workers, employers and governments (ILO 2022d). New and evolving skills requirements to serve new technologies may require workers to undergo significant career changes and frequent training measures. For employers, on the other hand, fast-paced change in an environment of labour and skills shortages also means that, across sectors, skills requirements could become more important than degree requirements (Fuller, Langer and Sigelman 2022). The reduction of such barriers could make labour markets more inclusive for individuals with non-standard education and for older workers (Butrica and Mudrazija 2022).
Concluding remarks: Priorities for action

In fast-ageing countries, policymakers need to support the participation of groups with weak labour market attachment, notably youth, women and older workers. Policies regarding public childcare, second-earner tax provisions, and early retirement are known to affect labour supply. A favourable environment for parents' participation in the labour market could enhance financial independence, improve lifetime earnings and help alleviate labour shortages. For those older workers who are willing and physically and mentally able to continue working, the removal of barriers - financial and otherwise - could strengthen their labour market attachment. Youth employment policies should aim to offer relevant training and improve young people's labour market attachment. Finally, housing policies to increase people's geographical mobility could reduce spatial and skills mismatch.

Investment and skills policies need to raise productivity and potential growth and facilitate more productive use of technological progress. The currently observed increases in investment in many advanced and some developing countries seem to favour low-productive services and construction. Instead, integrated strategies are needed to improve productivity through comprehensive skills policies; and supporting the transitions of workers to new job opportunities in high-productive sectors would help to alleviate shortages. Many services require physical presence, including in transportation, construction and healthcare. If shortages remain pressing, some of the work can be automated, which will require public investment in infrastructure and skills. For example, new technologies such as 3D printing, robotics, drones and the internet of things - collectively known as "Construction 4.0" - are already revolutionizing the construction sector (El Jazzar et al. 2021). Research shows that productivity growth correlates negatively with unemployment in the long run and that there is little evidence of negative net employment resulting from technological change - refuting the notion of technological unemployment (Chen and Semmler 2018; Hötte, Somers and Theodorakopoulos 2023).

In the health sector as well, the deployment of new technologies – for example, telemedicine, wearable sensors and AI-based pattern recognition – can be of great value to support healthcare personnel, whether in diagnostics or care activities.

Improvements in sectors and occupations with low pay and difficult working conditions may motivate workers who left to come back. Data show that labour shortages are more dire and more difficult to relieve in sectors with challenging working conditions; quit rates are particularly high in these sectors. Better pay, better recognition and better working conditions could turn around this trend.9 Moreover, sectors with labour shortages tend to be more segregated with respect to gender: at the lower end of the pay scale, sectors tend to be more female dominated (European Commission 2023a). Addressing such imbalances could improve the possibilities for employers to fill their open positions, while broadening the opportunities for individual workers and improving their labour market outcomes.

Ensuring that internationally mobile workers get matched to adequate jobs could alleviate some of the shortages. Some jobs in high-income countries might be filled through international migration, which would need to be carefully evaluated against local skills needs and the skills initiatives in countries of origin (World Bank 2023). Policies should be built upon a comprehensive data basis of projected labour and skills demand - over the short, medium and long run – in countries experiencing shortages. Regularized migration channels based on bilateral skills partnerships could improve the working and living conditions of migrants in receiving countries (see box 3.1). Current legal frameworks and barriers in diploma recognition systems in receiving countries do not allow migrants to fully participate in the formal labour market, and this obstructs their access to decent work.

None of the structural headwinds facing labour market adjustment is likely to disappear over the short term, which makes it important that

⁹ Certain sectors that struggle with working conditions, such as healthcare and education, are tied to the available fiscal space in the specific national context because they are to a large extent publicly funded.

Box 3.1. Dual-track global skills partnerships

To tackle sectoral labour shortages, some advanced economies have piloted dual-track global skill partnerships (GSPs). Dual-track GSPs are bilateral agreements in which a destination country invests in skills training in an origin country. The training occurs in two tracks: a "home" track for those who stay in their country of origin and an "away" track for those aspiring to migrate. The goal is to fill specific labour gaps in advanced economies while offering a structured pathway for migration. In addition, these programmes promote skills development in the origin countries' workforce, creating a win–win–win scenario for destination countries, origin countries, and trainees (Clemens, Dempster and Gough 2019).

One example of dual-track GSPs is the establishment of the Heimerer Institute in Pristina, Kosovo (Clemens, Dempster and Gough 2019; Clemens 2015). In 2018, 60 per cent of the institute's 960 nursing students were on the "away" track, which entailed German-language training and subsequent access to the German labour market. As proposed by Clemens (2015) and in accordance with the ILO guidelines for fair recruitment (ILO 2019), in the Heimerer programme the employers in destination countries pay the language course fee and ensure immediate labour market integration and skills matching; the trainees pay the training fee, so the total cost to the trainees is comparable to the cost of alternative, undocumented ways of migrating (Clemens, Dempster and Gough 2019). Efforts to align training programmes with labour demand in origin countries are managed by governmental actors such as public employment services or by private recruitment agencies and international cooperation agencies (ICAs), like the German Development Corporation (GIZ), that seek to ensure that the training is both relevant and sustainable (Clemens, Dempster and Gough 2019). Such separation of tasks allows employers to focus on skill requirements while governmental actors and ICAs ensure the sustainability of migration and the quality and recognition of training.

The implementation of dual-track GSPs, and GSPs in general, brings its own set of challenges. Previous projects have demonstrated frictions in the allocation of stakeholder responsibilities, lack of satisfying training results, and problems of scalability (Schneider 2023). One project, led by the German Ministry of Foreign Affairs and the Asklepios Medical Group, was halted when the trainees opted out in reaction to the financial conditions imposed (Angenendt 2014). The charging of recruitment costs to workers is forbidden in most countries; only Cambodia, as of 2020, included such pre-departure training in the legal definition of recruitment costs (ILO 2020). Further insights emerge from a Jamaican–Canadian project in which Jamaican students were unable to fulfil later practical requirements, which led to the termination of the agreement by the Canadian accreditation institution (Reid 2011). Moreover, there is a lack of comparative, project-overarching evaluations (Schneider 2023). One successful GSP, the German "Triple Win" project, launched in 2013, shows the retention of 84.4 per cent and satisfaction of 95.4 per cent of migrants (GIZ 2021).

governments and social partners engage in supplemental efforts to address these challenges. To address structural labour market and skills shortages will require efforts to improve labour market attachment and upskilling, especially for vulnerable groups. More fundamentally, policies to improve productivity growth and working conditions need to be prioritized. Although private expenditure on innovation has reached a historic high, public-sector austerity has led to underinvestment in infrastructure and educational systems. New challenges around rising market concentration and ecological sustainability also need to be addressed, for instance through tighter competition policies and more active missionoriented public science and innovation systems.

References

Alaref, Jumana, and Johannes Koettl. 2021. "Why Are Saudi Women Suddenly Starting to Take Jobs?" *Brookings*, 19 May 2021. <u>https://www.brookings.edu/articles/why-are-saudi-women-</u> suddenly-starting-to-take-jobs/.

Albuquerque, Bruno, and Roshan Iyer. 2023. "The Rise of the Walking Dead: Zombie Firms Around the World", IMF Working Paper, 16 June 2023. <u>https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/WP/</u> Issues/2023/06/16/The-Rise-of-the-Walking-Dead-Zombie-Firms-Around-the-World-534866.

Andrews, D., and D. Hansell. 2021. "Productivity-Enhancing Labour Reallocation in Australia". *Economic Record* 97 (317): 157–169.

Angenendt, S. 2014. Entwicklungspolitische Perspektiven temporärer und zirkulärer Migration. Stiftung Wissenschaft und Politik. <u>https://www.swp-berlin.org/publications/products/</u> studien/2014_S13_adt.pdf.

Arce, Oscar, Agostino Consolo, António Dias da Silva, and Matthias Mohr. 2023. "More Jobs but Fewer Working Hours". *ECB Blog*, 7 June 2023. <u>https://www.ecb.europa.eu/press/blog/date/2023/</u> html/ecb.blog230607~9d31b379c8.en.html.

Azcona, Ginette, Antra Bhatt, Guillem Fortuny, Roger Gomis, Chinmay Sharma, and Marie-Claire Sodergren. 2022. "Over 2 Million Moms Left the Labour Force in 2020 According to New Global Estimates". UN Women and ILO, 8 March 2022. <u>https://ilostat.ilo.org/over-2-million-moms-left-the-labour-force-in-2020-according-to-new-global-estimates/</u>.

Bäurle, Gregor, Sarah M. Lein, and Elizabeth Steiner. 2021. "Employment Adjustment and Financial Tightness: Evidence from Firm-Level Data". *Journal of International Money and Finance* 115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jimonfin.2021.102358.

Bloom, D.E., D. Canning, and B. Graham. 2003. "Longevity and Life-Cycle Savings". Scandinavian Journal of Economics 105 (3): 319–338.

Bodnár, Katalin, Eduardo Gonçalves, Lucyna Górnicka, and Gerrit Koester. 2022. "Wage Developments and Their Determinants since the Start of the Pandemic". ECB Economic Bulletin 8. <u>https://www.ecb.europa.eu/pub/economic-bulletin/articles/2023/html/ecb.</u> ebart202208_02~2328747465.en.html.

Bosler, Canyon, and Nicolas Petrosky-Nadeau. 2016. "Job-to-Job Transitions in an Evolving Labor Market", FRBSF Economic Letter 2016-34. <u>https://www.frbsf.org/economic-research/publications/</u> economic-letter/2016/november/job-to-job-transitions-in-evolving-labor-market/.

Buchan, James, Howard Catton, and Franklin Shaffer. 2022. Sustain and Retain in 2022 and Beyond: The Global Nursing Workforce and the COVID-19 Pandemic. International Centre on Nurse Migration. <u>https://www.icn.ch/sites/default/files/2023-04/Sustain%20and%20Retain%20in%20</u> 2022%20and%20Beyond-%20The%20global%20nursing%20workforce%20and%20the%20 COVID-19%20pandemic.pdf.

▶ Butrica, Butrica, and Stipica Mudrazija. 2022. *Skills-Based Hiring and Older Workers*. Urban Institute. <u>https://www.urban.org/research/publication/skills-based-hiring-and-older-workers</u>.

Cannari, Luigi, Francesco Nucci, and Paolo Sestito. 2000. "Geographic Labour Mobility and the Cost of Housing: Evidence from Italy". *Applied Economics* 32 (14): 1899–1906. Causa, Orsetta, Michael Abendschein, Nhung Luu, Emilia Soldani, and Chiara Soriolo. 2022. "The Post-COVID-19 Rise in Labour Shortages", OECD Economics Department Working Paper No. 1721. https://www.oecd.org/publications/the-post-covid-19-rise-in-labour-shortages-e60c2d1c-en.htm.

Chen, P., and W. Semmler. 2018. "Short and Long Effects of Productivity on Unemployment". Open Economies Review 29: 853–878.

Clemens, Michael. 2015. "Global Skill Partnerships: A Proposal for Technical Training in a Mobile World". *IZA Journal of Labor Policy* 4 (1): 1–18.

Clemens, Michael, Helen Dempster, and Katelyn Gough. 2019. "Maximizing the Shared Benefits of Legal Migration Pathways: Lessons from Germany's Skills Partnerships", Center for Global Development Policy Paper 150. <u>https://www.cgdev.org/sites/default/files/maximizing-sharedbenefits-legal-migration-pathways.pdf.</u>

Colijn, Bert. 2023. "This Is the Real Reason Why the Eurozone Is Suffering from Labour Shortages". *ING*, 5 September 2023. <u>https://think.ing.com/articles/the-real-reason-why-eurozone-</u> suffering-from-labour-shortages-23/.

Criscuolo, Chiara, Alexander Hijzen, Michael Koelle, Cyrille Schwellnus, Erling Barth, Wen-Hao Chen, Richard Fabling, Priscilla Fialho, Alfred Garloff, Katharzyna Grabska, et al. 2021. "The Firm-Level Link between Productivity Dispersion and Wage Inequality: A Symptom of Low Job Mobility?" OECD Economics Department Working Paper No. 1656. https://doi.org/10.1787/4c6131e3-en.

Dasgupta, S., and S.S. Verick. 2016. Transformation of Women at Work in Asia: An Unfinished Development Agenda. New Delhi: Sage.

De Neve, Jan-Emmanuel, Micah Kaats, and George Ward. 2023. "Workplace Wellbeing and Firm Performance", University of Oxford Wellbeing Research Centre Working Paper No. 2304. https://ora.ox.ac.uk/objects/uuid:8652ce7e-7bde-449f-a5e7-6b0d0bcc3605/download_file?file_ format=application%2Fpdf&safe_filename=De_Neve_et_al_2023_Workplace_wellbeingand_firm. pdf&type_of_work=Working+paper.

Dewan, S., E. Ernst, and E. Gravel. 2021. "The World in 2030: Looking Back Ten Years from Now". In *Managing Work in the Digital Economy: Future of Business and Finance*, edited by S. Güldenberg, E. Ernst and K. North, 3–20. Cham: Springer.

Duval, Roman A., Yi Ji, Yongji Li, Myrto Oikonomou, Carlo Pizzinelli, Ippei Shibata, Alessandra Sozzi, and Marina Mendes Tavares. 2022. Labor Market Tightness in Advanced Economies. IMF. https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/Staff-Discussion-Notes/Issues/2022/03/30/Labor-Market-Tightness-in-Advanced-Economies-515270.

El Jazzar, Mahmoud, Christian Schranz, Harald Urban, and Hala Nassereddine. 2021. "Integrating Construction 4.0 Technologies: A Four-Layer Implementation Plan". Frontiers in Built Environment 7. https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fbuil.2021.671408.

▶ European Commission. 2023a. Employment and Social Developments in Europe 2023: Addressing Labour Shortages and Skills Gaps in the EU. https://op.europa.eu/webpub/empl/esde-2023/.

▶ European Commission. 2023b. European Business Cycle Indicators: A New Survey-Based Labour Hoarding Indicator. 2nd quarter 2023. https://data.europa.eu/doi/10.2765/771791.

▶ Feist, Lisa. Forthcoming. "Imbalances between Supply and Demand: Recent Causes for Labour Shortages", ILO Working Paper.

Ferguson, Stephanie, and Makinizi Hoover. 2022. "Understanding America's Labor Shortage: The Most Impacted Industries". US Chamber of Commerce, 14 November 2022. <u>https://www.uschamber.com/workforce/understanding-americas-labor-shortage-the-most-impacted-industries</u>.

Fuller, Joseph, Christina Langer, and Matt Sigelman. 2022. "Skills-Based Hiring Is on the Rise". Harvard Business Review, 11 February 2022. <u>https://hbr.org/2022/02/skills-based-hiring-is-on-the-rise</u>.

Génin, Hugues, and Suzanne Scott. 2022. "Un portrait de la rétention de main-d'œuvre dans l'industrie française: Analyse à partir des enquêtes mensuelles de conjoncture", Insee Working Paper No. 2022-15. https://www.insee.fr/fr/statistiques/6675007.

► GIZ (German Development Corporation). 2021. "Triple Win Programme; Recruiting Nurses from Abroad Sustainably". https://www.giz.de/en/downloads/Factsheet_TripleWin_2021_en.pdf.

Haltiwanger, J., H. Hyatt, and E. McEntarfer. 2018. "Who Moves Up the Job Ladder?" Journal of Labor Economics 36 (S1): S301–S336.

Hambur, Jonathan, and Dan Andrews. 2023. "Doing Less, with Less: Capital Misallocation, Investment and the Productivity Slowdown in Australia", Reserve Bank of Australia Research Discussion Paper 2023-03. https://www.rba.gov.au/publications/rdp/2023/pdf/rdp2023-03.pdf.

► Harasty, Claire, and Martin Ostermeier. 2020. "Population Ageing: Alternative Measures of Dependency and Implications for the Future of Work", ILO Working Paper No. 5. <u>https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed_emp/documents/publication/wcms_747257.pdf</u>.

► Hetrick, Ron, Hannah Grieser, Rob Sentz, Clare Coffey, and Gwen Burrow. 2021. *The Demographic Drought: How the Approaching Sansdemic Will Transform the Labor Market for the Rest of Our Lives*. Moscow, ID: Lightcast. <u>https://www.datocms-assets.com/62658/1663085587-demographic-drought-v18.pdf</u>.

Hötte, Kerstin, Melline Somers, and Angelos Theodorakopoulos. 2023. "Technology and Jobs: A Systematic Literature Review". *Technological Forecasting and Social Change* 194. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2023.122750</u>.

▶ ILO. 2019. General Principles and Operational Guidelines for Fair Recruitment and Definition of Recruitment Fees and Related Costs. <u>https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed_protect/---</u>protrav/---migrant/documents/publication/wcms_536755.pdf.

2020. A Global Comparative Study on Defining Recruitment Fees and Related Costs: Interregional Research on Law, Policy and Practice. <u>https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---</u> ed_protect/---protrav/---migrant/documents/publication/wcms_761729.pdf.

2021. World Employment and Social Outlook: Trends 2021. <u>https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/</u>groups/public/---dgreports/---dcomm/---publ/documents/publication/wcms_795453.pdf.

2022a. "Advancing Social Justice and Decent Work in Rural Economies", ILO Policy Brief, October 2022. <u>https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed_dialogue/---sector/documents/</u> briefingnote/wcms_858195.pdf. 2022b. Global Wage Report 2022–23: The Impact of Inflation and COVID-19 on Wages and Purchasing Power. <u>https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed_protect/---protrav/---travail/</u> documents/publication/wcms_862569.pdf.

2022c. The Future of Work in the Tourism Sector: Sustainable and Safe Recovery and Decent Work in the Context of the COVID-19 Pandemic. <u>https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed_</u> dialogue/---sector/documents/meetingdocument/wcms_840403.pdf.

2022d. "Skills Development for a Just Transition", ILO Policy Brief, October 2022. <u>https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed_emp/---emp_ent/documents/publication/wcms_860617.pdf</u>.

———. 2023a. World Employment and Social Outlook: Trends 2023. <u>https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/</u>groups/public/---dgreports/---inst/documents/publication/wcms_865332.pdf.

2023b. "Has Youth Employment Recovered?" ILO Brief, June 2023. <u>https://www.ilo.org/</u>wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed_emp/documents/publication/wcms_885192.pdf.

▶ ILO and Asian Development Bank. 2023. *Investments in Childcare for Gender Equality in Asia and the Pacific*. <u>https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---asia/---ro-bangkok/documents/</u>publication/wcms_887517.pdf.

► IMF (International Monetary Fund). 2023. *World Economic Outlook: Navigating Global Divergences*. https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/WEO/Issues/2023/10/10/world-economic-outlookoctober-2023.

▶ Ivanov, Dmitry, and Alexandre Dolgui. 2022. "The Shortage Economy and Its Implications for Supply Chain and Operations Management". *International Journal of Production Research* 60 (24): 7141–7154. https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2022.2118889.

► Komaromi, Andras, Diego A. Cerdeiro, and Yang Liu. 2022. "Supply Chains and Port Congestion Around the World", IMF Working Paper No. 2022/059. <u>https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/WP/</u> Issues/2022/03/25/Supply-Chains-and-Port-Congestion-Around-the-World-515673.

Liu, Guang, Yunying Huang, and Khaldoon Albitar. 2023. "The Impact of Urban Housing Prices on Labour Mobility: Evidence from Cities in China". *Economic Research–Ekonomska Istraživanja* 36 (2). https://doi.org/10.1080/1331677X.2022.2106284.

Liu-Lastres, B., H. Wen, and W.-J. Huang. 2023. "A Reflection on the Great Resignation in the Hospitality and Tourism Industry". *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management* 35 (1): 235–249.

Manpower Group. 2023. "2023 Global Talent Shortage". <u>https://go.manpowergroup.com/hubfs/</u> MPG_TS_2023_Infographic_FINAL.pdf

Moscarini, G., and F. Postel-Vinay. 2018. "The Cyclical Job Ladder". Annual Review of Economics 10: 165–188.

▶ OECD (Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development). 2023a. *OECD Employment Outlook 2023: Artificial Intelligence and the Labour Market*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/08785bba-en</u>.

> ------. 2023b. OECD Economic Outlook, Volume 2023 Issue 1. https://doi.org/10.1787/ce188438-en.

▶ Pizzinelli, Carlo, and Ippei Shibata. 2023. "Has COVID-19 Induced Labor Market Mismatch? Evidence from the US and the UK". *Labour Economics* 81. <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/</u>article/pii/S0927537123000040.

Reid, T. 2011. "Suspended: Charles Halts Canadian Nurses Training Programme". The Gleaner, 15 May 2011. http://jamaica-gleaner.com/gleaner/20110515/lead/lead2.html.

Ruparel, Raoul, and Helena Fox. 2023. "State of UK Business 2023: Squeezed but Still Standing". BCG, 27 February 2023. <u>https://www.bcg.com/united-kingdom/centre-for-growth/insights/state-of-uk-business-2023</u>.

Sakamoto, Akiko, and Johnny Sung, eds. 2018. Skills and the Future of Work: Strategies for Inclusive Growth in Asia and the Pacific. ILO. <u>https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---asia/---ro-</u> bangkok/---sro-bangkok/documents/publication/wcms_650239.pdf.

Schneider, Jan. 2023. "Labor Migration Schemes, Pilot Partnerships, and Skills Mobility Initiatives in Germany". World Bank, April 2023. <u>https://thedocs.worldbank.org/en/</u> <u>doc/1b03278725f9fff007a3b91dc9301135-0050062023/original/230331-Schneider-Background-</u> Paper-FINAL.pdf.

► Sheiner, Louise, and Nasiha Salwati. 2022. "How Much Is Long COVID Reducing Labor Force Participation? Not Much (So Far)", Hutchins Center Working Paper No. 80. <u>https://www.brookings.</u>edu/wp-content/uploads/2022/10/WP80-Sheiner-Salwati_10.27.pdf.

Shirmohammadi, M., W.C. Au, and M. Beigi. 2022. "Remote Work and Work–Life Balance: Lessons Learned from the Covid-19 Pandemic and Suggestions for HRD Practitioners". *Human Resource Development International* 25 (2): 163–181.

Silver, H. 2023. "Working from Home: Before and After the Pandemic". Contexts 22 (1): 66–70.

▶ WHO (World Health Organization). 2022. World Mental Health Report: Transforming Mental Health for All. https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240049338.

▶ World Bank. 2023. World Development Report 2023: Migrants, Refugees, and Societies. <u>https://</u> www.worldbank.org/en/publication/wdr2023.

Yonzan, Nishant, Alexandru Cojocaru, Christoph Lakner, Daniel Gerszon Mahler, and Amber Narayan. 2022. "The Impact of COVID-19 on Poverty and Inequality: Evidence from Phone Surveys". World Bank Data Blog, 18 January 2022. <u>https://blogs.worldbank.org/opendata/impact-</u>covid-19-poverty-and-inequality-evidence-phone-surveys.

Zwysen, Wouter. 2023. "Labour Shortages – Turning Away from Bad Jobs", ETUI Policy Brief 2023.03. <u>https://www.etui.org/sites/default/files/2023-04/Labour%20shortages-turning%20</u> away%20from%20bad%20jobs_2023.pdf.





Appendix A. Groupings of countries by region and income level

Africa	Americas	Asia and the Pacific	Europe and Central Asia
North Africa	Latin America	East Asia	Northern, Southern
Algeria	and the Caribbean	China	and Western Europe
Egypt	Argentina	Democratic People's Republic	Albania
Libya	Bahamas	of Korea	Austria
Morocco	Barbados	Hong Kong, China	Belgium
Sudan	Belize	Japan	Bosnia and Herzegovina
Tunisia	Bolivia (Plurinational State of)	Macau, China	Channel Islands
Western Sahara	Brazil	Mongolia	Croatia
	Chile	Republic of Korea	Denmark
Sub-Saharan Africa	Colombia	Taiwan, China	Estonia
Angola	Costa Rica		Finland
Benin	Cuba	South-East Asia	France
Botswana	Dominican Republic	Brunei Darussalam	Germany
Burkina Faso	Ecuador	Cambodia	Greece
Burundi	El Salvador	Indonesia	Iceland
Cabo Verde	Guatemala	Lao People's Democratic Republic	Ireland
Cameroon	Guyana	Malaysia	Italy
Central African Republic	Haiti	Myanmar	Latvia
Chad	Honduras	Philippines	Lithuania
Comoros	Jamaica	Singapore	Luxembourg
Congo	Mexico	Thailand	Malta
Côte d'Ivoire	Nicaragua	Timor-Leste	Montenegro
Democratic Republic of the Congo	Panama	Viet Nam	Netherlands
Diibouti	Paraguay	vice Nam	North Macedonia
Equatorial Guinea	Peru	The Pacific	Norway
Eritrea	Puerto Rico	Australia	Portugal
Eswatini	Saint Lucia	Fiji	Serbia
Ethiopia	Saint Vincent and the Grenadines	French Polynesia	Slovenia
Gabon	Suriname	Guam	Spain
Gambia	Trinidad and Tobago	New Caledonia	Sweden
Ghana	United States Virgin Islands	New Zealand	Switzerland
Guinea	Uruguay	Papua New Guinea	United Kingdom
Guinea-Bissau	Venezuela (Bolivarian Republic of)	Samoa	onited kingdom
Kenya		Solomon Islands	Eastern Europe
Lesotho	North America	Tonga	Belarus
Liberia	Canada	Vanuatu	Bulgaria
Madagascar	United States	vanuatu	Czechia
Malawi	Officed States	South Asia	Hungary
Malawi		Afghanistan	Poland
Mauritania	Arab States	Bangladesh	Republic of Moldova
Mauritius	Rahrain	Bhutan	Romania
Mozambique	Bahrain	India	Russian Federation
Namibia	Iraq	Iran (Islamic Republic of)	Slovakia
Niger	Jordan Kuwait	Maldives	Ukraine
Nigeria	Kuwait	Nepal	Giranic
Rwanda	Lebanon Occupied Palestinian Territory	Pakistan	Central and Western Asia
Sao Tome and Principe	Occupied Palestinian Territory	Sri Lanka	Armenia
-	Oman		Armenia Azerbaijan
Senegal Sierra Leone	Qatar Saudi Arabia		Cyprus
Somalia	Saudi Arabia Surian Arab Bonublic		Georgia
South Africa	Syrian Arab Republic		Israel
South Sudan	United Arab Emirates		Kazakhstan
	Yemen		Kyrgyzstan
Togo			Tajikistan
Uganda United Republic of Tanzania			Türkiye
Zambia			Turkmenistan
Zimbabwe			Uzbekistan
ZIIIDADWE			ULDENISLAII

High-income countries	Upper-middle-income countries	Lower-middle-income countries	Low-income countries
Australia	Albania	Algeria	Afghanistan
Austria	Argentina	Angola	Burkina Faso
Bahamas	Armenia	Bangladesh	Burundi
Bahrain	Azerbaijan	Benin	Central African Republic
Barbados	Belarus	Bhutan	Chad
Belgium	Belize	Bolivia (Plurinational State of)	Democratic People's Republic
Brunei Darussalam	Bosnia and Herzegovina	Cabo Verde	of Korea
Canada	Botswana	Cambodia	Democratic Republic of the Congo
Channel Islands	Brazil	Cameroon	Eritrea
Chile	Bulgaria	Comoros	Ethiopia
Croatia	China	Congo	Gambia
Cyprus	Colombia	Côte d'Ivoire	Guinea-Bissau
Czechia	Costa Rica	Djibouti	Liberia
Denmark	Cuba	Egypt	Madagascar
Estonia	Dominican Republic	Eswatini	Malawi
Finland	Ecuador	Ghana	Mali
France	El Salvador	Guinea	Mozambique
French Polynesia	Equatorial Guinea	Haiti	Niger
Germany	Fiji	Honduras	Rwanda
Greece	Gabon	India	Sierra Leone
Guam	Georgia	Iran (Islamic Republic of)	Somalia
Guyana	Guatemala	Jordan	South Sudan
-	Indonesia	Kenya	Sudan
Hong Kong, China		-	
Hungary	Iraq	Kyrgyzstan	Syrian Arab Republic
Iceland	Jamaica	Lao People's Democratic Republic Lebanon	Togo Uganda
Ireland	Kazakhstan		-
Israel	Libya	Lesotho	Yemen
Italy	Malaysia	Mauritania	
Japan	Maldives	Mongolia	
Kuwait	Mauritius	Morocco	
Latvia	Mexico	Myanmar	
Lithuania	Montenegro	Nepal	
Luxembourg	Namibia	Nicaragua	
Macau, China	North Macedonia	Nigeria	
Malta	Occupied Palestinian Territory	Pakistan	
Netherlands	Paraguay	Papua New Guinea	
New Caledonia	Peru	Philippines	
New Zealand	Republic of Moldova	Samoa	
Norway	Russian Federation	Sao Tome and Principe	
Oman	Saint Lucia	Senegal	
Panama	Saint Vincent and the Grenadines	Solomon Islands	
Poland	Serbia	Sri Lanka	
Portugal	South Africa	Tajikistan	
Puerto Rico	Suriname	Timor-Leste	
Qatar	Thailand	Tunisia	
Republic of Korea	Tonga	Ukraine	
Romania	Türkiye	United Republic of Tanzania	
Saudi Arabia	Turkmenistan	Uzbekistan	
Singapore	Venezuela (Bolivarian Republic of)	Vanuatu	
Slovakia		Viet Nam	
Slovenia		Western Sahara	
Spain		Zambia	
Sweden		Zimbabwe	
Switzerland			
Taiwan, China			
Trinidad and Tobago			
United Arab Emirates			
United Kingdom			
United States			
United States Virgin Islands			
Uruguay			

Appendix B. ILO modelled estimates

The approach used to derive the labour market indicators featuring in this report consists of three phases: (a) data evaluation and collection, (b) estimation of historical values of indicators and (c) forecasting the last year's and future values.

The first phase entails the work of labour market information specialists from the ILO Department of Statistics, who, in cooperation with the Research Department, evaluate existing country-reported data and select only those observations deemed sufficiently comparable across countries. It is important to note that this process may entail large revisions from one year to the next, owing to, among other things, frequent revisions of historical micro labour market data. The estimates are derived for 189 countries and territories, disaggregated by sex and age as appropriate.

In the second phase, the wealth of information obtained in the first phase is used as a basis to estimate a series of models that establish statistical relationships between observed labour market indicators and explanatory variables. These relationships are used to impute missing observations and thus to estimate a complete historical series of labour market indicators. The rigour of the estimates is ensured by employing advanced statistical techniques such as cross-validation and model averaging.

These historical series are finally used in the forecasting phase, where we project the values of selected indicators for the 2023–25 period. The models used for projection are similar in nature to the ones used in the estimation of historical values. They, too, rely on advanced cross-validation and model selection techniques to guarantee robustness. They differ mainly in that they include standard time series elements, such as error correction terms to model the impact of trends.

A general description of the ILO modelled estimates, including FAQs, is available at <u>https://</u> ilostat.ilo.org/resources/concepts-and-definitions/ ilo-modelled-estimates/. Specific technical explanations of the methodology behind the estimates and projections contained in this report may be found at <u>https://www.ilo.org/ilostat-files/Documents/</u> TEM.pdf.

Appendix C. Tables of labour market indicators by regional groups

Table C1. World

Indicator	Group	Unit	2000	2010	2019	2020	2021	2022	2023	2024	2025
Labour force	Total	Millions	2751.5	3159.3	3481.6	3449.2	3525.7	3594.5	3668.1	3696.7	3737.4
	Women	Millions	1091.4	1248.8	1384.5	1366.6	1405.1	1430.7	1472.4	1477.1	1490.1
	Men	Millions	1660.1	1910.5	2097.1	2082.5	2120.5	2163.8	2195.7	2219.6	2247.3
	Youth	Millions	558.8	557.6	495.4	478.7	487.3	492.5	501.2	502.0	506.4
Labour force	Total	Per cent	64.2	62.0	60.5	59.2	59.8	60.3	60.8	60.5	60.4
participation rate	Women	Per cent	50.6	48.9	48.0	46.8	47.6	47.9	48.7	48.2	48.0
	Men	Per cent	77.9	75.3	73.1	71.7	72.2	72.9	73.0	72.9	72.9
	Youth	Per cent	51.3	45.6	40.9	39.3	39.8	40.0	40.3	40.0	40.0
Employment	Total	Millions	2582.9	2957.8	3287.3	3221.8	3312.3	3404.7	3479.5	3505.9	3544.8
	Women	Millions	1023.0	1168.5	1306.1	1276.6	1318.1	1351.6	1394.5	1398.6	1410.7
	Men	Millions	1559.9	1789.3	1981.2	1945.2	1994.2	2053.2	2085.0	2107.3	2134.0
	Youth	Millions	491.3	483.5	426.8	403.7	416.7	427.0	434.6	434.3	437.5
Employment-to-	Total	Per cent	60.2	58.1	57.1	55.3	56.2	57.1	57.7	57.4	57.3
population ratio	Women	Per cent	47.4	45.7	45.3	43.7	44.6	45.2	46.1	45.6	45.5
	Men	Per cent	73.2	70.6	69.1	67.0	67.9	69.1	69.4	69.2	69.2
	Youth	Per cent	45.1	39.6	35.2	33.2	34.1	34.7	35.0	34.6	34.6
Unemployment	Total	Millions	168.6	201.5	194.3	227.3	213.4	189.7	188.6	190.8	192.7
	Women	Millions	68.4	80.4	78.5	90.0	87.0	79.2	77.9	78.5	79.4
	Men	Millions	100.2	121.2	115.9	137.3	126.4	110.6	110.7	112.3	113.3
	Youth	Millions	67.5	74.1	68.6	75.0	70.6	65.5	66.6	67.7	68.8
Unemployment rate	Total	Per cent	6.1	6.4	5.6	6.6	6.1	5.3	5.1	5.2	5.2
	Women	Per cent	6.3	6.4	5.7	6.6	6.2	5.5	5.3	5.3	5.3
	Men	Per cent	6.0	6.3	5.5	6.6	6.0	5.1	5.0	5.1	5.0
	Youth	Per cent	12.1	13.3	13.8	15.7	14.5	13.3	13.3	13.5	13.6
Jobs gap	Total	Millions		441.5	439.0	499.5	476.4	440.4	434.8		
	Women	Millions		217.7	219.7	244.7	238.0	223.0	220.7		
	Men	Millions		223.8	219.3	254.8	238.3	217.5	214.1		
Jobs gap rate	Total	Per cent		13.0	11.8	13.4	12.6	11.5	11.1		
	Women	Per cent		15.7	14.4	16.1	15.3	14.2	13.7		
	Men	Per cent		11.1	10.0	11.6	10.7	9.6	9.3		

Table C1. World (cont'd)

Indicator	Group	Unit	2000	2010	2019	2020	2021	2022	2023	2024	2025
Weekly hours worked	Total	Hours		43.1	42.0	40.3	41.1	41.3	41.2	41.1	
per employed person	Women	Hours		39.1	38.1	36.5	37.3	37.6	37.3	37.2	
	Men	Hours		45.6	44.6	42.8	43.6	43.7	43.8	43.7	
Youth NEET	Total	Millions		273.1	271.0	289.2	274.3	267.6	269.1	273.2	276.4
	Women	Millions		188.8	181.3	186.7	180.4	178.5	178.9	181.2	183.2
	Men	Millions		84.3	89.7	102.5	93.9	89.2	90.2	92.0	93.2
Youth NEET rate	Total	Per cent		22.3	22.4	23.8	22.4	21.7	21.7	21.8	21.8
	Women	Per cent		31.8	30.9	31.7	30.5	29.9	29.7	29.8	29.9
	Men	Per cent		13.4	14.3	16.3	14.9	14.0	14.1	14.2	14.3
Informal employment	Total	Millions		1757.7	1898.9	1875.6	1945.4	1969.1	2019.3	2027.6	
	Women	Millions		666.6	717.4	697.4	732.7	741.2	773.1	771.6	
	Men	Millions		1091.1	1181.6	1178.2	1212.7	1227.9	1246.3	1256.0	
Informality rate	Total	Per cent		59.4	57.8	58.2	58.7	57.8	58.0	57.8	
	Women	Per cent		57.0	54.9	54.6	55.6	54.8	55.4	55.2	
	Men	Per cent		61.0	59.6	60.6	60.8	59.8	59.8	59.6	
Wage and salaried workers	Total	Millions	1187.0	1459.2	1743.3	1678.9	1729.2	1779.3			
Self-employed workers	Total	Millions	1395.9	1498.6	1544.0	1542.9	1583.1	1625.5			
Share of wage and salaried workers	Total	Per cent	46.0	49.3	53.0	52.1	52.2	52.3			
Share of self-employed workers	Total	Per cent	54.0	50.7	47.0	47.9	47.8	47.7			
Extreme working poverty (<us\$2.15 day)<="" per="" ppp="" td=""><td>Total</td><td>Millions</td><td>713.0</td><td>426.9</td><td>227.7</td><td>248.0</td><td>241.6</td><td>240.1</td><td>241.1</td><td></td><td></td></us\$2.15>	Total	Millions	713.0	426.9	227.7	248.0	241.6	240.1	241.1		
Share of extreme working poverty (<us\$2.15 day)<="" per="" ppp="" td=""><td>Total</td><td>Per cent</td><td>27.6</td><td>14.4</td><td>6.9</td><td>7.7</td><td>7.3</td><td>7.1</td><td>6.9</td><td></td><td></td></us\$2.15>	Total	Per cent	27.6	14.4	6.9	7.7	7.3	7.1	6.9		

Table C2. Africa

Indicator	Group	Unit	2000	2010	2019	2020	2021	2022	2023	2024	2025
Labour force	Total	Millions	301.1	393.1	490.7	498.2	515.5	533.9	550.4	566.5	582.9
	Women	Millions	129.6	169.6	210.9	213.9	222.0	229.4	237.0	244.2	251.4
	Men	Millions	171.5	223.5	279.9	284.3	293.5	304.6	313.4	322.3	331.4
	Youth	Millions	78.9	95.2	105.6	107.1	110.1	113.0	116.7	120.1	123.5
Labour force	Total	Per cent	64.5	63.8	62.4	61.7	62.1	62.6	62.8	62.8	62.8
participation rate	Women	Per cent	54.5	54.3	53.1	52.4	52.9	53.2	53.5	53.6	53.7
	Men	Per cent	74.9	73.5	72.0	71.1	71.4	72.2	72.2	72.2	72.2
	Youth	Per cent	47.8	45.5	41.7	41.2	41.2	41.2	41.4	41.4	41.4
Employment	Total	Millions	277.9	366.9	457.6	461.9	477.4	498.2	514.0	529.4	545.2
	Women	Millions	119.6	156.7	195.1	196.8	203.5	211.6	218.8	225.6	232.5
	Men	Millions	158.4	210.2	262.5	265.1	273.9	286.6	295.2	303.7	312.7
	Youth	Millions	68.1	83.8	93.8	94.5	97.5	101.1	104.5	107.6	110.7
Employment-to-	Total	Per cent	59.5	59.5	58.2	57.2	57.5	58.4	58.6	58.7	58.8
opulation ratio	Women	Per cent	50.3	50.2	49.1	48.2	48.5	49.1	49.4	49.5	49.6
	Men	Per cent	69.1	69.1	67.5	66.3	66.7	67.9	68.0	68.0	68.1
	Youth	Per cent	41.3	40.0	37.1	36.4	36.5	36.9	37.0	37.1	37.1
Unemployment	Total	Millions	23.2	26.2	33.2	36.2	38.1	35.8	36.4	37.1	37.7
	Women	Millions	10.0	12.9	15.8	17.0	18.5	17.8	18.2	18.6	19.0
	Men	Millions	13.2	13.3	17.4	19.2	19.6	18.0	18.3	18.5	18.8
	Youth	Millions	10.8	11.4	11.7	12.6	12.5	11.8	12.2	12.5	12.8
Unemployment rate	Total	Per cent	7.7	6.7	6.8	7.3	7.4	6.7	6.6	6.6	6.5
	Women	Per cent	7.7	7.6	7.5	8.0	8.3	7.7	7.7	7.6	7.5
	Men	Per cent	7.7	5.9	6.2	6.8	6.7	5.9	5.8	5.8	5.7
	Youth	Per cent	13.7	11.9	11.1	11.8	11.4	10.5	10.5	10.4	10.3
Jobs gap	Total	Millions		87.2	114.4	122.1	125.5	124.1	124.3		
	Women	Millions		49.3	64.7	68.6	71.1	70.7	71.1		
	Men	Millions		37.9	49.7	53.5	54.4	53.3	53.2		
Jobs gap rate	Total	Per cent		19.2	20.0	20.9	20.8	19.9	19.5		
	Women	Per cent		23.9	24.9	25.8	25.9	25.1	24.5		
	Men	Per cent		15.3	15.9	16.8	16.6	15.7	15.3		

Table C2.	Africa	(cont'd)
-----------	--------	----------

Indicator	Group	Unit	2000	2010	2019	2020	2021	2022	2023	2024	2025
Weekly hours worked	Total	Hours		43.1	42.0	40.3	41.1	41.3	41.2	41.1	
per employed person	Women	Hours		39.1	38.1	36.5	37.3	37.6	37.3	37.2	
	Men	Hours		45.6	44.6	42.8	43.6	43.7	43.8	43.7	
Youth NEET	Total	Millions		50.2	65.9	70.3	70.4	71.8	73.7	75.8	77.9
	Women	Millions		32.4	40.9	43.5	43.6	44.6	45.8	47.1	48.4
	Men	Millions		17.8	25.0	26.8	26.7	27.2	27.9	28.6	29.4
Youth NEET rate	Total	Per cent		24.0	26.0	27.1	26.4	26.2	26.1	26.1	26.1
	Women	Per cent		31.1	32.5	33.8	33.0	32.8	32.7	32.7	32.8
	Men	Per cent		16.9	19.6	20.5	19.9	19.7	19.6	19.6	19.5
Informal employment	Total	Millions		305.1	381.5	391.6	405.3	416.3	428.2	439.9	
	Women	Millions		138.8	170.9	173.3	180.6	185.8	191.5	196.9	
	Men	Millions		166.3	210.6	218.3	224.6	230.5	236.7	243.0	
Informality rate	Total	Per cent		83.2	83.4	84.8	84.9	83.6	83.3	83.1	
	Women	Per cent		88.6	87.6	88.1	88.8	87.8	87.5	87.3	
	Men	Per cent		79.1	80.2	82.3	82.0	80.4	80.2	80.0	
Wage and salaried workers	Total	Millions	71.7	98.9	127.0	125.7	130.7	137.9			
Self-employed workers	Total	Millions	206.2	268.0	330.6	336.2	346.8	360.3			
Share of wage and salaried workers	Total	Per cent	25.8	27.0	27.8	27.2	27.4	27.7			
Share of self-employed workers	Total	Per cent	74.2	73.0	72.2	72.8	72.6	72.3			
Extreme working poverty (<us\$2.15 day)<="" per="" ppp="" td=""><td>Total</td><td>Millions</td><td>130.5</td><td>126.1</td><td>131.7</td><td>138.2</td><td>141.3</td><td>145.4</td><td>148.9</td><td></td><td></td></us\$2.15>	Total	Millions	130.5	126.1	131.7	138.2	141.3	145.4	148.9		
Share of extreme working poverty (<us\$2.15 day)<="" per="" ppp="" td=""><td>Total</td><td>Per cent</td><td>47.0</td><td>34.4</td><td>28.8</td><td>29.9</td><td>29.6</td><td>29.2</td><td>29.0</td><td></td><td></td></us\$2.15>	Total	Per cent	47.0	34.4	28.8	29.9	29.6	29.2	29.0		

Table C3. North Africa

Indicator	Group	Unit	2000	2010	2019	2020	2021	2022	2023	2024	2025
Labour force	Total	Millions	51.7	66.9	73.3	72.8	75.6	78.2	79.8	81.5	83.3
	Women	Millions	11.7	16.1	16.6	16.0	16.9	17.4	17.8	18.3	18.8
	Men	Millions	40.0	50.8	56.7	56.7	58.7	60.8	62.0	63.2	64.5
	Youth	Millions	12.6	13.4	10.2	10.0	10.4	10.6	10.8	11.1	11.3
Labour force	Total	Per cent	47.3	47.8	44.1	43.0	43.9	44.6	44.6	44.6	44.7
participation rate	Women	Per cent	21.5	23.1	20.1	19.0	19.6	19.8	20.0	20.1	20.2
	Men	Per cent	73.1	72.3	68.1	66.9	68.0	69.2	69.1	69.1	69.1
	Youth	Per cent	34.7	32.4	24.7	24.0	24.7	24.7	24.7	24.8	24.8
Employment	Total	Millions	43.9	59.8	64.9	63.7	66.4	69.7	70.8	72.3	74.1
	Women	Millions	9.3	12.9	13.0	12.5	13.2	14.0	14.2	14.5	15.0
	Men	Millions	34.7	47.0	52.0	51.2	53.2	55.7	56.6	57.8	59.2
	Youth	Millions	8.8	10.2	7.5	7.2	7.6	7.9	8.0	8.2	8.5
Employment-to-	Total	Per cent	40.3	42.8	39.1	37.7	38.6	39.7	39.6	39.6	39.8
population ratio	Women	Per cent	17.0	18.5	15.7	14.8	15.4	15.9	15.9	16.0	16.1
	Men	Per cent	63.3	66.9	62.4	60.4	61.6	63.3	63.1	63.2	63.4
	Youth	Per cent	24.2	24.6	18.0	17.2	18.0	18.5	18.3	18.4	18.5
Unemployment	Total	Millions	7.7	7.0	8.3	9.1	9.1	8.5	9.0	9.2	9.1
	Women	Millions	2.4	3.2	3.6	3.6	3.6	3.4	3.6	3.8	3.8
	Men	Millions	5.3	3.8	4.7	5.5	5.5	5.1	5.4	5.4	5.3
	Youth	Millions	3.8	3.2	2.7	2.8	2.8	2.6	2.8	2.9	2.9
Unemployment rate	Total	Per cent	15.0	10.5	11.4	12.5	12.1	10.9	11.3	11.3	10.9
	Women	Per cent	20.6	20.1	21.9	22.2	21.5	19.6	20.4	20.6	20.2
	Men	Per cent	13.3	7.5	8.3	9.7	9.4	8.4	8.7	8.6	8.2
	Youth	Per cent	30.2	24.1	26.9	28.2	27.2	25.0	25.9	25.9	25.3
Jobs gap	Total	Millions		15.3	19.1	20.6	20.5	19.8	19.2		
	Women	Millions		7.6	9.4	9.4	9.5	9.2	8.9		
	Men	Millions		7.6	9.8	11.2	11.1	10.6	10.3		
Jobs gap rate	Total	Per cent		20.3	22.8	24.4	23.6	22.1	21.3		
	Women	Per cent		37.2	41.9	42.9	41.7	39.6	38.4		
	Men	Per cent		14.0	15.8	17.9	17.2	16.0	15.4		

Indicator	Group	Unit	2000	2010	2019	2020	2021	2022	2023	2024	2025
Weekly hours worked	Total	Hours		43.1	42.0	40.3	41.1	41.3	41.2	41.1	
per employed person	Women	Hours		39.1	38.1	36.5	37.3	37.6	37.3	37.2	
	Men	Hours		45.6	44.6	42.8	43.6	43.7	43.8	43.7	
Youth NEET	Total	Millions		12.5	11.3	12.1	11.8	11.7	12.0	12.3	12.5
	Women	Millions		9.1	7.7	8.2	8.0	8.0	8.2	8.4	8.6
	Men	Millions		3.4	3.6	3.9	3.8	3.7	3.8	3.9	3.9
Youth NEET rate	Total	Per cent		30.3	27.3	29.0	27.9	27.4	27.5	27.5	27.4
	Women	Per cent		45.0	38.0	40.1	38.7	38.2	38.4	38.4	38.4
	Men	Per cent		16.2	17.0	18.3	17.5	16.9	17.0	17.0	16.8
Informal employment	Total	Millions		35.9	41.3	41.5	42.1	44.1	44.6	45.4	
	Women	Millions		7.6	7.2	6.9	7.5	7.7	7.7	7.9	
	Men	Millions		28.2	34.1	34.6	34.5	36.4	36.9	37.5	
Informality rate	Total	Per cent		59.9	63.6	65.2	63.3	63.3	63.0	62.8	
	Women	Per cent		59.4	55.7	55.4	56.9	55.0	54.5	54.4	
	Men	Per cent		60.1	65.6	67.6	64.9	65.4	65.1	65.0	
Wage and salaried workers	Total	Millions	24.1	34.7	41.0	40.5	42.3	44.6			
Self-employed workers	Total	Millions	19.8	25.1	23.9	23.2	24.1	25.1			
Share of wage and salaried workers	Total	Per cent	55.0	58.0	63.1	63.5	63.7	64.0			
Share of self-employed workers	Total	Per cent	45.0	42.0	36.9	36.5	36.3	36.0			
Extreme working poverty (<us\$2.15 day)<="" per="" ppp="" td=""><td>Total</td><td>Millions</td><td>2.1</td><td>1.6</td><td>2.1</td><td>2.4</td><td>2.7</td><td>3.0</td><td>3.5</td><td></td><td></td></us\$2.15>	Total	Millions	2.1	1.6	2.1	2.4	2.7	3.0	3.5		
Share of extreme working poverty (<us\$2.15 day)<="" per="" ppp="" td=""><td>Total</td><td>Per cent</td><td>4.8</td><td>2.6</td><td>3.3</td><td>3.8</td><td>4.0</td><td>4.2</td><td>5.0</td><td></td><td></td></us\$2.15>	Total	Per cent	4.8	2.6	3.3	3.8	4.0	4.2	5.0		

Table C3. North Africa (cont'd)

Table C4. Sub-Saharan Africa

Indicator	Group	Unit	2000	2010	2019	2020	2021	2022	2023	2024	2025
Labour force	Total	Millions	249.5	326.2	417.5	425.4	439.9	455.7	470.6	485.0	499.6
	Women	Millions	117.9	153.5	194.3	197.8	205.1	212.0	219.2	225.9	232.7
	Men	Millions	131.6	172.7	223.2	227.6	234.8	243.7	251.4	259.1	267.0
	Youth	Millions	66.2	81.8	95.4	97.1	99.7	102.4	105.9	109.1	112.1
Labour force	Total	Per cent	69.7	68.5	67.3	66.6	66.8	67.2	67.4	67.4	67.4
participation rate	Women	Per cent	64.3	63.3	61.8	61.1	61.5	61.7	62.0	62.0	62.0
	Men	Per cent	75.4	73.9	73.1	72.3	72.4	72.9	73.0	73.0	73.0
	Youth	Per cent	51.5	48.7	45.0	44.5	44.4	44.2	44.4	44.4	44.4
Employment	Total	Millions	234.0	307.1	392.7	398.2	411.0	428.5	443.2	457.1	471.0
	Women	Millions	110.3	143.9	182.1	184.4	190.3	197.6	204.7	211.1	217.5
	Men	Millions	123.7	163.2	210.5	213.9	220.7	230.9	238.5	246.0	253.5
	Youth	Millions	59.2	73.6	86.4	87.3	90.0	93.2	96.4	99.4	102.2
Employment-to-	Total	Per cent	65.4	64.5	63.3	62.3	62.4	63.2	63.5	63.5	63.5
population ratio	Women	Per cent	60.2	59.3	57.9	56.9	57.0	57.5	57.9	57.9	57.9
	Men	Per cent	70.9	69.8	68.9	67.9	68.0	69.1	69.3	69.3	69.3
	Youth	Per cent	46.1	43.8	40.8	40.0	40.0	40.3	40.4	40.5	40.4
Unemployment	Total	Millions	15.5	19.1	24.8	27.2	29.0	27.2	27.4	27.9	28.6
	Women	Millions	7.6	9.6	12.2	13.5	14.9	14.4	14.5	14.8	15.2
	Men	Millions	7.8	9.5	12.7	13.7	14.1	12.9	12.9	13.1	13.5
	Youth	Millions	7.0	8.1	9.0	9.8	9.7	9.2	9.4	9.7	9.9
Unemployment rate	Total	Per cent	6.2	5.9	5.9	6.4	6.6	6.0	5.8	5.8	5.7
	Women	Per cent	6.5	6.3	6.3	6.8	7.3	6.8	6.6	6.6	6.5
	Men	Per cent	6.0	5.5	5.7	6.0	6.0	5.3	5.1	5.1	5.0
	Youth	Per cent	10.5	10.0	9.4	10.1	9.7	9.0	8.9	8.9	8.8
Jobs gap	Total	Millions		71.9	95.3	101.5	105.0	104.3	105.1		
	Women	Millions		41.7	55.4	59.2	61.6	61.6	62.3		
	Men	Millions		30.2	40.0	42.3	43.3	42.7	42.9		
Jobs gap rate	Total	Per cent		19.0	19.5	20.3	20.3	19.6	19.2		
	Women	Per cent		22.5	23.3	24.3	24.5	23.8	23.3		
	Men	Per cent		15.6	16.0	16.5	16.4	15.6	15.2		

Table C4. Sub-Saharan Africa (cont'd)

Indicator	Group	Unit	2000	2010	2019	2020	2021	2022	2023	2024	2025
Weekly hours worked	Total	Hours		43.1	42.0	40.3	41.1	41.3	41.2	41.1	
per employed person	Women	Hours		39.1	38.1	36.5	37.3	37.6	37.3	37.2	
	Men	Hours		45.6	44.6	42.8	43.6	43.7	43.8	43.7	
Youth NEET	Total	Millions		37.7	54.6	58.2	58.6	60.1	61.6	63.5	65.4
	Women	Millions		23.3	33.2	35.3	35.6	36.5	37.6	38.7	39.8
	Men	Millions		14.3	21.4	22.9	23.0	23.6	24.1	24.8	25.5
Youth NEET rate	Total	Per cent		22.4	25.8	26.7	26.1	26.0	25.9	25.8	25.9
	Women	Per cent		27.8	31.5	32.6	31.9	31.8	31.7	31.7	31.7
	Men	Per cent		17.1	20.1	20.9	20.3	20.2	20.1	20.0	20.0
Informal employment	Total	Millions		269.3	340.2	350.1	363.2	372.2	383.6	394.5	
	Women	Millions		131.2	163.7	166.4	173.1	178.1	183.7	189.0	
	Men	Millions		138.1	176.5	183.6	190.1	194.1	199.8	205.4	
Informality rate	Total	Per cent		87.7	86.6	87.9	88.4	86.9	86.5	86.3	
	Women	Per cent		91.2	89.9	90.3	91.0	90.1	89.8	89.5	
	Men	Per cent		84.6	83.8	85.9	86.1	84.1	83.8	83.5	
Wage and salaried workers	Total	Millions	47.6	64.3	86.0	85.2	88.3	93.3			
Self-employed workers	Total	Millions	186.4	242.8	306.6	313.0	322.7	335.2			
Share of wage and salaried workers	Total	Per cent	20.3	20.9	21.9	21.4	21.5	21.8			
Share of self-employed workers	Total	Per cent	79.7	79.1	78.1	78.6	78.5	78.2			
Extreme working poverty (<us\$2.15 day)<="" per="" ppp="" td=""><td>Total</td><td>Millions</td><td>128.4</td><td>124.5</td><td>129.6</td><td>135.8</td><td>138.6</td><td>142.5</td><td>145.3</td><td></td><td></td></us\$2.15>	Total	Millions	128.4	124.5	129.6	135.8	138.6	142.5	145.3		
Share of extreme working poverty (<us\$2.15 day)<="" per="" ppp="" td=""><td>Total</td><td>Per cent</td><td>54.9</td><td>40.6</td><td>33.0</td><td>34.1</td><td>33.7</td><td>33.3</td><td>32.8</td><td></td><td></td></us\$2.15>	Total	Per cent	54.9	40.6	33.0	34.1	33.7	33.3	32.8		

Table C5. Latin America and the Caribbean

Indicator	Group	Unit	2000	2010	2019	2020	2021	2022	2023	2024	2025
Labour force	Total	Millions	221.5	270.5	310.3	294.1	308.5	315.9	319.8	323.3	326.3
	Women	Millions	85.1	110.1	129.5	121.0	128.1	131.8	133.9	135.4	136.6
	Men	Millions	136.4	160.4	180.7	173.1	180.4	184.1	185.9	187.9	189.7
	Youth	Millions	54.1	55.2	52.3	47.7	50.5	50.4	49.6	49.2	48.7
Labour force	Total	Per cent	62.7	63.5	63.5	59.5	61.7	62.5	62.6	62.5	62.4
participation rate	Women	Per cent	47.1	50.5	51.7	47.7	50.0	50.9	51.1	51.0	50.9
	Men	Per cent	79.0	77.1	75.8	71.8	74.0	74.8	74.7	74.6	74.4
	Youth	Per cent	53.9	51.3	48.6	44.4	47.2	47.4	46.8	46.6	46.4
Employment	Total	Millions	200.5	251.0	285.4	264.1	280.2	294.1	300.0	303.6	306.7
	Women	Millions	75.0	100.2	117.0	106.4	113.6	120.6	123.9	125.4	126.7
	Men	Millions	125.6	150.8	168.4	157.7	166.6	173.5	176.1	178.2	180.0
	Youth	Millions	44.7	47.0	42.9	37.6	40.8	42.8	42.8	42.4	42.0
Employment-to-	Total	Per cent	56.8	58.9	58.4	53.4	56.0	58.2	58.7	58.7	58.6
population ratio	Women	Per cent	41.5	46.0	46.7	42.0	44.3	46.6	47.3	47.3	47.2
	Men	Per cent	72.7	72.5	70.6	65.4	68.4	70.5	70.7	70.7	70.6
	Youth	Per cent	44.6	43.7	39.9	35.0	38.2	40.2	40.4	40.2	40.0
Unemployment	Total	Millions	21.0	19.5	24.8	30.0	28.4	21.8	19.8	19.8	19.6
	Women	Millions	10.1	9.9	12.5	14.6	14.5	11.2	10.0	10.0	9.9
	Men	Millions	10.9	9.6	12.3	15.4	13.8	10.6	9.8	9.8	9.7
	Youth	Millions	9.4	8.2	9.4	10.1	9.6	7.6	6.8	6.8	6.7
Unemployment rate	Total	Per cent	9.5	7.2	8.0	10.2	9.2	6.9	6.2	6.1	6.0
	Women	Per cent	11.9	9.0	9.7	12.1	11.3	8.5	7.5	7.4	7.3
	Men	Per cent	8.0	6.0	6.8	8.9	7.7	5.8	5.3	5.2	5.1
	Youth	Per cent	17.4	14.9	18.0	21.2	19.1	15.1	13.6	13.8	13.8
Jobs gap	Total	Millions		50.4	58.7	72.9	65.8	54.0	50.1		
	Women	Millions		31.1	34.9	41.3	39.3	32.6	30.1		
	Men	Millions		19.3	23.8	31.6	26.4	21.5	19.9		
Jobs gap rate	Total	Per cent		16.7	17.1	21.6	19.0	15.5	14.3		
	Women	Per cent		23.7	23.0	28.0	25.7	21.3	19.6		
	Men	Per cent		11.3	12.4	16.7	13.7	11.0	10.2		

Indicator	Group	Unit	2000	2010	2019	2020	2021	2022	2023	2024	2025
Weekly hours worked	Total	Hours		43.1	42.0	40.3	41.1	41.3	41.2	41.1	
per employed person	Women	Hours		39.1	38.1	36.5	37.3	37.6	37.3	37.2	
	Men	Hours		45.6	44.6	42.8	43.6	43.7	43.8	43.7	
Youth NEET	Total	Millions		21.9	23.0	26.1	23.2	21.7	21.1	21.0	20.9
	Women	Millions		15.1	15.1	16.4	14.9	14.0	13.6	13.6	13.5
	Men	Millions		6.8	7.8	9.6	8.3	7.7	7.5	7.4	7.4
Youth NEET rate	Total	Per cent		20.3	21.4	24.3	21.7	20.4	19.9	19.9	19.9
	Women	Per cent		28.2	28.5	31.1	28.2	26.7	26.1	26.1	26.7
	Men	Per cent		12.6	14.4	17.7	15.4	14.3	13.9	13.9	13.9
Informal employment	Total	Millions		134.6	150.5	136.4	148.3	153.9	155.4	156.9	
	Women	Millions		52.8	60.4	52.9	58.4	61.8	62.9	63.5	
	Men	Millions		81.8	90.1	83.4	89.9	92.2	92.6	93.4	
Informality rate	Total	Per cent		53.6	52.7	51.6	52.9	52.3	51.8	51.7	
	Women	Per cent		52.8	51.7	49.8	51.4	51.2	50.8	50.6	
	Men	Per cent		54.2	53.5	52.9	54.0	53.1	52.6	52.5	
Wage and salaried workers	Total	Millions	121.0	157.8	179.7	165.1	173.7	185.5			
Self-employed workers	Total	Millions	79.6	93.2	105.7	99.0	106.5	108.5			
Share of wage and salaried workers	Total	Per cent	60.3	62.9	63.0	62.5	62.0	63.1			
Share of self-employed workers	Total	Per cent	39.7	37.1	37.0	37.5	38.0	36.9			
Extreme working poverty (<us\$2.15 day)<="" per="" ppp="" td=""><td>Total</td><td>Millions</td><td>18.7</td><td>9.4</td><td>9.2</td><td>10.7</td><td>10.0</td><td>9.8</td><td>9.9</td><td></td><td></td></us\$2.15>	Total	Millions	18.7	9.4	9.2	10.7	10.0	9.8	9.9		
Share of extreme working poverty (<us\$2.15 day)<="" per="" ppp="" td=""><td>Total</td><td>Per cent</td><td>9.3</td><td>3.7</td><td>3.2</td><td>4.1</td><td>3.6</td><td>3.3</td><td>3.3</td><td></td><td></td></us\$2.15>	Total	Per cent	9.3	3.7	3.2	4.1	3.6	3.3	3.3		

Table C5. Latin America and the Caribbean (cont'd)

Table C6. North America

Indicator	Group	Unit	2000	2010	2019	2020	2021	2022	2023	2024	2025
Labour force	Total	Millions	162.6	177.3	190.9	188.3	189.6	191.8	194.5	194.3	194.9
	Women	Millions	74.5	82.5	88.3	87.1	87.7	89.0	90.6	90.3	90.6
	Men	Millions	88.1	94.7	102.5	101.2	101.9	102.8	103.9	104.0	104.3
	Youth	Millions	26.4	25.0	25.2	24.3	25.1	25.3	25.7	25.3	25.1
Labour force	Total	Per cent	65.9	63.8	62.9	61.6	61.6	61.9	62.2	61.6	61.3
participation rate	Women	Per cent	58.9	58.1	57.4	56.1	56.1	56.5	57.0	56.3	56.1
	Men	Per cent	73.3	69.8	68.7	67.3	67.3	67.4	67.6	67.0	66.7
	Youth	Per cent	60.3	51.5	52.1	50.2	51.7	51.8	52.2	51.2	50.9
Employment	Total	Millions	155.6	160.5	183.4	172.8	179.0	184.5	187.0	186.2	186.5
	Women	Millions	71.3	75.5	85.0	79.7	82.9	85.6	87.3	86.7	86.8
	Men	Millions	84.4	84.9	98.5	93.1	96.1	98.8	99.8	99.5	99.7
	Youth	Millions	23.8	20.5	23.0	20.6	22.6	23.2	23.6	23.0	22.7
Employment-to-	Total	Per cent	63.1	57.8	60.5	56.5	58.2	59.5	59.8	59.0	58.7
population ratio	Women	Per cent	56.3	53.2	55.2	51.3	53.1	54.4	54.9	54.1	53.7
	Men	Per cent	70.2	62.6	66.0	61.9	63.5	64.8	64.9	64.1	63.8
	Youth	Per cent	54.5	42.3	47.6	42.4	46.5	47.5	47.9	46.5	46.1
Unemployment	Total	Millions	7.0	16.8	7.4	15.5	10.6	7.3	7.5	8.1	8.4
	Women	Millions	3.2	7.0	3.4	7.4	4.8	3.4	3.3	3.6	3.8
	Men	Millions	3.7	9.8	4.1	8.1	5.8	4.0	4.1	4.5	4.6
	Youth	Millions	2.5	4.5	2.2	3.8	2.5	2.1	2.1	2.3	2.4
Unemployment rate	Total	Per cent	4.3	9.5	3.9	8.2	5.6	3.8	3.8	4.2	4.3
	Women	Per cent	4.4	8.5	3.8	8.5	5.4	3.8	3.7	4.0	4.2
	Men	Per cent	4.2	10.3	4.0	8.0	5.7	3.9	4.0	4.3	4.4
	Youth	Per cent	9.6	17.9	8.7	15.5	10.1	8.3	8.3	9.1	9.4
Jobs gap	Total	Millions		20.2	9.9	18.8	13.6	10.1	9.6		
	Women	Millions		8.7	4.6	9.0	6.3	4.8	4.5		
	Men	Millions		11.5	5.3	9.8	7.3	5.4	5.1		
Jobs gap rate	Total	Per cent		11.2	5.1	9.8	7.1	5.2	4.9		
	Women	Per cent		10.3	5.1	10.1	7.0	5.3	4.9		
	Men	Per cent		12.0	5.1	9.5	7.1	5.2	4.9		

Indicator	Group	Unit	2000	2010	2019	2020	2021	2022	2023	2024	2025
Weekly hours worked	Total	Hours		43.1	42.0	40.3	41.1	41.3	41.2	41.1	
per employed person	Women	Hours		39.1	38.1	36.5	37.3	37.6	37.3	37.2	
	Men	Hours		45.6	44.6	42.8	43.6	43.7	43.8	43.7	
Youth NEET	Total	Millions		7.3	5.1	6.9	6.0	5.5	5.3	5.4	5.5
	Women	Millions		3.6	2.6	3.4	3.0	2.8	2.6	2.7	2.7
	Men	Millions		3.7	2.5	3.5	3.0	2.7	2.7	2.8	2.8
Youth NEET rate	Total	Per cent		15.1	10.6	14.3	12.3	11.3	10.7	11.0	11.2
	Women	Per cent		15.3	11.0	14.4	12.5	11.6	10.7	11.0	11.2
	Men	Per cent		14.9	10.2	14.1	12.0	11.0	10.6	11.0	11.2
Informal employment	Total	Millions		19.9	18.0	16.1	18.7	16.5	16.6	16.3	
	Women	Millions		9.0	8.0	7.1	8.3	7.3	7.3	7.2	
	Men	Millions		11.0	10.0	9.0	10.3	9.3	9.2	9.1	
Informality rate	Total	Per cent		12.4	9.8	9.3	10.4	9.0	8.8	8.7	
	Women	Per cent		11.9	9.4	8.9	10.0	8.5	8.4	8.3	
	Men	Per cent		12.9	10.2	9.7	10.7	9.4	9.3	9.1	
Wage and salaried workers	Total	Millions	142.6	147.6	170.5	160.2	165.8	171.4			
Self-employed workers	Total	Millions	13.1	12.8	13.0	12.6	13.2	13.0			
Share of wage and salaried workers	Total	Per cent	91.6	92.0	92.9	92.7	92.6	92.9			
Share of self-employed workers	Total	Per cent	8.4	8.0	7.1	7.3	7.4	7.1			

Table C6. North America (cont'd)

Table C7. Arab States (non-GCC)

Indicator	Group	Unit	2000	2010	2019	2020	2021	2022	2023	2024	2025
Labour force	Total	Millions	18.2	23.5	27.7	27.5	28.4	30.1	31.3	32.5	33.5
	Women	Millions	3.2	3.7	4.2	4.2	4.3	4.5	4.7	4.9	5.1
	Men	Millions	14.9	19.8	23.5	23.3	24.1	25.6	26.6	27.5	28.4
	Youth	Millions	5.3	5.8	6.0	5.8	6.0	6.2	6.4	6.6	6.8
Labour force	Total	Per cent	44.8	41.2	38.9	37.4	37.5	38.5	38.8	38.8	38.9
participation rate	Women	Per cent	15.8	12.7	11.8	11.3	11.3	11.5	11.7	11.7	11.7
	Men	Per cent	74.2	70.0	66.2	63.8	63.9	65.8	66.1	66.2	66.2
	Youth	Per cent	35.6	29.7	26.0	24.6	24.9	25.1	25.2	25.2	25.2
Employment	Total	Millions	16.4	21.1	23.5	22.9	23.5	25.2	26.3	27.3	28.2
	Women	Millions	2.8	3.0	3.1	3.0	3.1	3.3	3.4	3.6	3.7
	Men	Millions	13.6	18.0	20.4	19.8	20.4	22.0	22.8	23.7	24.5
	Youth	Millions	4.3	4.6	4.1	3.7	3.9	4.2	4.3	4.4	4.5
Employment-to-	Total	Per cent	40.4	37.0	33.0	31.1	31.1	32.3	32.5	32.6	32.7
population ratio	Women	Per cent	13.8	10.6	8.7	8.2	8.3	8.4	8.5	8.5	8.5
	Men	Per cent	67.3	63.8	57.4	54.2	54.1	56.5	56.8	56.9	57.1
	Youth	Per cent	29.1	23.6	17.8	15.8	16.0	16.8	16.8	16.9	16.9
Unemployment	Total	Millions	1.8	2.4	4.2	4.7	4.9	4.9	5.1	5.2	5.3
	Women	Millions	0.4	0.6	1.1	1.1	1.2	1.2	1.3	1.4	1.4
	Men	Millions	1.4	1.8	3.1	3.5	3.7	3.6	3.8	3.8	3.9
	Youth	Millions	1.0	1.2	1.9	2.1	2.2	2.1	2.1	2.2	2.2
Unemployment rate	Total	Per cent	9.8	10.1	15.3	16.9	17.2	16.1	16.1	16.0	15.8
	Women	Per cent	12.7	16.7	26.0	27.2	27.2	27.1	27.4	27.5	27.5
	Men	Per cent	9.2	8.9	13.3	15.1	15.4	14.2	14.1	14.0	13.7
	Youth	Per cent	18.3	20.7	31.6	35.6	35.7	33.2	33.2	33.2	33.0
Jobs gap	Total	Millions		5.5	10.3	11.3	12.0	12.4	13.0		
	Women	Millions		2.0	3.5	3.8	3.9	4.2	4.4		
	Men	Millions		3.5	6.8	7.5	8.1	8.2	8.6		
Jobs gap rate	Total	Per cent		20.6	30.5	33.1	33.8	32.9	33.1		
	Women	Per cent		39.7	53.2	55.3	55.4	56.0	56.3		
	Men	Per cent		16.1	24.9	27.5	28.5	27.2	27.3		

Table C7. Arab States (non-GCC) (cont'd)

Indicator	Group	Unit	2000	2010	2019	2020	2021	2022	2023	2024	2025
Weekly hours worked	Total	Hours		43.1	42.0	40.3	41.1	41.3	41.2	41.1	
per employed person	Women	Hours		39.1	38.1	36.5	37.3	37.6	37.3	37.2	
	Men	Hours		45.6	44.6	42.8	43.6	43.7	43.8	43.7	
Youth NEET	Total	Millions		7.5	8.9	9.4	9.4	9.5	9.9	10.1	10.4
	Women	Millions		5.5	6.1	6.3	6.3	6.4	6.6	6.8	7.0
	Men	Millions		2.0	2.8	3.1	3.1	3.1	3.2	3.3	3.4
Youth NEET rate	Total	Per cent		38.2	38.8	39.7	38.8	38.4	38.5	38.6	38.6
	Women	Per cent		57.2	54.3	54.0	52.8	52.8	53.0	53.1	53.2
	Men	Per cent		19.8	23.9	25.8	25.3	24.5	24.6	24.7	24.6
Informal employment	Total	Millions		13.5	15.7	15.5	16.1	17.1	17.9	18.6	
	Women	Millions		1.7	1.6	1.5	1.6	1.7	1.8	1.8	
	Men	Millions		11.8	14.1	13.9	14.5	15.5	16.1	16.7	
Informality rate	Total	Per cent		63.9	66.9	67.7	68.5	67.9	68.1	68.2	
	Women	Per cent		54.4	50.8	50.7	51.3	51.3	51.4	51.3	
	Men	Per cent		65.5	69.4	70.3	71.1	70.4	70.7	70.7	
Wage and salaried workers	Total	Millions	9.5	13.5	15.2	14.7	15.2	16.4			
Self-employed workers	Total	Millions	6.8	7.5	8.3	8.1	8.3	8.8			
Share of wage and salaried workers	Total	Per cent	58.3	64.2	64.6	64.4	64.6	65.0			
Share of self-employed workers	Total	Per cent	41.7	35.8	35.4	35.6	35.4	35.0			
Extreme working poverty (<us\$2.15 day)<="" per="" ppp="" td=""><td>Total</td><td>Millions</td><td>0.2</td><td>0.3</td><td>5.1</td><td>5.4</td><td>5.7</td><td>6.3</td><td>7.0</td><td></td><td></td></us\$2.15>	Total	Millions	0.2	0.3	5.1	5.4	5.7	6.3	7.0		
Share of extreme working poverty (<us\$2.15 day)<="" per="" ppp="" td=""><td>Total</td><td>Per cent</td><td>1.5</td><td>1.5</td><td>21.7</td><td>23.8</td><td>24.3</td><td>25.1</td><td>26.5</td><td></td><td></td></us\$2.15>	Total	Per cent	1.5	1.5	21.7	23.8	24.3	25.1	26.5		

Table C8. Arab States (GCC)

Indicator	Group	Unit	2000	2010	2019	2020	2021	2022	2023	2024	2025
Labour force	Total	Millions	11.4	21.5	29.9	30.0	30.2	30.7	31.3	31.7	32.2
	Women	Millions	1.6	3.3	5.2	5.9	6.2	6.4	6.6	6.7	6.9
	Men	Millions	9.8	18.2	24.7	24.2	23.9	24.3	24.7	24.9	25.3
	Youth	Millions	1.7	2.8	2.4	2.3	2.2	2.3	2.4	2.5	2.5
Labour force	Total	Per cent	56.6	61.7	66.6	66.9	67.7	68.1	68.2	68.0	67.8
participation rate	Women	Per cent	21.3	26.5	32.9	36.4	38.7	39.0	39.3	39.3	39.3
	Men	Per cent	77.5	81.3	85.0	83.9	84.1	84.8	84.8	84.7	84.6
	Youth	Per cent	27.8	30.4	28.7	28.6	29.7	31.1	31.4	31.4	31.6
Employment	Total	Millions	11.0	20.7	28.8	28.4	28.8	29.5	30.1	30.6	31.1
	Women	Millions	1.5	2.9	4.6	5.0	5.5	5.7	5.9	6.0	6.2
	Men	Millions	9.5	17.7	24.2	23.4	23.3	23.8	24.2	24.6	24.9
	Youth	Millions	1.5	2.4	2.0	1.8	1.9	2.0	2.1	2.1	2.2
Employment-to-	Total	Per cent	54.5	59.2	64.0	63.2	64.5	65.4	65.7	65.6	65.6
population ratio	Women	Per cent	19.8	23.5	28.5	31.3	33.8	34.6	35.0	35.0	35.2
	Men	Per cent	75.1	79.1	83.5	81.1	81.9	83.0	83.4	83.4	83.4
	Youth	Per cent	23.6	26.0	24.3	22.8	25.1	27.0	27.4	27.5	27.7
Unemployment	Total	Millions	0.4	0.9	1.1	1.6	1.4	1.2	1.1	1.1	1.1
	Women	Millions	0.1	0.4	0.7	0.8	0.8	0.7	0.7	0.7	0.7
	Men	Millions	0.3	0.5	0.4	0.8	0.6	0.5	0.4	0.4	0.4
	Youth	Millions	0.3	0.4	0.4	0.5	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3
Unemployment rate	Total	Per cent	3.6	4.0	3.8	5.5	4.7	4.0	3.7	3.5	3.4
	Women	Per cent	6.8	11.2	13.3	14.2	12.6	11.2	10.9	10.8	10.5
	Men	Per cent	3.1	2.7	1.8	3.3	2.6	2.1	1.7	1.6	1.4
	Youth	Per cent	15.0	14.3	15.3	20.5	15.5	13.1	12.8	12.7	12.2
Jobs gap	Total	Millions		3.7	4.9	5.9	5.2	4.6	4.5		
	Women	Millions		1.9	3.1	3.6	3.3	2.9	3.0		
	Men	Millions		1.8	1.8	2.3	1.9	1.7	1.4		
Jobs gap rate	Total	Per cent		15.3	14.6	17.1	15.2	13.5	12.9		
	Women	Per cent		39.2	40.5	41.5	37.4	34.0	34.1		
	Men	Per cent		9.4	6.9	9.0	7.6	6.6	5.6		

Table C8.	Arab States	(GCC)	(cont'd)
-----------	--------------------	-------	----------

Indicator	Group	Unit	2000	2010	2019	2020	2021	2022	2023	2024	2025
Weekly hours worked	Total	Hours		43.1	42.0	40.3	41.1	41.3	41.2	41.1	
per employed person	Women	Hours		39.1	38.1	36.5	37.3	37.6	37.3	37.2	
	Men	Hours		45.6	44.6	42.8	43.6	43.7	43.8	43.7	
Youth NEET	Total	Millions		1.8	1.2	1.5	1.3	1.2	1.2	1.2	1.3
	Women	Millions		1.1	0.8	0.9	0.8	0.8	0.8	0.8	0.8
	Men	Millions		0.7	0.4	0.6	0.5	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.4
Youth NEET rate	Total	Per cent		20.1	14.3	18.5	17.1	16.4	15.6	15.7	15.7
	Women	Per cent		29.0	23.0	25.5	23.1	22.7	21.7	21.9	22.0
	Men	Per cent		13.7	7.7	12.8	12.1	11.0	10.2	10.0	9.8
Informal employment	Total	Millions		7.6	10.3	10.0	10.3	10.5	10.7	10.7	
	Women	Millions		0.9	1.5	1.6	1.8	1.8	1.9	1.9	
	Men	Millions		6.7	8.9	8.4	8.5	8.7	8.8	8.8	
Informality rate	Total	Per cent		37.0	35.8	35.4	35.8	35.6	35.4	35.1	
	Women	Per cent		32.1	32.1	32.6	32.2	31.9	31.8	31.6	
	Men	Per cent		37.8	36.5	35.9	36.6	36.5	36.3	36.0	
Wage and salaried workers	Total	Millions	10.4	19.9	27.5	27.1	27.3	28.0			
Self-employed workers	Total	Millions	0.6	0.7	10.3	10.3	10.5	10.5			
Share of wage and salaried workers	Total	Per cent	94.7	96.6	95.6	95.5	95.0	95.0			
Share of self-employed workers	Total	Per cent	5.3	3.4	4.4	4.5	5.0	5.0			
Extreme working poverty (<us\$2.15 day)<="" per="" ppp="" td=""><td>Total</td><td>Millions</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td>0.1</td><td>0.1</td><td>0.1</td><td>0.1</td><td>0.2</td><td></td><td></td></us\$2.15>	Total	Millions	0	0	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.2		
Share of extreme working poverty (<us\$2.15 day)<="" per="" ppp="" td=""><td>Total</td><td>Per cent</td><td>0.1</td><td>0</td><td>0.5</td><td>0.5</td><td>0.5</td><td>0.5</td><td>0.5</td><td></td><td></td></us\$2.15>	Total	Per cent	0.1	0	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5		

Table C9. East Asia

Indicator	Group	Unit	2000	2010	2019	2020	2021	2022	2023	2024	2025
Labour force	Total	Millions	851.0	902.2	914.1	901.4	918.4	921.2	919.7	919.7	920.8
	Women	Millions	381.7	398.2	411.5	405.3	415.8	415.8	415.0	414.7	414.9
	Men	Millions	469.3	504.0	502.6	496.1	502.6	505.4	504.7	505.1	505.9
	Youth	Millions	152.3	139.4	93.3	86.9	89.3	88.6	88.6	88.8	89.0
Labour force	Total	Per cent	74.5	69.5	66.8	65.6	66.5	66.4	66.0	65.7	65.5
participation rate	Women	Per cent	67.2	61.7	60.4	59.3	60.5	60.3	59.9	59.5	59.3
	Men	Per cent	81.7	77.2	73.0	71.8	72.4	72.5	72.1	71.8	71.6
	Youth	Per cent	64.6	55.4	49.2	46.4	48.2	48.0	47.9	47.7	47.6
Employment	Total	Millions	822.0	861.5	874.6	858.5	878.3	878.0	876.9	876.8	877.6
	Women	Millions	370.3	382.5	395.9	388.4	399.8	398.7	398.1	397.7	397.9
	Men	Millions	451.7	478.9	478.7	470.1	478.5	479.3	478.8	479.1	479.8
	Youth	Millions	141.6	125.8	83.8	76.4	78.8	76.4	75.6	75.8	75.9
Employment-to-	Total	Per cent	72.0	66.3	63.9	62.4	63.6	63.3	62.9	62.6	62.4
population ratio	Women	Per cent	65.2	59.2	58.1	56.8	58.2	57.8	57.4	57.1	56.9
	Men	Per cent	78.7	73.3	69.6	68.0	69.0	68.8	68.4	68.1	67.9
	Youth	Per cent	60.0	50.0	44.2	40.9	42.5	41.3	40.9	40.7	40.6
Unemployment	Total	Millions	29.0	40.8	39.5	42.9	40.1	43.1	42.9	43.0	43.1
	Women	Millions	11.4	15.7	15.6	16.9	16.0	17.1	17.0	17.0	17.0
	Men	Millions	17.6	25.1	23.9	26.0	24.2	26.0	25.9	26.0	26.1
	Youth	Millions	10.7	13.6	9.5	10.4	10.5	12.2	13.0	13.0	13.1
Unemployment rate	Total	Per cent	3.4	4.5	4.3	4.8	4.4	4.7	4.7	4.7	4.7
	Women	Per cent	3.0	3.9	3.8	4.2	3.8	4.1	4.1	4.1	4.1
	Men	Per cent	3.8	5.0	4.8	5.2	4.8	5.2	5.1	5.2	5.2
	Youth	Per cent	7.0	9.8	10.2	12.0	11.7	13.8	14.7	14.7	14.7
Jobs gap	Total	Millions		87.5	76.8	83.0	77.4	79.7	78.8		
	Women	Millions		41.8	36.4	40.3	36.6	37.6	36.9		
	Men	Millions		45.8	40.4	42.8	40.8	42.2	41.9		
Jobs gap rate	Total	Per cent		9.2	8.1	8.8	8.1	8.3	8.2		
	Women	Per cent		9.8	8.4	9.4	8.4	8.6	8.5		
	Men	Per cent		8.7	7.8	8.3	7.9	8.1	8.1		

Indicator	Group	Unit	2000	2010	2019	2020	2021	2022	2023	2024	2025
Weekly hours worked	Total	Hours		43.1	42.0	40.3	41.1	41.3	41.2	41.1	
per employed person	Women	Hours		39.1	38.1	36.5	37.3	37.6	37.3	37.2	
	Men	Hours		45.6	44.6	42.8	43.6	43.7	43.8	43.7	
Youth NEET	Total	Millions		40.1	21.2	23.7	21.0	21.8	22.4	22.6	22.8
	Women	Millions		23.0	11.7	12.6	11.2	11.5	11.6	11.7	11.8
	Men	Millions		17.2	9.6	11.1	9.8	10.3	10.7	10.9	11.0
Youth NEET rate	Total	Per cent		15.9	11.2	12.7	11.3	11.8	12.1	12.2	12.2
	Women	Per cent		19.2	13.2	14.4	13.0	13.4	13.6	13.6	13.7
	Men	Per cent		13.0	9.5	11.1	9.9	10.4	10.8	10.9	11.0
Informal employment	Total	Millions		467.8	426.9	415.9	431.6	415.6	410.2	405.5	
	Women	Millions		203.3	189.6	180.8	190.2	183.9	181.3	179.1	
	Men	Millions		264.5	237.2	235.1	241.4	231.7	228.8	226.4	
Informality rate	Total	Per cent		54.3	48.8	48.4	49.1	47.3	46.8	46.2	
	Women	Per cent		53.1	47.9	46.6	47.6	46.1	45.6	45.0	
	Men	Per cent		55.2	49.6	50.0	50.4	48.3	47.8	47.3	
Wage and salaried workers	Total	Millions	352.3	443.6	498.1	488.5	502.2	505.7			
Self-employed workers	Total	Millions	469.8	417.9	376.4	370.0	376.1	372.4			
Share of wage and salaried workers	Total	Per cent	42.9	51.5	57.0	56.9	57.2	57.6			
Share of self-employed workers	Total	Per cent	57.1	48.5	43.0	43.1	42.8	42.4			
Extreme working poverty (<us\$2.15 day)<="" per="" ppp="" td=""><td>Total</td><td>Millions</td><td>296.8</td><td>120.5</td><td>3.3</td><td>3.0</td><td>2.8</td><td>3.1</td><td>3.1</td><td></td><td></td></us\$2.15>	Total	Millions	296.8	120.5	3.3	3.0	2.8	3.1	3.1		
Share of extreme working poverty (<us\$2.15 day)<="" per="" ppp="" td=""><td>Total</td><td>Per cent</td><td>36.1</td><td>14.0</td><td>0.4</td><td>0.3</td><td>0.3</td><td>0.4</td><td>0.4</td><td></td><td></td></us\$2.15>	Total	Per cent	36.1	14.0	0.4	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.4		

Table C9. East Asia (cont'd)

Table C10. South-East Asia

Indicator	Group	Unit	2000	2010	2019	2020	2021	2022	2023	2024	2025
Labour force	Total	Millions	246.4	294.0	333.5	330.2	330.1	338.9	344.4	348.2	351.1
	Women	Millions	103.1	121.8	139.3	137.5	138.1	141.2	143.8	145.2	146.3
	Men	Millions	143.3	172.2	194.1	192.8	192.1	197.7	200.6	202.9	204.8
	Youth	Millions	54.9	53.1	49.6	47.2	45.2	45.8	46.7	47.0	47.1
Labour force	Total	Per cent	68.5	67.7	67.2	65.7	64.9	65.9	66.2	66.1	65.9
participation rate	Women	Per cent	56.6	55.6	55.7	54.3	53.9	54.5	54.8	54.7	54.5
	Men	Per cent	80.6	79.9	78.9	77.3	76.2	77.6	77.8	77.7	77.5
	Youth	Per cent	53.9	49.4	46.0	43.8	42.0	42.5	43.2	43.3	43.3
Employment	Total	Millions	236.8	284.4	325.4	320.4	319.6	330.2	335.8	339.6	342.5
	Women	Millions	99.0	117.7	136.1	133.5	134.0	137.8	140.3	141.8	142.9
	Men	Millions	137.8	166.7	189.3	186.8	185.6	192.5	195.5	197.8	199.6
	Youth	Millions	48.8	47.9	45.2	42.4	40.4	41.2	42.2	42.5	42.6
Employment-to-	Total	Per cent	65.8	65.4	65.6	63.8	62.9	64.2	64.5	64.5	64.3
population ratio	Women	Per cent	54.3	53.7	54.4	52.7	52.3	53.2	53.5	53.4	53.2
	Men	Per cent	77.6	77.4	76.9	75.0	73.6	75.5	75.8	75.7	75.5
	Youth	Per cent	47.9	44.6	42.0	39.4	37.5	38.2	39.0	39.2	39.2
Unemployment	Total	Millions	9.6	9.6	8.0	9.9	10.5	8.7	8.6	8.6	8.6
	Women	Millions	4.1	4.1	3.2	3.9	4.0	3.5	3.4	3.4	3.4
	Men	Millions	5.5	5.4	4.8	5.9	6.4	5.3	5.1	5.1	5.2
	Youth	Millions	6.1	5.2	4.4	4.8	4.8	4.6	4.5	4.5	4.5
Unemployment rate	Total	Per cent	3.9	3.3	2.4	3.0	3.2	2.6	2.5	2.5	2.4
	Women	Per cent	4.0	3.4	2.3	2.9	2.9	2.5	2.4	2.4	2.3
	Men	Per cent	3.8	3.2	2.5	3.1	3.4	2.7	2.6	2.5	2.5
	Youth	Per cent	11.0	9.8	8.8	10.1	10.6	10.1	9.7	9.6	9.5
Jobs gap	Total	Millions		26.5	22.4	26.7	32.1	24.0	22.6		
	Women	Millions		15.3	12.3	13.4	16.5	12.0	11.3		
	Men	Millions		11.2	10.2	13.3	15.5	12.0	11.3		
Jobs gap rate	Total	Per cent		8.5	6.5	7.7	9.1	6.8	6.3		
	Women	Per cent		11.5	8.3	9.1	11.0	8.0	7.4		
	Men	Per cent		6.3	5.1	6.6	7.7	5.9	5.5		

Indicator	Group	Unit	2000	2010	2019	2020	2021	2022	2023	2024	2025
Weekly hours worked	Total	Hours		43.1	42.0	40.3	41.1	41.3	41.2	41.1	
per employed person	Women	Hours		39.1	38.1	36.5	37.3	37.6	37.3	37.2	
	Men	Hours		45.6	44.6	42.8	43.6	43.7	43.8	43.7	
Youth NEET	Total	Millions		21.9	18.8	20.3	20.0	19.2	19.0	19.0	19.0
	Women	Millions		14.0	11.6	12.0	11.5	11.3	11.2	11.3	11.3
	Men	Millions		7.9	7.2	8.3	8.6	7.9	7.8	7.7	7.7
Youth NEET rate	Total	Per cent		20.3	17.5	18.8	18.6	17.8	17.6	17.5	17.5
	Women	Per cent		26.5	22.1	22.8	21.8	21.5	21.3	21.3	21.4
	Men	Per cent		14.4	13.0	15.0	15.5	14.3	14.0	13.9	13.9
Informal employment	Total	Millions		225.7	229.1	225.1	228.5	231.2	234.3	235.5	
	Women	Millions		93.5	95.8	92.4	95.2	96.3	97.5	97.9	
	Men	Millions		132.2	133.3	132.7	133.3	134.9	136.8	137.5	
Informality rate	Total	Per cent		79.4	70.4	70.3	71.5	70.0	69.8	69.3	
	Women	Per cent		79.5	70.4	69.2	71.0	69.9	69.5	69.1	
	Men	Per cent		79.3	70.4	71.0	71.8	70.1	70.0	69.5	
Wage and salaried workers	Total	Millions	79.6	119.0	163.9	158.9	159.3	165.4			
Self-employed workers	Total	Millions	157.2	165.4	161.5	161.5	160.4	164.8			
Share of wage and salaried workers	Total	Per cent	33.6	41.8	50.4	49.6	49.8	50.1			
Share of self-employed workers	Total	Per cent	66.4	58.2	49.6	50.4	50.2	49.9			
Extreme working poverty (<us\$2.15 day)<="" per="" ppp="" td=""><td>Total</td><td>Millions</td><td>75.9</td><td>30.1</td><td>10.4</td><td>9.5</td><td>9.3</td><td>8.0</td><td>7.4</td><td></td><td></td></us\$2.15>	Total	Millions	75.9	30.1	10.4	9.5	9.3	8.0	7.4		
Share of extreme working poverty (<us\$2.15 day)<="" per="" ppp="" td=""><td>Total</td><td>Per cent</td><td>32.0</td><td>10.6</td><td>3.2</td><td>3.0</td><td>2.9</td><td>2.4</td><td>2.2</td><td></td><td></td></us\$2.15>	Total	Per cent	32.0	10.6	3.2	3.0	2.9	2.4	2.2		

Table C10. South-East Asia (cont'd)

Table C11. South Asia

Indicator	Group	Unit	2000	2010	2019	2020	2021	2022	2023	2024	2025
Labour force	Total	Millions	523.2	632.3	717.6	718.6	739.4	762.4	806.0	810.3	825.6
	Women	Millions	127.8	158.3	183.0	182.1	190.2	197.7	225.5	220.9	223.9
	Men	Millions	395.4	474.0	534.6	536.5	549.2	564.6	580.5	589.4	601.7
	Youth	Millions	125.2	126.6	114.5	113.4	114.3	115.6	119.3	116.7	117.8
Labour force participation rate	Total	Per cent	55.7	53.6	51.3	50.5	51.2	52.0	54.2	53.6	53.8
	Women	Per cent	28.0	27.4	26.6	26.1	26.8	27.5	30.8	29.7	29.6
	Men	Per cent	81.9	78.6	75.1	74.1	74.7	75.8	76.7	76.7	77.1
	Youth	Per cent	43.4	37.4	31.8	31.3	31.4	31.6	32.6	31.8	32.1
Employment	Total	Millions	486.6	586.0	671.8	664.1	691.4	722.8	765.0	768.9	783.2
	Women	Millions	118.2	145.9	170.7	168.6	177.7	186.6	214.1	209.8	212.4
	Men	Millions	368.4	440.2	501.1	495.5	513.7	536.2	550.9	559.1	570.9
	Youth	Millions	109.5	107.0	92.3	89.8	93.3	97.1	99.9	96.9	97.2
Employment-to- population ratio	Total	Per cent	51.8	49.7	48.0	46.7	47.8	49.3	51.4	50.9	51.0
	Women	Per cent	25.8	25.3	24.9	24.1	25.0	25.9	29.3	28.2	28.1
	Men	Per cent	76.3	73.0	70.4	68.4	69.9	71.9	72.8	72.7	73.1
	Youth	Per cent	38.0	31.6	25.6	24.8	25.6	26.6	27.3	26.4	26.5
Unemployment	Total	Millions	36.6	46.2	45.8	54.5	48.1	39.6	41.0	41.4	42.3
	Women	Millions	9.6	12.4	12.3	13.5	12.5	11.2	11.4	11.1	11.5
	Men	Millions	26.9	33.8	33.5	41.0	35.6	28.4	29.6	30.3	30.9
	Youth	Millions	15.7	19.7	22.2	23.5	21.0	18.5	19.4	19.7	20.6
Unemployment rate	Total	Per cent	7.0	7.3	6.4	7.6	6.5	5.2	5.1	5.1	5.1
	Women	Per cent	7.5	7.9	6.7	7.4	6.6	5.6	5.1	5.0	5.1
	Men	Per cent	6.8	7.1	6.3	7.6	6.5	5.0	5.1	5.1	5.1
	Youth	Per cent	12.5	15.5	19.4	20.8	18.3	16.0	16.2	16.9	17.5
Jobs gap	Total	Millions		89.2	82.6	93.9	83.7	75.3	78.6		
	Women	Millions		31.8	29.7	31.4	29.3	28.5	31.3		
	Men	Millions		57.5	52.9	62.5	54.4	46.7	47.3		
Jobs gap rate	Total	Per cent		13.2	11.0	12.4	10.8	9.4	9.3		
	Women	Per cent		17.9	14.8	15.7	14.2	13.3	12.8		
	Men	Per cent		11.5	9.6	11.2	9.6	8.0	7.9		

Indicator	Group	Unit	2000	2010	2019	2020	2021	2022	2023	2024	2025
Weekly hours worked per employed person	Total	Hours		43.1	42.0	40.3	41.1	41.3	41.2	41.1	
	Women	Hours		39.1	38.1	36.5	37.3	37.6	37.3	37.2	
	Men	Hours		45.6	44.6	42.8	43.6	43.7	43.8	43.7	
Youth NEET	Total	Millions		100.5	111.1	114.1	107.1	101.8	101.8	102.8	103.2
	Women	Millions		81.5	83.6	82.3	80.4	78.7	78.3	78.7	78.9
	Men	Millions		19.0	27.5	31.8	26.7	23.1	23.5	24.1	24.3
Youth NEET rate	Total	Per cent		29.7	30.8	31.5	29.4	27.9	27.8	28.0	28.1
	Women	Per cent		49.8	48.3	47.3	46.0	44.9	44.5	44.7	44.7
	Men	Per cent		10.9	14.7	16.9	14.1	12.2	12.3	12.6	12.7
Informal employment	Total	Millions		504.9	584.0	586.0	605.7	628.3	667.2	666.2	
	Women	Millions		131.8	153.2	153.3	161.1	167.7	194.2	188.9	
	Men	Millions		373.0	430.8	432.7	444.6	460.7	473.0	477.2	
Informality rate	Total	Per cent		86.1	86.9	88.2	87.6	86.9	87.2	86.6	
	Women	Per cent		90.4	89.7	90.9	90.7	89.9	90.7	90.1	
	Men	Per cent		84.7	86.0	87.3	86.5	85.9	85.9	85.4	
Wage and salaried workers	Total	Millions	100.6	131.8	203.0	186.5	198.2	206.0			
Self-employed workers	Total	Millions	385.9	454.3	468.9	477.6	493.1	516.8			
Share of wage and salaried workers	Total	Per cent	20.7	22.5	30.2	28.1	28.7	28.5			
Share of self-employed workers	Total	Per cent	79.3	77.5	69.8	71.9	71.3	71.5			
Extreme working poverty (<us\$2.15 day)<="" per="" ppp="" td=""><td>Total</td><td>Millions</td><td>178.7</td><td>133.3</td><td>63.9</td><td>76.9</td><td>68.5</td><td>63.4</td><td>60.9</td><td></td><td></td></us\$2.15>	Total	Millions	178.7	133.3	63.9	76.9	68.5	63.4	60.9		
Share of extreme working poverty (<us\$2.15 day)<="" per="" ppp="" td=""><td>Total</td><td>Per cent</td><td>36.7</td><td>22.8</td><td>9.5</td><td>11.6</td><td>9.9</td><td>8.8</td><td>8.0</td><td></td><td></td></us\$2.15>	Total	Per cent	36.7	22.8	9.5	11.6	9.9	8.8	8.0		

Table C11. South Asia (cont'd)

Table C12. The Pacific

Indicator	Group	Unit	2000	2010	2019	2020	2021	2022	2023	2024	2025
Labour force	Total	Millions	14.8	17.5	20.6	20.7	21.2	21.7	22.1	22.3	22.6
	Women	Millions	6.6	8.0	9.7	9.7	10.0	10.2	10.4	10.4	10.5
	Men	Millions	8.3	9.5	11.0	11.0	11.2	11.5	11.7	11.9	12.0
	Youth	Millions	3.0	3.3	3.5	3.4	3.5	3.5	3.6	3.5	3.6
Labour force participation rate	Total	Per cent	64.9	62.8	62.9	62.1	62.6	63.0	63.2	62.9	62.8
	Women	Per cent	57.0	57.0	58.5	57.8	58.5	58.8	59.0	58.6	58.4
	Men	Per cent	72.8	68.7	67.3	66.5	66.7	67.3	67.5	67.4	67.2
	Youth	Per cent	64.7	57.3	56.1	54.8	55.8	55.9	55.7	55.0	54.6
Employment	Total	Millions	14.0	16.6	19.7	19.6	20.2	20.9	21.3	21.5	21.7
	Women	Millions	6.2	7.6	9.2	9.2	9.5	9.8	10.0	10.1	10.2
	Men	Millions	7.8	9.0	10.5	10.4	10.7	11.1	11.3	11.4	11.5
	Youth	Millions	2.7	2.9	3.1	3.0	3.2	3.3	3.3	3.2	3.2
Employment-to- population ratio	Total	Per cent	61.1	59.7	60.0	58.6	59.7	60.8	60.9	60.6	60.4
	Women	Per cent	53.9	54.1	55.9	54.6	55.9	56.8	56.9	56.5	56.3
	Men	Per cent	68.4	65.3	64.1	62.6	63.4	64.8	65.0	64.7	64.6
	Youth	Per cent	57.6	51.1	50.2	48.0	50.2	51.4	51.1	50.3	49.8
Unemployment	Total	Millions	0.9	0.9	1.0	1.2	1.0	0.8	0.8	0.8	0.9
	Women	Millions	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.5	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.4
	Men	Millions	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.6	0.6	0.4	0.4	0.5	0.5
	Youth	Millions	0.3	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3
Unemployment rate	Total	Per cent	5.8	5.0	4.7	5.7	4.7	3.6	3.6	3.7	3.8
	Women	Per cent	5.5	5.1	4.5	5.5	4.4	3.5	3.4	3.6	3.7
	Men	Per cent	6.1	4.9	4.8	5.8	4.9	3.8	3.8	3.9	4.0
	Youth	Per cent	11.0	10.9	10.4	12.3	10.2	8.1	8.3	8.6	8.8
Jobs gap	Total	Millions		1.6	1.8	2.1	1.8	1.6	1.5		
	Women	Millions		0.8	0.8	0.9	0.9	0.8	0.8		
	Men	Millions		0.8	0.9	1.1	0.9	0.8	0.8		
Jobs gap rate	Total	Per cent		8.8	8.3	9.5	8.0	6.9	6.7		
	Women	Per cent		9.5	8.4	9.3	8.3	7.3	7.0		
	Men	Per cent		8.3	8.2	9.7	7.7	6.5	6.3		
Indicator	Group	Unit	2000	2010	2019	2020	2021	2022	2023	2024	2025
--	-------	----------	------	------	------	------	------	------	------	------	------
Weekly hours worked	Total	Hours		43.1	42.0	40.3	41.1	41.3	41.2	41.1	
per employed person	Women	Hours		39.1	38.1	36.5	37.3	37.6	37.3	37.2	
	Men	Hours		45.6	44.6	42.8	43.6	43.7	43.8	43.7	
Youth NEET	Total	Millions		1.1	1.1	1.2	1.2	1.2	1.2	1.2	1.2
	Women	Millions		0.6	0.6	0.6	0.6	0.6	0.6	0.6	0.6
	Men	Millions		0.5	0.5	0.6	0.6	0.6	0.6	0.6	0.6
Youth NEET rate	Total	Per cent		18.9	18.0	19.4	18.8	18.3	18.5	18.7	18.9
	Women	Per cent		20.8	19.5	20.8	20.2	19.8	20.0	20.2	20.4
	Men	Per cent		17.1	16.6	18.1	17.5	17.0	17.1	17.3	17.4
Informal employment	Total	Millions		5.9	6.8	6.7	7.0	7.3	7.4	7.4	
	Women	Millions		2.8	3.3	3.2	3.3	3.4	3.5	3.5	
	Men	Millions		3.2	3.6	3.5	3.7	3.9	3.9	3.9	
Informality rate	Total	Per cent		35.9	34.7	34.4	34.6	34.9	34.7	34.7	
	Women	Per cent		36.9	35.4	35.1	34.9	34.9	34.8	34.8	
	Men	Per cent		35.0	34.2	33.7	34.4	34.8	34.7	34.6	
Wage and salaried workers	Total	Millions	9.8	12.2	14.6	14.4	15.0	15.1			
Self-employed workers	Total	Millions	4.2	4.3	5.1	5.1	5.3	5.8			
Share of wage and salaried workers	Total	Per cent	70.0	73.8	74.2	73.8	74.0	72.4			
Share of self-employed workers	Total	Per cent	30.0	26.2	25.8	26.2	26.0	27.6			
Extreme working poverty (<us\$2.15 day)<="" per="" ppp="" td=""><td>Total</td><td>Millions</td><td>0.9</td><td>0.9</td><td>1.0</td><td>1.0</td><td>1.0</td><td>1.1</td><td>0.9</td><td></td><td></td></us\$2.15>	Total	Millions	0.9	0.9	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.1	0.9		
Share of extreme working poverty (<us\$2.15 day)<="" per="" ppp="" td=""><td>Total</td><td>Per cent</td><td>5.3</td><td>4.4</td><td>5.0</td><td>5.0</td><td>5.0</td><td>4.9</td><td>5.3</td><td></td><td></td></us\$2.15>	Total	Per cent	5.3	4.4	5.0	5.0	5.0	4.9	5.3		

Table C12. The Pacific (cont'd)

Table C13. Northern, Southern and Western Europe

Indicator	Group	Unit	2000	2010	2019	2020	2021	2022	2023	2024	2025
Labour force	Total	Millions	197.6	214.2	223.6	220.9	222.9	225.1	226.6	226.6	226.6
	Women	Millions	85.9	97.4	104.0	102.8	104.2	105.3	106.0	105.8	105.7
	Men	Millions	111.7	116.8	119.6	118.1	118.7	119.8	120.5	120.8	120.9
	Youth	Millions	25.3	23.4	21.6	20.8	21.1	21.9	22.3	22.1	21.8
Labour force	Total	Per cent	56.4	57.7	58.5	57.6	58.0	58.5	58.7	58.6	58.5
participation rate	Women	Per cent	47.4	50.9	52.9	52.2	52.8	53.3	53.5	53.3	53.2
	Men	Per cent	66.2	65.0	64.4	63.3	63.5	64.0	64.2	64.1	64.0
	Youth	Per cent	47.5	45.0	43.6	42.1	42.9	44.5	45.5	45.1	44.6
Employment	Total	Millions	180.2	193.0	208.1	204.7	206.6	210.9	212.6	212.3	212.3
	Women	Millions	77.2	87.8	96.5	95.1	96.3	98.3	99.2	98.9	98.8
	Men	Millions	103.1	105.2	111.6	109.6	110.3	112.6	113.3	113.4	113.5
	Youth	Millions	21.0	18.5	18.4	17.3	17.7	18.8	19.2	18.9	18.7
Employment-to- population ratio	Total	Per cent	51.5	52.0	54.4	53.4	53.8	54.8	55.1	54.9	54.8
	Women	Per cent	42.5	45.8	49.1	48.3	48.8	49.7	50.1	49.8	49.7
	Men	Per cent	61.1	58.6	60.0	58.8	59.0	60.1	60.4	60.2	60.1
	Youth	Per cent	39.5	35.5	37.1	35.1	35.8	38.2	39.2	38.6	38.1
Unemployment	Total	Millions	17.4	21.2	15.5	16.2	16.3	14.2	14.0	14.3	14.3
	Women	Millions	8.8	9.6	7.5	7.7	7.9	7.0	6.8	6.9	6.9
	Men	Millions	8.6	11.5	8.0	8.4	8.4	7.2	7.2	7.4	7.4
	Youth	Millions	4.3	4.9	3.2	3.5	3.5	3.1	3.1	3.2	3.2
Unemployment rate	Total	Per cent	8.8	9.9	6.9	7.3	7.3	6.3	6.2	6.3	6.3
	Women	Per cent	10.2	9.9	7.2	7.5	7.6	6.6	6.4	6.5	6.5
	Men	Per cent	7.7	9.9	6.7	7.2	7.1	6.0	6.0	6.1	6.1
	Youth	Per cent	16.9	21.1	14.9	16.6	16.4	14.1	13.9	14.4	14.5
Jobs gap	Total	Millions		35.8	30.1	34.1	32.9	29.6	28.3		
	Women	Millions		18.5	16.0	17.9	17.4	15.8	15.0		
	Men	Millions		17.3	14.1	16.1	15.5	13.8	13.3		
Jobs gap rate	Total	Per cent		15.6	12.6	14.3	13.7	12.3	11.8		
	Women	Per cent		17.4	14.2	15.9	15.3	13.9	13.1		
	Men	Per cent		14.1	11.2	12.8	12.3	10.9	10.5		

Indicator	Group	Unit	2000	2010	2019	2020	2021	2022	2023	2024	2025
Weekly hours worked	Total	Hours		43.1	42.0	40.3	41.1	41.3	41.2	41.1	
per employed person	Women	Hours		39.1	38.1	36.5	37.3	37.6	37.3	37.2	
	Men	Hours		45.6	44.6	42.8	43.6	43.7	43.8	43.7	
Youth NEET	Total	Millions		6.9	5.3	5.8	5.4	4.9	4.9	5.0	5.0
	Women	Millions		3.4	2.5	2.7	2.5	2.3	2.3	2.3	2.3
	Men	Millions		3.4	2.8	3.1	2.9	2.6	2.6	2.6	2.6
Youth NEET rate	Total	Per cent		13.2	10.8	11.8	11.0	10.0	10.0	10.1	10.1
	Women	Per cent		13.5	10.6	11.4	10.6	9.7	9.6	9.7	9.7
	Men	Per cent		12.9	10.9	12.1	11.3	10.3	10.3	10.5	10.5
Informal employment	Total	Millions		16.1	19.6	18.6	19.0	19.0	18.7	18.2	
	Women	Millions		7.5	9.1	8.5	8.8	8.7	8.6	8.4	
	Men	Millions		8.6	10.5	10.0	10.3	10.3	10.1	9.8	
Informality rate	Total	Per cent		8.4	9.4	9.1	9.2	9.0	8.8	8.6	
	Women	Per cent		8.6	9.5	9.0	9.1	8.9	8.7	8.5	
	Men	Per cent		8.2	9.4	9.1	9.3	9.1	8.9	8.6	
Wage and salaried workers	Total	Millions	149.9	162.0	177.0	174.3	176.0	179.5			
Self-employed workers	Total	Millions	30.3	31.0	31.1	30.5	30.5	31.3			
Share of wage and salaried workers	Total	Per cent	83.2	84.0	85.1	85.1	85.2	85.1			
Share of self-employed workers	Total	Per cent	16.8	16.0	14.9	14.9	14.8	14.9			
Extreme working poverty (<us\$2.15 day)<="" per="" ppp="" td=""><td>Total</td><td>Millions</td><td>0.1</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td></td><td></td></us\$2.15>	Total	Millions	0.1	0	0	0	0	0	0		
Share of extreme working poverty (<us\$2.15 day)<="" per="" ppp="" td=""><td>Total</td><td>Per cent</td><td>0.1</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td></td><td></td></us\$2.15>	Total	Per cent	0.1	0	0	0	0	0	0		

Table C13. Northern, Southern and Western Europe (cont'd)

Table C14. Eastern Europe

Indicator	Group	Unit	2000	2010	2019	2020	2021	2022	2023	2024	2025
Labour force	Total	Millions	147.8	148.7	146.2	144.8	144.7	143.8	141.9	140.5	139.4
	Women	Millions	71.1	71.3	69.2	68.5	68.6	68.4	67.5	66.7	66.1
	Men	Millions	76.7	77.4	77.0	76.3	76.0	75.3	74.4	73.8	73.2
	Youth	Millions	19.6	15.7	9.7	9.1	8.9	8.5	8.5	8.8	9.0
Labour force	Total	Per cent	59.4	59.4	59.7	59.3	59.5	59.5	58.9	58.4	58.0
participation rate	Women	Per cent	53.2	52.9	52.5	52.1	52.5	52.6	52.1	51.5	51.1
	Men	Per cent	66.5	66.9	68.1	67.6	67.7	67.6	67.0	66.4	65.9
	Youth	Per cent	40.9	37.8	33.6	31.9	31.0	29.5	29.1	29.4	29.6
Employment	Total	Millions	131.1	136.9	139.3	136.8	137.1	137.4	136.2	134.8	133.9
	Women	Millions	63.1	66.1	66.0	64.8	65.0	65.2	64.6	63.9	63.4
	Men	Millions	68.0	70.8	73.3	72.0	72.1	72.2	71.5	71.0	70.5
	Youth	Millions	15.2	12.8	8.4	7.7	7.5	7.3	7.4	7.6	7.8
Employment-to- population ratio	Total	Per cent	52.7	54.7	56.9	56.0	56.4	56.9	56.6	56.1	55.7
	Women	Per cent	47.2	49.0	50.1	49.3	49.7	50.1	49.9	49.3	49.0
	Men	Per cent	59.0	61.3	64.8	63.8	64.3	64.7	64.4	63.9	63.4
	Youth	Per cent	31.7	30.9	29.0	26.9	26.1	25.4	25.3	25.5	25.8
Unemployment	Total	Millions	16.7	11.8	6.8	8.0	7.5	6.4	5.7	5.7	5.5
	Women	Millions	7.9	5.3	3.1	3.7	3.6	3.2	2.8	2.8	2.8
	Men	Millions	8.7	6.5	3.7	4.3	3.9	3.2	2.9	2.8	2.8
	Youth	Millions	4.4	2.9	1.3	1.4	1.4	1.2	1.1	1.2	1.2
Unemployment rate	Total	Per cent	11.3	7.9	4.7	5.5	5.2	4.4	4.0	4.0	4.0
	Women	Per cent	11.2	7.4	4.5	5.5	5.2	4.7	4.2	4.2	4.2
	Men	Per cent	11.4	8.4	4.8	5.6	5.1	4.2	3.8	3.8	3.8
	Youth	Per cent	22.5	18.4	13.7	15.7	15.6	14.0	13.2	13.2	12.8
Jobs gap	Total	Millions		21.7	14.3	15.7	14.1	13.4	12.0		
	Women	Millions		10.9	7.4	8.2	7.3	7.1	6.3		
	Men	Millions		10.8	6.9	7.5	6.7	6.3	5.7		
Jobs gap rate	Total	Per cent		13.7	9.3	10.3	9.3	8.9	8.1		
	Women	Per cent		14.2	10.1	11.2	10.1	9.8	8.9		
	Men	Per cent		13.2	8.6	9.5	8.5	8.0	7.3		

Indicator	Group	Unit	2000	2010	2019	2020	2021	2022	2023	2024	2025
Weekly hours worked	Total	Hours		43.1	42.0	40.3	41.1	41.3	41.2	41.1	
per employed person	Women	Hours		39.1	38.1	36.5	37.3	37.6	37.3	37.2	
	Men	Hours		45.6	44.6	42.8	43.6	43.7	43.8	43.7	
Youth NEET	Total	Millions		6.1	3.4	3.6	3.6	3.5	3.3	3.5	3.5
	Women	Millions		3.6	2.0	2.1	2.1	2.0	1.9	2.0	2.0
	Men	Millions		2.5	1.4	1.6	1.6	1.5	1.5	1.5	1.5
Youth NEET rate	Total	Per cent		14.7	11.7	12.6	12.8	12.1	11.4	11.6	11.7
	Women	Per cent		17.5	13.9	14.7	14.9	14.2	13.2	13.5	13.7
	Men	Per cent		12.0	9.6	10.6	10.7	10.2	9.7	9.8	9.8
Informal employment	Total	Millions		28.8	28.8	27.9	28.5	26.7	26.1	25.6	
	Women	Millions		13.3	12.9	12.5	12.8	12.0	11.7	11.5	
	Men	Millions		15.5	15.9	15.4	15.7	14.7	14.4	14.1	
Informality rate	Total	Per cent		21.0	20.6	20.4	20.8	19.5	19.2	19.0	
	Women	Per cent		20.1	19.6	19.3	19.6	18.4	18.2	18.0	
	Men	Per cent		21.9	21.6	21.3	21.8	20.4	20.1	19.9	
Wage and salaried workers	Total	Millions	114.3	118.1	122.1	119.7	120.4	120.6			
Self-employed workers	Total	Millions	16.8	18.8	17.2	17.1	16.8	16.8			
Share of wage and salaried workers	Total	Per cent	87.2	86.3	87.6	87.5	87.8	87.8			
Share of self-employed workers	Total	Per cent	12.8	13.7	12.4	12.5	12.2	12.2			
Extreme working poverty (<us\$2.15 day)<="" per="" ppp="" td=""><td>Total</td><td>Millions</td><td>1.4</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td></td><td></td></us\$2.15>	Total	Millions	1.4	0	0	0	0	0	0		
Share of extreme working poverty (<us\$2.15 day)<="" per="" ppp="" td=""><td>Total</td><td>Per cent</td><td>1.0</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td></td><td></td></us\$2.15>	Total	Per cent	1.0	0	0	0	0	0	0		

Table C14. Eastern Europe (cont'd)

Table C15. Central and Western Asia

Indicator	Group	Unit	2000	2010	2019	2020	2021	2022	2023	2024	2025
Labour force	Total	Millions	55.9	64.7	76.5	74.4	76.7	79.0	80.1	80.9	81.6
	Women	Millions	21.2	24.7	29.8	28.8	29.9	31.0	31.5	31.8	32.0
	Men	Millions	34.7	40.1	46.7	45.6	46.8	47.9	48.6	49.1	49.6
	Youth	Millions	12.1	12.0	11.7	10.8	11.1	11.4	11.4	11.5	11.6
Labour force	Total	Per cent	57.7	55.1	56.8	54.7	55.8	56.8	56.9	56.8	56.6
participation rate	Women	Per cent	42.7	41.1	43.4	41.5	42.6	43.7	43.9	43.8	43.6
	Men	Per cent	73.5	69.7	70.8	68.5	69.5	70.4	70.5	70.4	70.2
	Youth	Per cent	44.5	39.1	41.1	38.2	39.5	40.5	40.6	40.5	40.3
Employment	Total	Millions	50.7	59.3	69.6	67.7	70.1	73.0	74.4	75.1	75.7
	Women	Millions	18.8	22.6	26.9	26.1	27.1	28.4	28.9	29.2	29.4
	Men	Millions	31.8	36.7	42.7	41.6	43.1	44.7	45.5	45.9	46.4
	Youth	Millions	10.0	10.2	9.7	8.9	9.2	9.7	9.8	9.9	9.9
Employment-to- population ratio	Total	Per cent	52.3	50.5	51.7	49.8	51.0	52.5	52.9	52.7	52.5
	Women	Per cent	37.9	37.6	39.2	37.6	38.6	40.0	40.3	40.2	39.9
	Men	Per cent	67.3	63.9	64.7	62.5	63.9	65.6	66.0	65.8	65.6
	Youth	Per cent	36.7	33.2	33.8	31.4	32.8	34.5	34.9	34.8	34.6
Unemployment	Total	Millions	5.2	5.4	6.9	6.7	6.6	5.9	5.7	5.8	5.9
	Women	Millions	2.3	2.1	2.9	2.7	2.8	2.7	2.6	2.6	2.7
	Men	Millions	2.9	3.3	4.0	4.0	3.8	3.3	3.1	3.2	3.2
	Youth	Millions	2.1	1.8	2.1	1.9	1.9	1.7	1.6	1.6	1.6
Unemployment rate	Total	Per cent	9.4	8.3	9.0	9.0	8.6	7.5	7.1	7.2	7.3
	Women	Per cent	11.0	8.4	9.6	9.4	9.4	8.6	8.2	8.3	8.3
	Men	Per cent	8.4	8.3	8.6	8.7	8.0	6.8	6.4	6.5	6.6
	Youth	Per cent	17.5	15.0	17.6	17.8	16.9	14.8	13.9	14.1	14.1
Jobs gap	Total	Millions		12.1	12.7	13.1	12.4	11.7	11.5		
	Women	Millions		5.7	6.2	6.3	6.1	6.0	6.0		
	Men	Millions		6.5	6.4	6.8	6.3	5.7	5.5		
Jobs gap rate	Total	Per cent		17.0	15.4	16.2	15.0	13.8	13.4		
	Women	Per cent		20.0	18.8	19.5	18.5	17.5	17.1		
	Men	Per cent		15.0	13.1	14.0	12.7	11.3	10.8		

Indicator	Group	Unit	2000	2010	2019	2020	2021	2022	2023	2024	2025
Weekly hours worked	Total	Hours		43.1	42.0	40.3	41.1	41.3	41.2	41.1	
per employed person	Women	Hours		39.1	38.1	36.5	37.3	37.6	37.3	37.2	
	Men	Hours		45.6	44.6	42.8	43.6	43.7	43.8	43.7	
Youth NEET	Total	Millions		7.8	6.0	6.3	5.7	5.5	5.5	5.6	5.0
	Women	Millions		5.1	3.8	3.9	3.6	3.5	3.5	3.5	3.
	Men	Millions		2.8	2.2	2.4	2.1	2.0	2.0	2.0	2.
Youth NEET rate	Total	Per cent		25.5	21.0	22.4	20.3	19.7	19.5	19.6	19.
	Women	Per cent		33.5	27.1	28.2	26.1	25.7	25.5	25.7	25.
	Men	Per cent		17.7	15.2	16.8	14.9	14.0	13.7	13.8	13.
Informal employment	Total	Millions		27.6	27.7	25.9	26.5	26.6	26.8	26.9	
	Women	Millions		11.2	11.0	10.2	10.6	10.9	11.0	11.0	
	Men	Millions		16.4	16.7	15.7	15.9	15.8	15.9	15.9	
Informality rate	Total	Per cent		46.5	39.8	38.3	37.8	36.4	36.1	35.8	
	Women	Per cent		49.4	41.0	39.1	39.1	38.3	37.9	37.6	
	Men	Per cent		44.7	39.1	37.8	36.9	35.3	34.9	34.6	
Wage and salaried workers	Total	Millions	25.3	34.6	44.7	43.8	45.5	47.7			
Self-employed workers	Total	Millions	25.3	24.7	24.9	23.9	24.6	25.4			
Share of wage and salaried workers	Total	Per cent	50.0	58.4	64.2	64.7	64.9	65.3			
Share of self-employed workers	Total	Per cent	50.0	41.6	35.8	35.3	35.1	34.7			
Extreme working poverty (<us\$2.15 day)<="" per="" ppp="" td=""><td>Total</td><td>Millions</td><td>9.3</td><td>6.2</td><td>3.1</td><td>3.1</td><td>2.8</td><td>2.8</td><td>2.6</td><td></td><td></td></us\$2.15>	Total	Millions	9.3	6.2	3.1	3.1	2.8	2.8	2.6		
Share of extreme working poverty (<us\$2.15 day)<="" per="" ppp="" td=""><td>Total</td><td>Per cent</td><td>18.3</td><td>10.5</td><td>4.4</td><td>4.5</td><td>4.0</td><td>3.8</td><td>3.6</td><td></td><td></td></us\$2.15>	Total	Per cent	18.3	10.5	4.4	4.5	4.0	3.8	3.6		

Table C15. Central and Western Asia (cont'd)

Advancing social justice, promoting decent work

The International Labour Organization is the United Nations agency for the world of work. We bring together governments, employers and workers to drive a human-centred approach to the future of work through employment creation, rights at work, social protection and social dialogue.

Amidst slowing economic growth, global labour markets have shown resilience in 2023. Global unemployment has dropped to the lowest level since the outbreak of the pandemic and labour force participation has recovered in most regions. Despite these positive headline indicators, fragility has emerged in working conditions, and a cost-of-living crisis has arisen from fast-rising energy and food prices. Employment growth in 2024 is projected to falter even though global unemployment will remain broadly unchanged. Major decent work deficits, which to a large degree predate the pandemic, are set to persist under these conditions – especially gender participation gaps, working poverty, and informality.

This year's *World Employment and Social Outlook: Trends* provides a comprehensive assessment of labour imbalances that arose with the recovery from the pandemic and exist alongside persistent decent work deficits. It analyses global patterns, regional differences, and outcomes across groups of workers. The report also offers labour market projections for 2024 and 2025. Finally, it presents trends in labour force participation, hours worked and employment growth and analyses their contributions to labour market imbalances.

ilo.org

International Labour Organization Route des Morillons 4 1211 Geneva 22 Switzerland